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Securities and Exchange Commission |
Office of International Corporate Finance
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Re:  SPL WorldGroup B.V., File No. 82-34708 /” Final Submission Pursuant
to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

A

Ladies and Gentlemen: //

e
e

o

The enclosed information is the~firial submission being furnished on behalf of SPL
WorldGroup B.V. (the “Company”), a private limited liability company organized under the
laws of The Netherlands, pursuant to the exemption granted to the Company under Rule 12g3-
2(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Accordingly, the following documents represent additional material submitted in respect
of the Company’s File No. 82-34708:

1. Mailing to Shareholders and Option Holders of the Company on November 2, 2004
with respect to the tender offer from GFI Energy Ventures for the Company’s
outstanding stock and employee stock options, including the following material:

a) Letter from the Chairman of the Board, dated November 2, 2004;
b) Letter of Transmittal;

c) Instructions for Tendering Securities; and

d) Offer to Purchase Statement.

2. Notice to Shareholders and Option Holders sent by e-mail on November 16, 2004;

3.~ Notice to Shareholders and Option Holders sent by e-mail on December 3, 2004;
and

4. Notice to Shareholders and Option Holders sent by e-mail on December 9, 2004.

By providing the foregoing information, the Company is not admitting that any of such
information is material to an investment decision in its equity securities.

If you have any questions or require any additional information, please contact me at
(415) 357-4767 or Robert A. Zuccaro of Latham & Watkins at (212) 906-1295.
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FINANCIAL SPL WORLDGROUP B.V.

525 MARKET STREET, 33RD FLOOR, SAN FRANCISCGC, CA 94105 TEL: 415-963-5600 FAX: 415-963-5601 www.sphwg.com



“Page Two FILE NO.
82.
Securities & Exchange Commission 2~ 34708
2/04/05

Please acknowledge receipt of this letter and the enclosures by stamping the enclosed
copy of this letter and returning it to me in the enclosed, self-addressed stamped envelope.

o)
Very truly yours, . ®®'
Rl V. oty

Richard V. Zolezzi
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

RVZ:alk
encls/
cc: Robert A. Zuccaro, Esq.

hiak\myd\SEC\(39th subm) 2-04-05fdx.com
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SHAREOPTIONS@spl To:
wg.com Subject: Shareholders and Option Holders
Sent by: Terez Toneff

12/09/2004 07:48 PM

To the Shareholders and Option Holders
Of SPL WorldGroup B.V.

We are pleased to report that the OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P. and its affiliates have
accepted for payment the shares and stock options of SPL WorldGroup B.V. that were validly tendered to
The Bank of New York as of the close of the tender offer yesterday, December 8, 2004. The transaction

closing process will occur over the course of the next week. We expect that payment for the shares and
stock options will be sent in the next week to ten days.
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November 2, 2004

To: The Stock and Option Holders of SPL WorldGroup B.V.

S hgrenRntiith OCM/GFI
Power Oppommltles Fund, L.P. dated October 15, 2004. GFI is a Los Angeles-based private equl thdt specializes in
investing in companies that work with the global utility industry. Under the Share Tender Agreement, & [ as agreed to offer
to purchase substantially all the capital stock of SPL, including all outstanding shares of common stock, preferred stock and
employee stock options of SPL other than some stock and options held by certain members of our management team. GFI will
use an acquisition vehicle named SPL Acquisition S.4 R.L. to make the offer. Len Israelstam, SPL’s founder, is also a party to
the Share Tender Agreement and will act as the shareholder representative in the transaction. We have known GFI for over
five years and the SPL Board fully supports the transaction.

The tender price offered by GFI is US$6.88 in cash for each share of common stock and preferred stock and US$6.88 in
cash for each option (whether vested or unvested) less the exercise price of the option. In addition, there is a possibility of an
additional payment of up to US$0.75 for each share of stock and each option of SPL if SPL meets certain performance standards
after closing, although those performance standards will be difficult to achieve. If you tender your stock or options in SPL, you
will receive 84.5% of the tender price at the closing. GFI will withhold 15% of the tender price to satisfy offset and
indemnification obligations, if any, under the Share Tender Agreement. GFI will also deposit 0.5% of the tender price with an
escrow agent to be used by the shareholder representative if he chooses to contest claims on your behalf. 1If any amount of your
tender price remains after satisfying offset and indemnification obligations, if any, that amount will be paid to you in cash. If
GFI brings claims against the amounts held back, it must do so by June 30, 2006.

The SPL Board has not taken lightly the decision to recommend the sale of SPL to GF1. We have a wonderful
company and wonderful employees and have built a solid reputation with our customers. I am pleased to say that after
careful consideration, the SPL Board has unanimously determined that the Share Tender Agreement and the related
agreements and transactions are fair to and in the best interests of SPL and to its stock and option holders. The Board
also believes that the acquisition will enable SPL to continue to expand its product offerings for the benefit of our
customers. The price offered is based on arms-length negotiations between GFI and SPL and the SPL Board
recommends that you accept the offer and. tender your stock and options in SPL.

GF1 1s not obligated to actually purchase the tendered stock and options at the end of the tender offer period unless
certain conditions are met. For example, GF1 is not required to purchase any stock or optjons unless holders of more than 67%
of the outstanding preferred stock of SPL tender their preferred stock, and holders of more than 75% of the outstanding
common stock of SPL tender their common stock. Also, as a result of the tender offer, no more than 30 non-tendering holders
of stock and/or options can remain, excluding certain members of SPL management. Of course, GFI can waive any of these
conditions but there is no requirement that they do so.

If you wish to tender your common stock, preferred stock or options of SPL, please carefully follow the detailed
instructions on the enclosed sheet entitled Instructions for Tendering Securities. Once you have filled out the proper forms and
gathered the appropriate identification documents, please fax the forms and documents promptly to The Bank of New York, which
is acting as the paying agent and coordinating the closing of the transaction, at the following fax number: +1 315-414-3130 or
+1 315-414-3100. If you do not have access to a fax machine, you can also mail the documents to The Bank of New York by
registered or certified mail at the appropriate address specified in the enclosed Letter of Transmittal.

Sincerely,

i
i

./ﬂ\l. 1 3
DY, i

Trevor Winer
Chairman of the Board

Enclosures
SPL WORLDGRQUP B.V.

75 HAWTHORNE PLAZA, 20" Floor, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105 USA TEL:+1415-977-4571 FAX: +1415-974-8966 www.spiwg.com
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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

To Tender Shares of

Series A Common Stock, Series B Common Stock, Series C Common Stock
Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock

and Options to purchase Shares of Series B Common Stock

of

SPL Worldgroup B.V.

pursuant to the Offer to Purchase
dated November 2, 2004
by
SPL Acquisition S.a R.L.,

an affiliate of

OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P.

THE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT 5:00 P.M., SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA TIME, ON
DECEMBER 3, 2004, UNLESS THE OFFER IS EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED
(SUCH TIME, AS THE OFFER MAY BE EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED, IS
REFERRED TO AS THE “EXPIRATION TIME”).

The Paying Agent for the Offer is:

The Bank of New York
By Regular Mail: By Registered or Certified Mail or By Facsimile Transmission.
Overnight Delivery:
The Bank of New York The Bank of New York 1-315-414-3130 or
P.O. Box 396 111 East Sanders Creek Parkway 1-315-414-3100
East Syracuse, NY 13057 Corporate Trust Redemptions
Attn: CT TR Redemptions East Syracuse, NY 13057

For information, call:

1-800-254-2826

Delivery of this letter of transmittal to an address other than as set forth above, or transmission of
instructions via facsimile, other than as set forth above will not constitute a valid delivery. The
instructions contained herein should be read carefully before this letter of transmittal is completed.

By executing this letter of transmittal, the undersigned acknowledges receipt of the offer to
purchase dated November 2, 2004 (as the same may be supplemented, amended or modified from time to
time, the “Offer to Purchase”), and this letter of transmittal and instructions hereto, which together
constitute an offer (the “Offer”) by SPL Acquisition S.a R.L., a Luxembourg private limited company
(the “Purchaser”) to purchase for cash the stock and options of SPL Worldgroup B.V., a Dutch private
company with limited liability (the “Company”) described in the Offer to Purchase. Terms used herein
and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Offer to Purchase.

This letter of transmittal is to be properly completed and duly executed by holders tendering
Securities (as defined hereafter) pursuant to the Offer to Purchase.
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A holder, other than a Management Holder (as defined in the Offer to Purchase), tendering
Securities with this letter of transmittal must tender all of the Securities owned by such holder. Partial
tenders or tenders of fewer than all Securities owned by a holder, other than a Management Holder, will
be considered a tender of all Securities owned by such holder.

The Offer to Purchase does not constitute an offer to purchase any Securities in any jurisdiction in
which, or to or from any person to or from whom, it is unlawful to make such Offer under applicable
securities or “blue sky” or other laws.
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To: SPL Acquisition S.aR.L.
And to: Paying Agent

The undersigned hereby tenders to you the Securities described below, and irrevocably accepts
the Offer for such Securities. No alternative, conditional or contingent tenders will be accepted.

BOX A

DESCRIPTION OF TENDERED SECURITIES

Name(s) and Address(es) of Holder(s)

Series of Securities Number of Shares Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned Tendered**

Series A Common Stock

Series B Common Stock

Series C Common Stock

Series A Preferred Stock

Series B Preferred Stock

Description of Options Number of Options
Tendered**

Options to Purchase

Series B Common Stock If you hold Options, see the

enclosed description of your
holdings.

** To be completed ONLY by Management Holders tendering fewer than all of their Securities.

BY SIGNING AND SUBMITTING THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL TO THE PAYING
AGENT, EACH HOLDER, OTHER THAN A MANAGEMENT HOLDER, WILL BE DEEMED TO
HAVE TENDERED ALL SHARES AND OPTIONS OWNED BY SUCH HOLDER.

The information in Box A above was provided to us by the Company and reflects the information in
the Company’s books.

If Shares or Options, as applicable, are registered in different names, separate letters of
transmittal must be executed covering each name.
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NOTE: SIGNATURES MUST BE PROVIDED BELOW.
PLEASE READ THE ACCOMPANYING INSTRUCTIONS CAREFULLY

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned hereby tenders to Purchaser, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Offer to Purchase, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and in accordance with this letter
of transmittal, the above described shares of Series A Common Stock, Series B Common Stock, Series C
Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock of the Company (collectively, the
“Shares”) and options to purchase shares of Series B Common Stock of the Company (the “Options”, and
together with the Shares, the “Securities™).

By executing this letter of transmittal, and subject to, and effective upon, acceptance for purchase
of, and payment for, the Securities, tendered herewith pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Offer to
Purchase, the undersigned irrevocably sells, assigns, and transfers to or upon the order of Purchaser all
right, title and interest in and to all the Securities tendered hereby. The undersigned hereby acknowledges
that the undersigned will not be entitled to any dividends, profits, return of capital, preference payments
or any other payments with respect to the tender or sale of the Securities, except in the case of Series A
Preferred Stock, as set forth herein and pursuant to Section 6.4 of the Share Tender Agreement, and
hereby waives any and all rights to receive any such payment. The undersigned waives all other rights
with respect to the Securities and releases and discharges Purchaser and its affiliates from any and all
claims the undersigned may have now or may have in the future arising out of, or related to, the
Securities,

The undersigned hereby (i) makes the representations and warranties set forth in Article IV of the
Share Tender Agreement, which representations and warranties are incorporated herein by this reference,
(ii) agrees to the offset and indemnification provisions of Section 7.9 of the Share Tender Agreement,
which offset and indemnification provisions are incorporated herein by this reference, including, but not
limited to, the appointment of Lenard Sidney Israelstam as representative (“Representative”) and, in the
event that as of June 30, 2006, the holder is entitled to a payment pursuant to Section 1.4 of the Share
Tender Agreement, to Representative’s right, in his sole discretion with no liability whatsoever to the
Company, the Purchasers (as defined in the Share Tender Agreement) or any current or former
stockholder of the Company, to make use of the amount of such payment, or any portion thereof, to settle,
defend or otherwise handle (in his sole discretion) Company Contested Claims (as defined in the Share
Tender Agreement), whether such amount is used for travel expenses, attorney’s fees, advisor fees or
otherwise in connection with settling or defending such Company Contested Claim, and (iii)
acknowledges and agrees to all other provisions in the Share Tender Agreement relating to or affecting
the rights or obligations of such holder.

If the tendering holder is a party to the Company’s Amended and Restated Preferred and
Common Stock Shareholders Agreement dated as of July 1, 2000 (the “2000 Shareholders Agreement”),
the undersigned hereby consents and agrees, effective upon the acceptance for payment by Purchaser of
the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer, as follows:

(a) Sections 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement, and the requirements,
prohibitions and procedures specified in such sections, including any “Pre-emption Rights” set forth on
Schedule 3 thereto or any other rights of any holders of Securities thereunder, shall be waived and shall
not apply with respect to any transfer of Securities in connection with the Offer and the transactions
contemplated by the Share Tender Agreement.

b Section 5.4 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety.
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(c) Section 5.5 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement shall be amended (i) to remove the
requirement that the offer described in such section be “irrevocable™, (ii) to add an exception to the
requirement that the offer be for ““all” of the Shares (as defined therein) to provide that an Offeror (as
defined therein) may exclude from the offer Shares and/or options to purchase Shares held by each
Management Holder representing up to fifty percent (50%) of the value assigned thereto in the Share
Tender Agreement and (iii) to amend the language that reads “90% or more of the issued Shares” to read
“75% or more of the issued Shares and Preferred, taken together, held by parties to this Agreement”.

(d) Sections 5.5.1 and 5.5.2 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement shall be amended so that
each reference to “Shares” reads “Shares, Preferred and any options to purchase Shares or Preferred”.

(e) Sections 5.6 and 5.7 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement shall be deleted in their
entirety.

® Section 6 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety.

(g) Any other revision, replacement, deletion or other amendment or waiver of any other
provision of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions
contemplated by the Offer to Purchase, Share Tender Agreement or this letter of transmittal may be made
or entered into, as reasonably determined by the Company.

If the tendering holder is a party to the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement
dated April 3, 1998, the undersigned hereby consents and agrees, effective upon the acceptance for
payment by Purchaser of the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer, (a) Sections 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D and 31
thereof shall be deleted in their entirety and (b) any other revision, replacement, deletion or other
amendment or waiver of any other provision of such agreement necessary or desirable to consummate the
transactions contemplated by the Offer to Purchase, Share Tender Agreement or this letter of transmittal
may be made or entered into, as reasonably determined by the Company.

If the tendering holder is a party to the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant
Purchase Agreement dated February 11, 1997, the undersigned hereby consents and agrees, effective
upon the acceptance for payment by Purchaser of the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer, (a)
Sections 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D, 3E and 3K thereof shall be deleted in their entirety and (b) any other revision,
replacement, deletion or other amendment or waiver of any other provision of such agreement necessary
or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Offer to Purchase, Share Tender
Agreement or this letter of transmittal may be made or entered into, as reasonably determined by the
Company.

If the tendering holder is a party to the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant
Purchase Agreement dated October 31, 1996, the undersigned hereby consents and agrees, effective upon
the acceptance for payment by Purchaser of the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer, (a) Sections 3A,
3B, 3C, 3D and 3J thereof shall be deleted in their entirety, and (b) any other revision, replacement,
deletion or other amendment or waiver of any other provision of such agreement necessary or desirable to
consummate the transactions contemplated by the Offer to Purchase, the Share Tender Agreement or this
letter of transmittal may be made or entered into, as reasonably determined by the Company.

If the tendering holder is a Management Holder, the undersigned hereby agrees that such
Management Holder shall enter into a security holders agreement among the Company, the Purchaser,
OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P., and other stockholders party thereto, with respect to the
Securities.

The undersigned hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Paying Agent the true and

lawful agent and attorney-in-fact of the undersigned (with full knowledge that the Paying Agent also acts
as the agent of Purchaser) with respect to such Securities, with full powers of substitution (such power of

-5-
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attorney being deemed to be an irrevocable power coupled with an interest), to (i) present all evidences of
transfer and authenticity to, or transfer ownership of such Securities on the books maintained by the
Company to, or upon the order of, Purchaser, (ii) present such Securities for transfer of ownership on the
books of Purchaser, and (iii) receive all benefits and otherwise exercise all rights of beneficial ownership
of such Securities, all in accordance with the terms of and conditions to the Offer to Purchase.

The undersigned hereby appoints each of the lawyers, civil law notaries and candidate civil law
notaries of Baker & McKenzie, Amsterdam N.V., The Netherlands and each of the lawyers of Clifford
Chance Limited Liability Partnership, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, and each of them individually, as its
attorney with the right of substitution (recht van substitutie) (the “Attorneys”, and each of them an
“Attorney”), to represent the holder in respect of the following: (a) to sign the notarial deed of transfer
(notariéle akte van levering) of shares in the capital of SPL Worldgroup B.V. by the holder to SPL
Acquisition S.a R.L.; (b) to make any necessary amendments and/or additions to the notarial deed of
transfer as the Attorney might deem useful or necessary; and (c) to sign the necessary deeds and
documents and furthermore to do all and everything the Attorney might deem useful or necessary in
connection therewith. The undersigned hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify and to hold harmless
each of the Attorneys and any persons designated hereunder from and against any liability they or any one
of them might incur for any steps taken in connection with the power of attorney set forth in this
paragraph (the “Deed Transfer Power of Attorney™). This Deed Transfer Power of Attorney is governed
by the laws of The Netherlands and shall expire on March 31, 2005.

The undersigned acknowledges and agrees that a tender of the Securities, pursuant to any of the

. procedures described in the Offer to Purchase and in the instructions hereto and an acceptance of such
Securities by Purchaser will constitute a binding agreement between the undersigned and Purchaser upon
the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer to Purchase.

The undersigned hereby represents and warrants that the undersigned has full power and authority
to tender, sell, assign, and transfer the Securities tendered hereby, and that when such tendered Securities
are accepted for purchase and payment by Purchaser, Purchaser will acquire good title thereto, free and
clear of all liens, restrictions, charges, and encumbrances and not subject to any adverse claim or right.
The undersigned will, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents deemed by the Paying
Agent or by Purchaser to be necessary or desirable to complete the sale, assignment, and transfer of the
Securities tendered hereby.

The undersigned understands that the Offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., San Francisco, California
time, on December 3, 2004, unless extended or earlier terminated by Purchaser in its sole discretion.

No authority conferred or agreed to be conferred by this letter of transmittal shall be affected by,
and all such authority shall survive, the death or incapacity of the undersigned, and any obligation of the
undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, trustees in bankruptcy,
personal and legal representatives, successors and assigns of the undersigned.

Payment will be made in the form of a check or, at the election of the undersigned, via wire
transfer. If the holder elects to receive payment via wire transfer, the undersigned understands that a wire
transfer fee of US$25.00 will be deducted from the payment amount in connection with the wire
transmission. The wire transfer will be made in accordance with the instructions in the “Special Wire
Transfer Instructions” box. Payment by wire transfer will be made only to an account in the exact legal
name of the record holder(s) of the Securities listed under “Description of Tendered Securities”. If the
wire transfer instructions provided are incomplete, are to an account other than an account in the exact
legal name of the record holder(s) or are otherwise insufficient to allow the Paying Agent to make the
wire transfer based on such instructions, the Purchaser may, at its sole discretion, cause payment to be
made by check.
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Unless otherwise indicated herein under “Special Delivery Instructions”, the undersigned hereby
request(s) that checks, if any, for payment made in connection with the Offer be delivered to the
undersigned. In the event that the “Special Delivery Instructions” box is completed, the undersigned
hereby requests that checks for payments of the tender offer consideration be delivered to the person(s) at
the address so indicated. The undersigned recognizes that Purchaser has no obligation pursuant to the
“Special Delivery Instructions” box to transfer any Securities from the name of the registered holder(s)
thereof.

For purposes of the Offer to Purchase, the undersigned understands that Purchaser will be deemed
to have accepted for purchase validly tendered Securities (or defectively tendered Securities with respect
to which Purchaser has waived such defect) if, as, and when Purchaser gives oral (later confirmed in
writing) or written notice thereof to the Paying Agent.

The undersigned understands that, notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer, Purchaser’s
obligations to accept for purchase, and to pay the applicable tender offer consideration for Securities
validly tendered and so accepted pursuant to such Offer are subject to, and conditioned upon, the
satisfaction of, or Purchaser’s waiver of, the conditions described in the Offer to Purchase.

The undersigned understands that under certain circumstances and subject to certain conditions
set forth in the Offer to Purchase, Purchaser will not be required to accept for purchase any of the
Securities tendered. Purchaser reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to waive or modify any one or
more of the conditions to the Offer in whole or in part at any time with respect to any or all series of
Shares or Options as set forth in the Offer to Purchase, and accept for payment any or all of those
Securities which have been validly tendered for purchase, in which event the holders thereof will receive
the applicable tender offer consideration notwithstanding the failure of such condition.

The undersigned understands that the delivery and surrender of the Securities is not effective, and
the risk of loss of the Securities does not pass to the Paying Agent, until receipt by the Paying Agent of
this letter of transmittal, or a facsimile of this letter of transmittal, properly completed and duly executed,
together with all accompanying evidences of authority and any other required documents in form
satisfactory to Purchaser. All questions as to form of all documents and the validity (including time of
receipt) and acceptance of tenders of Securities will be determined by Purchaser in its sole discretion,
which determination shall be final and binding.

The undersigned understands that Purchaser will withhold 15% of the gross amount payable to
holders to satisfy specified offset and indemnification obligations, if any, and will deposit 0.5% of the
gross amount payable to holders with an escrow agent for use by the Representative to satisfy, in his sole
discretion, certain obligations on behalf of the holders. In each case, the amounts will be withheld on a
pro rata basis, in accordance with each holder’s proportion of the aggregate payment. Any remaining
portions of the funds withheld by Purchaser and remaining portions of the escrow fund will be paid to
holders no later than June 30, 2006 (subject to the retention of amounts needed to satisfy unresolved
claims by the Purchaser against the holders and subject to a three-month period for the Representative to
contest any claims by the Purchaser against the holders). Such remaining amounts will be paid to holders
on a pro rata basis, in accordance with each holder’s proportion of the aggregate payment, except to the
extent a holder has an individual indemnification obligation to the Purchaser. To the extent that a
holder’s contact information changes following the submission of this Letter of Transmittal and prior to
the payment, if any, of withheld amounts, the undersigned must forward such information to the
Company to ensure that any remaining funds are promptly returned to the undersigned once available for
payment.
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BOX B

SPECIAL DELIVERY INSTRUCTIONS
(See Instruction 6)

To be completed ONLY if a check for payment is to be delivered to someone other than the person or
persons whose signature(s) appear(s) within this letter of transmittal or to such person or persons at an address
different from that shown in the box entitled “Description of Tendered Securities” within this letter of
transmittal.

Deliver Payment:

Name:

(Please Print)

Address:

(Include Zip Code and Country)

(Tax Identification or Social Security Number, if a U.S. Holder (as defined below)

BOX C

SPECIAL WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS
(See Instruction 7)

To be completed ONLY if the payment is to be made by wire transfer. Please note that if you elect to
receive your payment via wire transfer, you will be charged a wire transfer fee of US$25.00, which will be
deducted from the amount you receive as payment for your Securities.

Bank Name:
(Please Print)
Bank Address:
(Include Zip Code and Country)
Routing Number:
Account Number:

Name on the Account:

Other Reference:
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BOXD

PLEASE SIGN HERE
(To be completed by all tendering holders)

The completion, execution and delivery of this letter of transmittal will be deemed to constitute
delivery of the Shares and/or Options specified herein.

This letter of transmittal must be signed by the registered holder(s) exactly as their name(s) appear(s) on
the Company’s books listing such holder(s) as the owner(s) of such Shares and/or Options. If signature is by
trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorney-in-fact, officers of corporations, or others acting in a
fiduciary or representative capacity, such person must set forth his or her full title below under “Capacity” and
submit evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of such person’s authority to act. See Instruction 5 below.

X
X
Signature(s) of Registered Holder(s) or Authorized Signatory
Date: ,200
Name(s):
Address:

(Please provide name and address information,
if blank, or correct the information provided,
to the extent necessary.)

Country Code, City Code and Telephone Number:

Capacity (full title):

Tax Identification or Social Security No. (ifa U.S. Holder):




BOXE

ADDITIONAL BUSINESS INFORMATION REQUIRED*
(To be completed by the tendering holder if such holder is an entity)

Type of Entity:

Jurisdiction of Incorporation:

Registered Office:

(Address, City and Country)

Registration Number (if available):

Principal Place of Business:

*This information is required from all tendering entities for purposes of effecting the transfer of the Shares in The
Netherlands, the home jurisdiction of the Company.

BOXF

ADDITIONAL PERSONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED*

(To be completed by individuals who are tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer)

Date and Place of Birth:

Marital Status:

Nationality:

Passport Number**:

*This information is required from all individuals who are tendering Shares, for purposes of effecting the
transfer of the Shares in The Netherlands, the home jurisdiction of the Company.

**An individual holder tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer must submit a copy of such holder’s passport
or, if unavailable, a state identification document or driver’s license containing such holder’s signature, along
with this letter of transmittal.

-10 -
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INSTRUCTIONS
Forming Part of the Terms and Conditions of the Offer

1. Delivery of this Letter of Transmittal. To tender Securities in the Offer, a properly
completed and duly executed copy or facsimile of this letter of transmittal and any other documents
required by this letter of transmittal, must be received by the Paying Agent at its addresses set forth herein
or via facsimile transmission at the numbers set forth herein, before the Expiration Time in order to
receive the tender offer consideration. The method of delivery of this letter of transmittal and all other
required documents to the Paying Agent is at the election and risk of holders. If such delivery is by mail,
it is suggested that holders use properly insured registered mail, return receipt requested, and that the
mailing be made sufficiently in advance of the Expiration Time to permit delivery to the Paying Agent
before such time. Except as otherwise provided below, the delivery will be deemed made when actually
received or confirmed by the Paying Agent. This letter of transmittal should be sent only to the Paying
Agent, not to Purchaser or the Company.

2. Restriction on Partial Tenders. A tendering holder, other than a Management Holder,
must tender all Securities owned by such holder for acceptance. By signing and submitting this Letter of
Transmittal to the Paying Agent, each holder who is not a Management Holder will be deemed to have
tendered all Shares and/or Options owned by such holder. A partial tender or tender of fewer than all
Securities owned by a holder, other than a Management Holder, will be deemed a tender of all Securities
owned by such holder.

A Management Holder may tender fewer than all of such Management Holder’s Securities by
indicating the number(s) of Shares and/or Options tendered under the columns labeled “Number of Shares
Tendered” and “Number of Options Tendered” in the box entitled “Description of Tendered Securities™ in
this letter of transmittal.

3. Minimum Conditions to the Offer. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer,
Purchaser will not be required to accept the Securities for payment, and may amend or terminate the
Offer, if certain minimum conditions have not been satisfied or waived, including but not limited to the
valid tender pursuant to the Offer of (i) all of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock; (i) more
than 67% of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock considered
together as a class; (iii) more than 75% of all outstanding Shares; and (iv) a sufficient number of Shares
and Options such that there would be no more than 30 individuals and entities holding Shares and Options
(excluding Purchaser and the Management Holders) immediately following consummation of the Offer.

In addition, the Offer is conditioned upon certain government or regulatory approvals being
obtained, and upon the expiration, termination or waiver of certain waiting periods, including the waiting
period under the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

4, Waiver of Conditions. Purchaser expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to
waive any of the conditions to the Offer in the case of any Securities tendered, in whole or in part, at any
time and from time to time.

5. Signatures on this Letter of Transmittal. If this letter of transmittal is signed by the
registered holder(s) of the Securities tendered hereby, the signature(s) must correspond exactly with the
name(s) as written on the books of the Company without any change whatsoever.

If any of the Securities tendered hereby are owned of record by two or more joint owners, all such
owners must sign this letter of transmittal.
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If this letter of transmittal is signed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorneys-in-
fact, officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, such persons should
so indicate when signing, and proper evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of their authority so to act must
be submitted, unless waived by Purchaser.

6. Special Delivery Instructions. Tendering holders should indicate in the applicable box or
boxes the name and address to which checks for payment of the tender offer consideration to be made in
connection with the Offer are to be sent, if different from the name and address of the person signing this
letter of transmittal. If no instructions are given, payment will be sent to the holder of such Securities
tendered at the address in the Company’s books.

7. Special Wire Transfer Instructions. Indicate in the “Special Wire Transfer Instructions”
box the bank, routing and account information, and any other instructions necessary to complete payment
by wire transfer. The name on the account designated in your wire transfer instructions must match the
exact legal name of the record holder(s) of the Securities listed under “Description of Tendered
Securities”. You will be charged a wire transfer fee of US$25.00, which will be deducted from the
amount you receive as payment for your Securities. If the wire transfer instructions provided are
incomplete, are to an account other than an account in the exact legal name of the record holder(s) or are
otherwise insufficient to allow the Paying Agent to make the wire transfer based on such instructions, the
Purchaser may, at its sole discretion, cause payment to be made by check.

8. Irregularities. All questions as to the form of all documents and the validity (including
time of receipt) and acceptance of tenders and withdrawals of Securities will be determined by Purchaser,
in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding. Alternative, conditional or
contingent tenders will not be considered valid. Purchaser reserves the absolute right to reject any or all
tenders of Securities that are not in proper form or the acceptance of which would, in Purchaser’s opinion,
be unlawful. Purchaser also reserves the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender
as to particular Shares or Options. Purchaser’s interpretations of the terms and conditions of the Offer
(including the instructions in this letter of transmittal) will be final and binding. Any defect or irregularity
in connection with tenders of Securities must be cured within such time as Purchaser determines, unless
waived by Purchaser. Tenders of Securities shall not be deemed to have been made until all defects or
irregularities have been waived by Purchaser or cured. None of Purchaser, the Paying Agent or any other
person will be under any duty to give notice of any defects or irregularities in tenders of Securities, or will
incur any liability to holders for failure to give any such notice.

9. Requests for Assistance or Additional Copies. Questions and requests for assistance
should be directed to the Paying Agent at the addresses, facsimile numbers and telephone number that
appear at the end of this letter of transmittal. Additional copies of the Offer to Purchase, this letter of
transmittal, and other documents may be obtained from the Paying Agent, whose addresses, facsimile
numbers and telephone number appear at the end of this letter of transmittal.

10. Substitute Form W-9. Each tendering holder (or other payee) who is a citizen or resident
of the United States (a “U.S. Holder”) is required to provide the Paying Agent with the holder’s correct
taxpayer identification number (“TIN”), generally the holder’s social security or federal employer
identification number, on Substitute Form W-9, which is provided under “Important Tax Information”
below, and to certify that the holder (or other payee) is not subject to backup withholding. Failure to
provide the information on the Substitute Form W-9 may subject the tendering U.S. Holder {(or other
payee) to penalties imposed by the Internal Revenue Service and 28% federal income tax backup
withholding on any payment. The box in Part 3 of the Substitute Form W-9 may be checked if the
tendering U.S. Holder (or other payee) has not been issued a TIN and has applied for a TIN or intends to
apply for a TIN in the near future. If the box in Part 3 is checked and the Paying Agent is not provided
with a TIN by the time of payment, the Paying Agent will withhold 28% on all such payments, if any,
until a TIN is provided to the Paying Agent.
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11. Governing Law. Any disputes arising under or relating to the Offer, the Offer to
Purchase, this Letter of Transmittal, any of the agreements related to the transactions contemplated
hereby, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to rules respecting conflicts of laws.

12. Jurisdiction, Venue and Service of Process. In any action or proceeding arising under or
relating to the Offer, this letter of transmittal, the Share Tender Agreement, any of the agreements related
to the Offer and related transactions, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, the
tendering holder agrees to (i) consent and submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court
sitting in the County of Los Angeles, California, (ii) waive any objection that such holder may have had at
any time to the laying of such venue of any such proceedings brought in any such court, (iii) waive any
claim that such proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and (iv) further waive the right
to object with respect to such proceedings that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such holder.
The tendering holder agrees that refusal to accept service of process properly given in accordance with
applicable Law shall be deemed acceptance of such service of process. The agreements contained in this
Section 12 apply no matter what the form of action, whether in rem, in personam, or any other, or whether
based on any statute, rule, regulation or other Law (as defined in the Share Tender Agreement) now
existing or hereinafter enacted.

IMPORTANT TAX INFORMATION

This discussion summarizes United States federal income tax considerations and does not address
the income tax requirements for holders of Securities who are not U.S. Holders. THE TAX
REQUIREMENTS AND CONSEQUENCES TO EACH HOLDER WILL DEPEND UPON THE
JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH HOLDER RESIDES AND ON SUCH HOLDER’S PARTICULAR
SITUATION. ALL HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO
THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OFFER TO THEM.

Special tax consequences not described herein or in the Offer to Purchase may be applicable to
particular classes of taxpayers, such as financial institutions, broker-dealers, holders who are not U.S.
Holders and holders who acquired their Securities through the exercise of an employee stock option or
otherwise as compensation.

Under United States federal income tax law, a holder that is a United States citizen or resident
whose tendered Securities are accepted for payment is required to provide the Paying Agent with such
holder’s current TIN on Substitute Form W-9 below, or, alternatively, to establish another basis for an
exemption from backup withholding. If such holder is an individual, the TIN is his or her social security
number. If the Paying Agent is not provided with the correct TIN, the holder or other payee may be
subject to penalties imposed by the Internal Revenue Service. In addition, any payment made to such
holder or other payee with respect to Securities purchased pursuant to the Offer to Purchase may be
subject to a 28% backup withholding tax.

Certain holders (including, among others, all corporations and certain foreign individuals) are not
subject to these backup withholding and reporting requirements. See the enclosed “Guidelines for
Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9” for additional instructions for
U.S. Holders. In order for a foreign individual to qualify as a exempt recipient, that holder must submit to
the Paying Agent a properly completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN (a “Form W-8), signed
under penalties of perjury, attesting to that individual’s exempt status. A Form W-8 and the related
instructions are included in this letter of transmittal,

If backup withholding applies, the Paying Agent is required to withhold 28% of any payment

made to the holder or other payee. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Rather, the federal
income tax liability of persons subject to backup withholding will be reduced by the amount of tax
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withheld. If withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund may be obtained from the Internal
Revenue Service.

Purpose of Substitute Form W-9

To prevent backup withholding on any payment made to a U.S. Holder with respect to Securities
purchased pursuant to the Offer to Purchase, the holder is required to notify the Paying Agent of the
holder’s current TIN (or the TIN of any other payee) by completing the form below, certifying (i) that the
TIN provided on Substitute Form W-9 is correct (or that such holder is awaiting a TIN), (ii) either that
(A) the holder is exempt from backup withholding, (B) the holder has not been notified by the Internal
Revenue Service that the holder is subject to backup withholding as a result of failure to report all interest
or dividends or (C) the Internal Revenue Service has notified the holder that the holder is no longer
subject to backup withholding, and (iii) that the holder is a U.S. person.

What Number to Give the Paying Agent

A U.S. Holder is required to give the Paying Agent the TIN (e.g., social security number or
federal employer identification number) of the registered owner of the Securities. If the Securities are
registered in more than one name or are not registered in the name of the actual owner, consult the
enclosed “Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9” for
additional guidance on which number to report.
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TO BE COMPLETED BY ALL U.S. HOLDERS OF SHARES OR OPTIONS
PAYER’S NAME: SPL ACQUISITION SARLL.,

Name (If in joint names, list first and circle the name of the person or entity whose number you enter in Part 1)

Business Name (if different from above)

Check appropriate box: [] Individual/Sole proprietor [[] Corporation [ Partnership {7] Other [ Exempt from backup withholding
SUBSTITUTE Part I - PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR TIN IN THE
BOX AT RIGHT AND CERTIFY BY SIGNING - ;
FORM W-9 AND DATING BELOW Social Security
Number(s)
OR

Employer Identification
Number(s)

Department of the Treasury | Part 2 - Certification — Under penalty of perjury, 1 | Part 3 — Awaiting TIN []
Internal Revenue Service certify that:

(1)  The number shown on this form is my correct

Payer’s Request for Taxpayer taxpayer identification n}lmber (or I am

Identification Number (“TIN®) waiting for a number to be issued for me);
and Certifications (2) 1 am not subject to backup withholding
because: (a) I am exempt from backup
withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by
the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that [ am
subject to backup withholding as a result of a
failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c)
the IRS has notified me that I am no longer
subject to backup withholding; and

(3) Iam a U.S. person (including a U.S. resident
alien).

Certification Instructions — You must cross out item (2) above if you have been notified by
the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because of underreporting interest
or dividends on your tax return.

SIGNATURE: DATE:

NOTE: FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY RESULT IN PENALTIES IMPOSED BY THE
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE AND BACKUP WITHHOLDING OF 28% OF ANY CASH PAYMENTS
MADE TO YOU PURSUANT TO THE OFFER TO PURCHASE. PLEASE REVIEW THE ENCLOSED
GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE
FORM W-9 FOR ADDITIONAL DETAILS.

NOTE: YOU MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING CERTIFICATE IF YOU CHECKED THE BOX IN PART 3 OF
THE SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9.

CERTIFICATION OF AWAITING TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

[ certify under penalty of perjury that a taxpayer identification number has not been issued to me, and either (1) [ have
mailed or delivered an application to receive a taxpayer identification number to the appropriate Internal Revenue
Service Center or Social Security Administration office or (2} I intend to mail or deliver an application in the near
future. I understand that if I do not provide a taxpayer identification number by the time of payment, 28% of all
reportable cash payments payable to me thereafter will be withheld until I provide a taxpayer identification number to
the payer and that, if [ do not provide any taxpayer identification number within sixty days, such retained amounts
shall be remitted to the IRS as backup withholding.

SIGNATURE: DATE:
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GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9

Guidelines for Determining the Proper Identification Number to Give the Payer. The taxpayer
identification number for an individual is the individual’s Social Security number, Social Security numbers
have nine digits separated by two hyphens: e.g., 000-00-0000. The taxpayer identification number for an entity
is the entity’s Employer Identification number. Employer Identification numbers have nine digits separated by
only one hyphen: e.g., 00-0000000. The table below will help determine the number to give the payer.

Give the name and

Give the name and

SOCIAL EMPLOYER
SECURITY IDENTIFICATION
For this type of account: Number of — For this type of account: Number of —
1. An individual’s account The individual 6. A valid trust, estate or  The legal entity

2. Two or more individuals
(joint account)

3. Custodian account of a minor
(Uniform Gift to Minors Act)

4. a. The usual revocable
savings trust account
(grantor is also trustee)

b. So-called trust account
that is not a legal or valid trust
under State law

3. Sole proprietorship account
or single-member limited
liability company

The actual owner of the
account or, if combined
funds, the first individual
on the account ("

The minor @

The grantor-trustee ¥

The actual owner

The owner @

pension trust

7. Corporate account or
limited liability company
electing corporate status
on Form 8832

8. Partnership account
held in the name of the
business or multi-member
limited liability company

9. Association, club or
other tax-exempt
organization

10. A broker or registered
nominee

11. Account with the
Department of Agriculture
in the name of a public
entity (such as a State or
local government, school
district or prison) that
receives agriculture
program payments

The corporation

The partnership

The organization

The broker or nominee

The public entity

(1)  List first and circle the name of the person whose number you furnish. If only one person on a joint

account has a Social Security number, that person’s number must be furnished.

2) Circle the minor’s name and furnish the minor’s Social Security number.

3) You must show your individual name, but you may also enter the name of the business or the “doing
business as” name. Either the Social Security number or the Employer Identification number may be used
(if you have one).

(4)  List first and circle the name of the legal trust, estate or pension trust. Do not furnish the identifying
number of the personal representative or trustee unless the legal entity itself is not designated in the
account title.

NOTE: IF NO NAME IS CIRCLED WHEN THERE IS MORE THAN ONE NAME, THE NUMBER

WILL BE CONSIDERED TO BE THAT OF THE FIRST NAME LISTED.
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GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9

Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code.

Obtaining a Number

If you do not have a taxpayer identification number or you do not know your number, obtain Form SS-5,
Application for a Social Security Number Card, or Form SS-4, Application for Employer Identification
Number, at the local office of the Social Security Administration or the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS™)
and apply for a number. ‘

To complete the Substitute Form W-9, if you do not have a taxpayer identification number, write “Applied
For” in the space for the taxpayer identification number in Part 1, sign and date the Form, and give it to the
requester. If the requester does not receive your taxpayer identification number within 60 days, backup
withholding, if applicable, will begin and will continue until you furnish your taxpayer identification number to
the requester.

Payees Exempt from Backup Withhelding

The following is a list of payees exempt from backup withholding and for which no information reporting is
required. For interest and dividends, all listed payees are exempt except item (9). For broker transactions,
payees listed in (1) through (13) and a person registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 who
regularly acts as a broker are exempt. Payments subject to reporting under sections 6041 and 6041A are
generally exempt from backup withholding only if made to payees described in items (1) through (7), except
that a corporation that provides medical and health care services or bills and collects payments for such
services is not exempt from backup withholding or information reporting. Only payees described in items (2)
through (6) are exempt from backup withholding for barter exchange transactions, patronage dividends, and
payments by certain fishing boat operators.

(1) A corporation,

(2)  Anorganization exempt from tax under section 501(a), or an individual retirement plan (“IRA”), or a
custodial account under 403(b)(7), if the account satisfies the requirements of section 401(f)(2).

(3)  The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities.

(4) A State, the District of Columbia, a possession of the United States, or any of its political subdivisions
or instrumentalities.

(5) A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities.

(6)  Aninternational organization or any of its agencies or instrumentalities.

(7) A foreign central bank of issue.

(8) A dealer in securities or commaodities required to register in the United States, the District of Columbia,
or a possession of the United States.

(%) A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

(10) A real estate investment trust.

(11) An entity registered at all times during the year under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

(12) A common trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a).

{13) A financial institution.

(14) A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or listed in the most recent publication
of the American Society of Corporate Secretaries, Inc., Nominee List.

(15) A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947,

Payments of dividends and patronage dividends generally not subject to backup withholding include the
following:
« Payments to nonresident aliens subject to withholding under section 1441,

« Payments to partnerships not engaged in a trade or business in the United States and that have at least
one nonresident partner.

o Payments of patronage dividends not paid in money.

» Payments made by certain foreign organizations.
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» Payments made to a nominee.
Payments of interest generally not subject to backup withholding include the following:

» Payments of interest on obligations issued by individuals. Note: You may be subject to backup
withholding if this interest is $600 or more and is paid in the course of the payer’s trade or business
and you have not provided your correct taxpayer identification number to the payer.

» Payments of tax-exempt interest (including exempt interest dividends under section 852).
»  Payments described in section 6049(b)(5) to nonresident aliens.

«  Payments on tax-free covenant bonds under section 1451.

o Payments made by certain foreign organizations.

« Mortgage interest paid by you.

Payments that are not subject to information reporting are also not subject to backup withholding. For details
see sections 6041, 6041A(a), 6042, 6044, 6045, 6049, 6050A and 6050N, and the regulations under those
sections.

Exempt payees described above should file Form W-9 to avoid possible erroneous backup
withholding. ENTER YOUR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. WRITE “EXEMPT”
ON THE FACE OF THE FORM, SIGN AND DATE THE FORM AND RETURN IT TO THE
PAYER.

Privacy Act Notice

Section 6109 requires you to give your correct taxpayer identification number to persons who must file
information returns with the IRS to report interest, dividends, and certain other income paid to you, mortgage
interest you paid, the acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, or contributions
you made to an [RA. The IRS uses the numbers for identification purposes and to help verify the accuracy of
your tax return. You must provide your taxpayer identification number whether or not you are qualified to file
a tax return. Payers must generally withhold 28% of taxable interest, dividend, and certain other payments to a
payee who does not furnish a taxpayer identification number to a payer. Certain penalties may also apply.

Penalties

(1)  Penalty for Failure to Furnish Taxpayer Identification Number. If you fail to furnish your correct
taxpayer identification number to a payer, you are subject to a penalty of $50 for each such failure
unless your failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.

(2)  Civil Penalty for False Information with respect to Withholding. If you make a false statement with
no reasonable basis which results in no backup withholding, you are subject to a $500 penalty.

(3) Criminal Penalty for Falsifying Information. Falsifying certifications or affirmations may subject
you to criminal penalties including fines and/or imprisonment.

FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONTACT YOUR TAX CONSULTANT OR THE INTERNAL
REVENUE SERVICE.
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(o W-SBEN Certificate of Foreign Status of Beneficial Owner
(Rev. December 2000) for United States Tax Withholding OMB No. 1545.1621
Department of the Treasury | " Section references are to the internal Revenue Code. » See separate instructions.
Internal Revenue Service » Give this form to the withholding agent or payer. Do not send to the IRS.
Do not use this form for: Instead, use Form:
® A U.S. citizen or other U.S. person, including a resident alien individual . . ., . P A
¢ A person claiming an exemption from U.S. withholding on income effectlvely connected wnh the conducl

of a trade or business in the United States. . . e e . . W-8ECI
® A foreign partnership, a foreign simple trust, or a forelgn grantor trust (see mstructlons for exceptlons) e W 8ECI or W-8IMY

e A foreign government, international organization, foreign central bank of issue, foreign tax-exempt organization,
foreign private foundation, or government of a U.S. possession that received effectively connected income or that is
claiming the applicability of section(s) 115(2), 501(c), 892, 895, or 1443(b) (see instructions) . ., . . . .W-BEClor W-8EXP

Note: These entities should use Form W-8BEN if they are claiming treaty benefits or are providing the form only to
claim they are a foreign person exempt from backup withholding.

® A person acting as an intermediary . . . . . . . L . L L ... e e e e oo Waamy
Note: See instructions for additional exceptions.

m Identification of Beneficial Owner (See instructions.)

1 Name of individual or organization that is the beneficial owner 2 Country of incorporation or organization
3 Type of beneficial owner: (3 individuar d Corporation O Disregarded entity O Partnership O Simple trust
[ Grantor wrust ) Complex trust O Estate [3 Government [ internationat arganization
D Central bank of issue Tax-exempt organization D Private foundation

4 Permanent residence address (street, apt. or suite no., or rural route). Do not use a P.Q. box or in-care-of address.

City or town, state or province. Include postal code where appropriate. Country (do not abbreviate)

5 Mailing address (if different from above)

City or town, state or province. Include postal code where appropriate. Country (do not abbreviate)

6 U.S. taxpayer identification number, if required (See instructions) 7 Foreign tax identifying number, if any (optional)
] ssnorimN [ EIN

8 Reference number(s) (see instructions)

EEXXI Ciaim of Tax Treaty Benefits (if applicable)
9 | certify that (check all that apply):
a [ The beneficial owner is a resident of ................. within the meaning of the income tax treaty between the United States and that country.
b O i required, the U.S. taxpayer identification number is stated on line 6 (see instructions).

¢ [J The beneficial owner is not an individual, derives the item (or items) of income for which the treaty benefits are claimed, and, if
applicable, meets the requirements of the treaty provision dealing with limitation on benefits (see instructions).

d (O The beneficial owner is not an individual, is claiming treaty benefits for dividends received from a foreign corporation or interest from a
U.S. trade or business of a foreign corporation, and meets qualified resident status (see instructions).

e [ The beneficial owner is related to the person obligated to pay the income within the meaning of section 267(b) or 707(b). and will file
Form 8833 if the amount subject to withholding received during a calendar year exceeds, in the aggregate, $500,000.

10 Special rates and conditions (if applicable—see instructions): The beneficial owner is claiming the provisions of Article
treaty identified on line 9a above to claima __........_..... % rate of withholding on (specify type of income):....... ... ..o .
Explain the reasons the beneficial owner meets the terms of the treaty artiCle: ... .. .. i ittt iaaaaaees

m Notional Principal Contracts

11 [ I nave provided or will provide a statement that identifies those notional principal contracts from which the income is not effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States. | agree to update this statement as required.

Certification

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined the information on this form and to the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, carrect, and complete. |

further certify under penalties of perjury that:

® | am the beneficial owner (or am authorized to sign for the beneficial owner) of all the income to which this form relates,

® The beneficial owner is not a U.S. person,

* The income to which this form relates is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States or is effectively connected but is
not subject to tax under an income tax treaty, and

® For broker transactions or barter exchanges, the beneficial owner is an exempt foreign person as defined in the instructions.

Furthermore, | authorize this form to be provided to any withholding agent that has control, receipt, or custedy of the income of which | am the beneficial owner or

any withholding agent that can disburse or make payments of the income of which | am the beneficial owner.

Sign Hel'e } T esmsseee R Toemne- AN TeoTmmossces o scsens TmoeTmenmesmss s AN R

Signature of beneficial owner {or individual authorized to sign for beneficial owner) Date (MM-DD-YYYY) Capacity in which acting

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see separate instructions. Cat. No. 250477 Form W-8BEN (Rev. 12-2000)
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Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

(Use with the December 2000 revision of Form W-8BEN.)
Certificate of Foreign Status of Beneficial Owner for United States Tax

Withholding

Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise noted.

General Instructions

Note: For definitions of terms used throughout these
instructions, see Definitions on pages 2 and 3.

A change to note. We added Nonresident alien who
becomes a resident alien to the instructions for line 10
on page 5. This new section requires the use of Form
W-9 in certain circumstances. See page 5 for details.

Purpose of form. Foreign persons are subject to U.S.
tax at @ 30% rate on income they receive from U.S.
sources that consists of:

¢ Interest (including certain original issue discount
(OIDY);

¢ Dividends;

® Rents;

® Royalties;

¢ Premiums;

e Annuities;

e Compensation for, or in expectation of, services
performed;

* Substitute payments in a securities lending transaction,
or

® Other fixed or determinable annual or periodical gains,
profits, or income.

This tax is imposed on the gross amount paid and is
generally collected by withholding on that amount. A
payment is considered to have been made whether it is
made directly to the beneficial owner or to another
person, such as an intermediary, agent, or partnership,
for the benefit of the beneficial owner.

If you receive certain types of income, you must

provide Form W-8BEN to:

e Establish that you are not a U.S. person;

® Claim that you are the beneficial owner of the income
for which Form W-8BEN is being provided; and

¢ [f applicable, claim a reduced rate of, or exemption
from, withholding as a resident of a foreign country with
which the United States has an income tax treaty.

You may also be required to submit Form W-8BEN to
claim an exception from domestic information reporting
and backup withholding for certain types of income that
are not subject to foreign-person withholding. Such
income includes:
® Broker proceeds.

e Short-term (183 days or less) original issue discount
(OID).

® Bank deposit interest.

® Foreign source interest, dividends, rents, or royalties.

® Proceeds from a wager placed by a nonresident alien
individual in the games of blackjack, baccarat, craps,
roulette, or big-6 wheel.

You may also use Form W-8BEN to certify that income
from a notional principal contract is not effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the
United States.

A withholding agent or payer of the income may rely
on a properly completed Form W-8BEN to treat a
payment associated with the Form W-8BEN as a
payment to a foreign person who beneficially owns the
amounts paid. If applicable, the withholding agent may
rely on the Form W-8BEN to apply a reduced rate of
withholding at source.

Provide Form W-8BEN to the withholding agent or
payer before income is paid or credited to you. Failure to
provide a Form W-8BEN when requested may lead to
withholding at a 30% rate (foreign-person withholding) or
the backup withholding rate.

Note: For additional information and instructions for the
withholding agent, see the Instructions for the
Requester of Forms W-8BEN, W-8ECI, W-8EXP, and
W-8IMY.

Who must file. You must give Form W-8BEN to the’
withholding agent or payer if you are a foreign person
and you are the beneficial owner of an amount subject to
withholding. Submit Form W-8BEN when requested by
the withholding agent or payer whether or not you are
claiming a reduced rate of, or exemption from,
withholding.

Do not use Form W-8BEN if:
® You are a U.S. citizen (even if you reside outside the
United States) or other U.S. person (including a resident
alien individual). Instead, use Form W-9, Request for
Taxpayer |dentification Number and Certification.
® You are a disregarded entity with a single owner that is
a U.S. person and you are not a hybrid entity claiming
treaty benefits. Instead, provide Form W-9.
® You are a nonresident alien individual who claims
exemption from withholding on compensation for
independent or dependent personal services performed
in the United States. Instead, provide Form 8233,
Exemption from Withholding on Compensation for
Independent (and Certain Dependent) Personal Services
of a Nonresident Alien Individual, or Form W-4,
Employee's Withholding Allowance Certificate.
® You are receiving income that is effectively connected
with the conduct of a trade or business in the United
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States. Instead, provide Form W-8ECI, Certificate of
Foreign Person’'s Claim for Exemption From Withholding
on Income Effectively Connected With the Conduct of a
Trade or Business in the United States. If any of the
income for which you have provided a Form W-8BEN
becomes effectively connected, this is a change in
circumstances and Form W-8BEN is no longer valid. You
must file Form W-8ECI. See Change in circumstances
below.

® You are filing for a foreign government, international
organization, foreign central bank of issue, foreign
tax-exempt organization, foreign private foundation, or
government of a U.S. possession claiming the
applicability of section 115(2), 501(c), 892, 895, or
1443(b). Instead, provide Form W-8EXP, Certificate of
Foreign Government or Other Foreign Organization for
United States Tax Withholding. However, you should use
Form W-8BEN if you are claiming treaty benefits or are
providing the form only to claim you are a foreign person
exempt from backup withholding. You should use Form
W-8ECI if you received effectively connected income (for
example, income from commercial activities).

® You are a foreign flow-through entity, other than a
hybrid entity, claiming treaty benefits. instead, provide
Form W-8IMY, Certificate of Foreign Intermediary,
Foreign Flow-Through Entity, or Certain U.S. Branches
for United States Tax Withholding. However, if you are a
partner, beneficiary, or owner of a flow-through entity and
you are not yourself a flow-through entity, you may be
required to furnish a Form W-8BEN to the flow-through
entity.

¢ You are a reverse hybrid entity transmitting beneficial
owner documentation provided by your interest holders to
claim treaty benefits on their behalf. Instead, provide
Form W-8IMY.

¢ You are a withholding foreign partnership or a
withholding foreign trust. A withholding foreign
partnership or a withholding foreign trust is a foreign
partnership or trust that has entered into a withholding
agreement with the IRS under which it agrees to assume
primary withholding responsibility for each partner’s,
beneficary’s, or owner's distributive share of income
subject to withholding that is paid to the partnership or
trust. Instead, provide Form W-8IMY.

® You are acting as an intermediary (that is, acting not
for your own account, but for the account of others as an
agent, nominee, or custodian). Instead, provide Form
W-8IMY.

Giving Form W-8BEN to the withholding agent. Do
not send Form W-8BEN to the IRS. Instead, give it to the
person who is requesting it from you. Generally, this will
be the person from whom you receive the payment or
who credits your account. Give Form W-8BEN to the
person requesting it before the payment is made to you
or credited to your account. If you do not provide this
form, the withholding agent may have to withhold at a
30% rate (foreign-person withholding) or backup
withholding rate. If you receive more than one type of
income from a single withholding agent for which you
claim different benefits, the withholding agent may, at its
option, require you to submit a Form W-8BEN for each
different type of income. Generally, a separate Form
W-8BEN must be given to each withholding agent.

Note: If you own the income or account jointly with one
or more other persons, the income or account will be
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lreated by the withholding agent as owned by a foreign
person if Forms W-8BEN are provided by all of the
owners. If the withholding agent receives a Form W-9
from any of the joint owners, the payment must be
treated as made to a U.S. person.

Change in circumstances. If a change in
circumstances makes any information on the Form
W-8BEN you have submitted incorrect, you must notify
the withholding agent or payer within 30 days of the
change in circumstances and you must file a new Form
W-8BEN or other appropriate form.

if you use Form W-8BEN to certify that you are a
foreign person, a change of address to an address in the
United States is a change in circumstances. Generally, a
change of address within the same foreign country or to
another foreign country is not a change in circumstances.
However, if you use Form W-8BEN to claim treaty
benefits, a move to the United States or outside the
country where you have been claiming treaty benefits is a
change in circumstances. In that case, you must notify
the withholding agent or payer within 30 days of the
move.

If you become a U.S. citizen or resident after you
submit Form W-8BEN, you are no longer subject to the
30% foreign-person withholding rate. You must notify the
withholding agent or payer within 30 days of becoming a
U.S. citizen or resident. You may be required to provide a
Form W-9. For more information, see Form W-9 and
instructions.

Expiration of Form W-8BEN. Generally, a Form
W-8BEN provided without a U.S. taxpayer identification
number (TIN) will remain in effect for a period starting on
the date the form is signed and ending on the last day of
the third succeeding calendar year, unless a change in
circumstances makes any information on the form
incorrect. For example, a Form W-8BEN signed on
September 30, 2003, remains valid through December
31, 2006. A Form W-8BEN furnished with a U.S. TIN will
remain in effect until a change in circumstances makes
any information on the form incorrect, provided that the
withholding agent reports on Form 1042-S at least one
payment annually to the beneficial owner who provided
the Form W-8BEN. See the instructions for line 6 on
page 4 for circumstances under which you must provide
a U.S. TIN.

Definitions

Beneficial owner. For payments other than those for
which a reduced rate of withholding is claimed under an
income tax treaty, the beneficial owner of income is
generally the person who is required under U.S. tax
principles to include the income in gross income on a tax
return. A person is not a beneficial owner of income,
however, to the extent that person is receiving the
income as a nominee, agent, or custodian, or to the
extent the person is a conduit whose participation in a
transaction is disregarded. In the case of amounts paid
that do not constitute income, beneficial ownership is
determined as if the payment were income.

Foreign partnerships, foreign simple trusts, and foreign
grantor trusts are not the beneficial owners of income
paid to the partnership or trust. The beneficial owners of
income paid to a foreign partnership are generaily the



partners in the partnership, provided that the partner is
not itself a partnership, foreign simple or grantor trust,
nominee or other agent. The beneficial owners of income
paid to a foreign simple trust (that is, a foreign trust that is
described in section 651(a)) are generally the
beneficiaries of the trust, if the beneficiary is not a foreign
partnership, foreign simple or grantor trust, nominee or
other agent. The beneficial owners of a foreign grantor
trust (that is, a foreign trust to the extent that all or a
portion of the income of the trust is treated as owned by
the grantor or another person under sections 671 through
679) are the persons treated as the owners of the trust.
The beneficial owners of income paid to a foreign
complex trust (that is, a foreign trust that is not a foreign
simple trust or foreign grantor trust) is the trust itself.

The beneficial owner of income paid to a foreign
estate is the estate itself.

Note: A payment to a U.S. partnership, U.S. trust, or
U.S. estate is treated as a payment to a U.S. payee that
is not subject to 30% foreign-person withholding. A U.S.
partnership, trust, or estate should provide the
withholding agent with a Form W-9.

Foreign person. A foreign person includes a
nonresident alien individual, a foreign corporation, a
foreign partnership, a foreign trust, a foreign estate, and
any other person that is not a U.S. person. It also
includes a foreign branch or office of a U.S. financial
institution or U.S. clearing organization if the foreign
branch is a qualified intermediary. Generally, a payment
to a U.S. branch of a foreign person is a payment to a
foreign person.

Nonresident alien individual. Any individual who is not
a citizen or resident of the United States is a nonresident
alien individual. An alien individual meeting either the
“green card test” or the “substantial presence test" for the
calendar year is a resident alien. Any person not meeting
either test is a nonresident alien individual. Additionally,
an alien individual who is a resident of a foreign country
under the residence article of an income tax treaty, or an
alien individual who is a resident of Puerto Rico, Guam,
the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the
U.S. Virgin Islands, or American Samoa is a nonresident
alien individual. See Pub. 519, U.S. Tax Guide for Aliens,
for more information on resident and nonresident atien
status.

Note: Even though a nonresident alien individual
married to a U.S. citizen or resident alien may choose to
be treated as a resident alien for certain purposes (for
example, filing a joint income tax refurn), such individual
is still treated as a nonresident alien for withholding tax
purposes on all income except wages.

Flow-through entity. A flow-through entity is a foreign
partnership (other than a withholding foreign partnership),
a foreign simple or foreign grantor trust (other than a
withholding foreign trust), or, for payments for which a
reduced rate of withholding is claimed under an income
tax treaty, any entity to the extent the entity is considered
to be fiscally transparent (see below) with respect to the
payment by an interest holder’s jurisdiction.

Hybrid entity. A hybrid entity is any person (other than
an individual) that is treated as fiscally transparent (see
below) in the United States but is not treated as fiscally
transparent by a country with which the United States
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has an income tax treaty. Hybrid entity status is relevant
for claiming treaty benefits. See the instructions for
line 9c on page 5.

Reverse hybrid entity. A reverse hybrid entity is any
person {other than an individual) that is not fiscally
transparent under U.S. tax law principles but that is
fiscally transparent under the laws of a jurisdiction with
which the United States has an income tax treaty. See
the instructions for line 9¢ on page 5.

Fiscally transparent entity. An entity is treated as
fiscally transparent with respect to an item of income for
which treaty benefits are claimed to the extent that the
interest holders in the entity must, on a current basis,
take into account separately their shares of an item of
income paid to the entity, whether or not distributed, and
must determine the character of the items of income as if
they were realized directly from the sources from which
realized by the entity. For example, partnerships,
common trust funds, and simple trusts or grantor trusts
are generally considered to be fiscally transparent with
respect to items of income received by them.

Disregarded entity. A business entity that has a single
owner and is not a corporation under Regulations section
301.7701-2(b) is disregarded as an entity separate from
its owner.

Amounts subject to withholding. Generally, an
amount subject to withholding is an amount from sources
within the United States that is fixed or determinable
annual or periodical (FDAP) income. FDAP income is all
income included in gross income, including interest (as
well as OID), dividends, rents, royalties, and
compensation. FDAP income does not include most
gains from the sale of property (including market discount
and option premiums).

Withholding agent. Any person, U.S. or foreign, that
has control, receipt, or custody of an amount subject to
withholding or who can disburse or make payments of an
amount subject to withholding is a withholding agent. The
withholding agent may be an individual, corporation,
partnership, trust, association, or any other entity,
including (but not limited to) any foreign intermediary,
foreign partnership, and U.S. branches of certain foreign
banks and insurance companies. Generally, the person
who pays {or causes to be paid) the amount subject to
withholding to the foreign person (or to its agent) must
withhold.

Specific Instructions

Note: A hybrid entity should give Form W-8BEN fo a
withholding agent only for income for which it is claiming
a reduced rate of withholding under an income tax treaty.
A reverse hybrid entity should give Form W-8BEN to a
withholding agent only for income for which no treaty
benefit is being claimed.

Part |

Line 1. Enter your name. If you are a disregarded entity
with a single owner who is a foreign person and you are
not claiming treaty benefits as a hybrid entity, this form
should be completed and signed by your foreign single
owner. If the account to which a payment is made or
credited is in the name of the disregarded entity, the
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foreign single owner should inform the withholding agent
of this fact. This may be done by including the name and
account number of the disregarded entity on line 8
(reference number) of the form. However, if you are a
disregarded entity that is claiming treaty benefits as a
hybrid entity, this form should be completed and signed
by you.

Line 2. If you are a corporation, enter the country of
incorporation. If you are another type of entity, enter the
country under whose laws you are created, organized, or
governed. If you are an individual, enter N/A (for “not
applicable”).

Line 3. Check the one box that applies. By checking a
box, you are representing that you qualify for this
classification. You must check the box that represents
your classification (for example, corporation, partnership,
trust, estate, etc.) under U.S. tax principles. Do not
check the box that describes your status under the law of
the treaty country. If you are a partnership or disregarded
entity receiving a payment for which treaty benefits are
being claimed, you must check the “Partnership” or
“‘Disregarded entity” box. If you are a sole proprietor,
check the “Individual” box, not the “Disregarded entity”
box.

Only entities that are tax-exempt under section
501 should check the “Tax-exempt organizations”
C.

) box. Such organizations should use Form
W-8BEN only if they are claiming a reduced rate of
withholding under an income tax treaty or some code
exception other than section 501. Use Form W-8EXP if
you are claiming an exemption from withholding under
section 501.

Line 4. Your permanent residence address is the
address in the country where you claim to be a resident
for purposes of that country’s income tax. If you are
giving Form W-8BEN to claim a reduced rate of
withholding under an income tax treaty, you must
determine your residency in the manner required by the
treaty. Do not show the address of a financial institution,
a post office box, or an address used solely for mailing
purposes. If you are an individual who does not have a
tax residence in any country, your permanent residence
is where you normally reside. If you are not an individual
and you do not have a tax residence in any country, the
permanent residence address is where you maintain your
principal office.

Line 5. Enter your mailing address only if it is different
from the address you show on line 4.

Line 6. if you are an individual, you are generally
required to enter your social security number (SSN). To
apply for an SSN, get Form S$8-5 from a Social Security
Administration (SSA) office or, if in the United States, you
may call the SSA at 1-800-772-1213. Fill in Form SS-5
and return it to the SSA.

If you do not have an SSN and are not eligible to get
one, you must get an individual taxpayer identification
number (ITIN). To apply for an ITIN, file Form W-7 with
the IRS. It usually takes 4-6 weeks to get an ITIN.

Note: An ITIN is for tax use only. It does not entitle you
to social security benefits or change your employment or
immigration status under U.S. law.

If you are not an individual or you are an individual
who is an employer or who is engaged in a U.S. trade or
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business as a sole proprietor, you must enter an
employer identification number (EIN). If you do not have
an EIN, you should apply for one on Form $S-4,
Application for Employer Identification Number. If you are
a disregarded entity claiming treaty benefits as a hybrid
entity, enter your EIN.

You must provide a U.S. taxpayer identification
number (TIN) if you are:

1. Claiming an exemption from withholding under
section 87 1(f) for certain annuities received under
qualified plans, or

2. A foreign grantor trust with 5 or fewer grantors, or

3. Claiming benefits under an income tax treaty.

However, a U.S. TIN is not required to be shown in
order to claim treaty benefits on the following items of
income:
® Dividends and interest from stocks and debt
obligations that are actively traded;
¢ Dividends from any redeemable security issued by an
investment company registered under the Investment
Company Act of 1940 (mutual fund);
¢ Dividends, interest, or royalties from units of beneficial
interest in a unit investment trust that are (or were upon
issuance) publicly offered and are registered with the
SEC under the Securities Act of 1933; and
* [ncome related to loans of any of the above securities.

Note: You may want fo obtain and provide a U.S. TIN on
Form W-8BEN even though it is not required. A Form
W-8BEN containing a U.S. TIN remains valid for as long
as your status and the information relevant to the
certifications you make on the form remain unchanged
provided at least one payment is reported to you annually
on Form 1042-S.

Line 7. If your country of residence for tax purposes has
issued you a tax identifying number, enter it here. For
example, if you are a resident of Canada, enter your
Social Insurance Number.

Line 8. This line may be used by the filer of Form
W-8BEN or by the withholding agent to whom it is
provided to include any referencing information that is
useful to the withholding agent in carrying out its
obligations. For example, withholding agents who are
required to associate the Form W-8BEN with a particular
Form W-8IMY may want to use line 8 for a referencing
number or code that will make the association clear. A
beneficial owner may use line 8 to include the number of
the account for which he or she is providing the form. A
foreign single owner of a disregarded entity may use

line 8 to inform the withholding agent that the account to
which a payment is made or credited is in the name of
the disregarded entity (see instructions for line 1 starting
on page 3).

Part li

Line 9a. Enter the country where you claim to be a
resident for income tax treaty purposes. For treaty
purposes, a person is a resident of a treaty country if the
person is a resident of that country under the terms of the
treaty.

Line 9b. !f you are claiming benefits under an income
tax treaty, you must have a U.S. TIN unless one of the
exceptions listed in the line 6 instructions above applies.
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Line 9¢. An entity (but not an individual) that is claiming
a reduced rate of withholding under an income tax treaty
must represent that it (a) derives the item of income for
which the treaty benefit is claimed and (b) meets the
limitation on benefits provisions contained in the treaty, if
any.

An item of income may be derived by either the entity
receiving the item of income or by the interest holders in
the entity or, in certain circumstances, both. An item of
income paid to an entity is considered to be derived by
the entity cnly if the entity is not fiscally transparent under
the laws of the entity’s jurisdiction with respect to the item
of income. An item of income paid to an entity shall be
considered to be derived by the interest holder in the
entity only if (a) the interest holder is not fiscally
transparent in its jurisdiction with respect to the item of
income and (b) the entity is considered to be fiscally
transparent under the laws of the interest holder’s
jurisdiction with respect to the item of income. An item of
income paid directly to a type of entity specifically
identified in a treaty as a resident of a treaty jurisdiction is
treated as derived by a resident of that treaty jurisdiction.

if an entity is claiming treaty benefits on its own behalf,
it should complete Form W-8BEN. If an interest holder in
an entity that is considered fiscally transparent in the
interest holder's jurisdiction is claiming a treaty benefit,
the interest holder should complete Form W-8BEN on its
own behalf and the fiscally transparent entity should
associate the interest holder's Form W-8BEN with a
Form W-8IMY completed by the entity.

Note: An income tax treaty may not apply to reduce the
amount of any tax on an item of income received by an
entity that is treated as a domestic corporation for U.S.
tax purposes. Therefore, neither the domestic corporation
nor its shareholders are entitled to the benefits of a
reduction of U.S. income tax on an item of income
received from U.S. sources by the corporation.

To determine whether an entity meets the limitation on
benefits provisions of a treaty, you must consult the
specific provisions or articles under the treaties. Income
tax treaties are available on the IRS Web Site at
www.irs.gov.

Note: /f you are an entity that derives the income as a
resident of a treaty country, you may check this box if the
applicable income tax treaty does not contain a “limitation
on benefits” provision.

Line 9d. if you are a foreign corporation claiming treaty
benefits under an income tax treaty that entered into
force before January 1, 1987 (and has not been
renegotiated) on {a) U.S. source dividends paid to you by
another foreign corporation or (b) U.S. source interest
paid to you by a U.S. trade or business of another foreign
corporation, you must generally be a “"qualified resident”
of a treaty country. See section 884 for the definition of
interest paid by a U.S. trade or business of a foreign
carporation ("branch interest”) and other applicable rules.

In general, a foreign corporation is a qualified resident
of a country if one or more of the following applies:
® |t meets a 50% ownership and base erosion test.
® ltis primarily and regularly traded on an established
securities market in its country of residence or the United
States.
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e |t carries on an active trade or business in its country
of residence.
¢ |t gets a ruling from the IRS that it is a qualified
resident.

See Regulations section 1.884-5 for the requirements
that must be met to satisfy each of these tests.

If you are claiming treaty benefits under an
income tax treaty entered into force after
C.

) December 31, 1986, do not check box 9d.
Instead, check box 9c.

Line 9e. Check this box if you are related to the
withholding agent within the meaning of section 267(b) or
707(b) and the aggregate amount subject to withholding
received during the calendar year exceeds $500,000.
Additionally, you must file Form 8833, Treaty-Based
Return Position Disclosure Under Section 6114 or
7701(b).

Line 10

Line 10 must be used only if you are claiming treaty
benefits that require that you meet conditions not covered
by the representations you make in lines 9a through 9e.
However, this line should always be completed by foreign
students and researchers claiming treaty benefits. See
Scholarship and fellowship grants beiow for more
information.

Additional examples of persons who should complete
this line are:

1. Exempt organizations claiming treaty benefits
under the exempt organization articles of the treaties with
Canada, Mexico, Germany, and the Netherlands.

2. Foreign corporations that are claiming a preferential
rate applicable to dividends based on ownership of a
specific percentage of stock.

3. Persons claiming treaty benefits on royalties if the
treaty contains different withholding rates for different
types of royalties.

This line is generally not applicable to claiming treaty
benefits under an interest or dividends (other than
dividends subject to a preferential rate based on
ownership) article of a treaty.

Nonresident alien who becomes a resident alien.
Generally, only a nonresident alien individual may use
the terms of a tax treaty to reduce or eliminate U.S. tax
on certain types of income. However, most tax treaties
contain a provision known as a “saving clause.”
Exceptions specified in the saving clause may permit an
exemption from tax to continue for certain types of
income even after the recipient has otherwise become a
U.S. resident alien for tax purposes. The individual must
use Form W-9 to claim the tax treaty benefit. See the
instructions for Form W-9 for more information. Also see
Nonresident alien student or researcher who
becomes a resident alien on page 6 for an example.

Scholarship and fellowship grants. A nonresident
alien student (including a trainee or business apprentice)
or researcher who receives noncompensatory
scholarship or fellowship income may use Form W-8BEN
to claim benefits under a tax treaty that apply to reduce
or eliminate U.S. tax on such income. No Form W-8BEN
is required unless a treaty benefit is being claimed. A
nonresident alien student or researcher who receives
compensatory scholarship or fellowship income must use
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Form 8233 to claim any benefits of a tax treaty that apply
to that income. The student or researcher must use Form
W-4 for any part of such income for which he or she is
not claiming a tax treaty withholding exemption. Do not
use Form W-8BEN for compensatory scholarship or
fellowship income. See Compensation for Dependent
Personal Services in the Instructions for Form 8233.
Note: If you are a nonresident alien individual who
received noncompensatory scholarship or fellowship
income and personal services income (including
compensatory scholarship or fellowship income) from
the same withholding agent, you may use Form 8233
to claim a tax treaty withholding exemption for part or all
of both types of income.

Completing lines 4 and 9a. Most tax treaties that
contain an article exempting scholarship or fellowship
grant income from taxation require that the recipient be a
resident of the other treaty country at the time of, or
immediately prior to, entry into the United States. Thus, a
student or researcher may claim the exemption even if he
or she no longer has a permanent address in the other
treaty country after entry into the United States. If this is
the case, you may provide a U.S. address on line 4 and
still be eligible for the exemption if all other conditions
required by the tax treaty are met. You must also identify
on line 9a the tax treaty country of which you were a
resident at the time of, or immediately prior to, your entry
into the United States.

Completing line 10. You must complete line 10 if you
are a student or researcher claiming an exemption from
taxation on your scholarship or fellowship grant income
under a tax treaty.

Nonresident alien student or researcher who
becomes a resident alien. You must use Form W-9 to
claim an exception to a saving clause. See Nonresident
alien who becomes a resident alien on page 5 for a
general explanation of saving clauses and exceptions to
them.

Example. Article 20 of the U.S.-China income tax
treaty allows an exemption from tax for scholarship
income received by a Chinese student temporarily
present in the United States. Under U.S. law, this student
will become a resident alien for tax purposes if his or her
stay in the United States exceeds 5 calendar years.
However, paragraph 2 of the first protocol to the
U.S.-China treaty (dated April 30, 1984) allows the
provisions of Article 20 to continue to apply even after the
Chinese student becomes a resident alien of the United
States. A Chinese student who qualifies for this exception
(under paragraph 2 of the first protocot) and is relying on
this exception to claim an exemption from tax on his or
her scholarship or fellowship income would complete
Form W-9.

Part lil

If you check this box, you must provide the withholding
agent with the required statement for income from a
notional principal contract that is to be treated as income
not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or
business in the United States. You should update this
statement as often as necessary. A new Form W-8BEN
is not required for each update provided the form
otherwise remains valid.
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Part IV

Form W-8BEN must be signed and dated by the
beneficial owner of the income, or, if the beneficial owner
is not an individual, by an authorized representative or
officer of the beneficial owner. If Form W-8BEN is
completed by an agent acting under a duly authorized
power of attorney, the form must be accompanied by the
power of attorney in proper form or a copy thereof
specifically authorizing the agent to represent the
principal in making, executing, and presenting the form.
Form 2848, Power of Attorney and Declaration of
Representative, may be used for this purpose. The
agent, as well as the beneficial owner, may incur liability
for the penalties provided for an erroneous, false, or
fraudulent form.

Broker transactions or barter exchanges. Income
from transactions with a broker or a barter exchange is
subject to reporting rules and backup withholding unless
Form W-8BEN or a substitute form is filed to notify the
broker or barter exchange that you are an exempt foreign
person.

You are an exempt foreign person for a calendar year
in which: (a) you are a nonresident alien individual or a
foreign corporation, partnership, estate, or trust; {b) you
are an individual who has not been, and does not plan to
be, present in the United States for a total of 183 days or
more during the calendar year; and (c) you are neither
engaged, nor plan to be engaged during the year, in a
U.S. trade or business that has effectively connected
gains from transactions with a broker or barter exchange.

Paperwork Reduction Act Notice. We ask for the
information on this form to carry out the Internal Revenue
laws of the United States. You are required to provide the
information. We need it to ensure that you are complying
with these laws and to allow us to figure and collect the
right amount of tax.

You are not required to provide the information
requested on a form that is subject to the Paperwork
Reduction Act unless the form displays a valid OMB
control number. Books or records relating to a form or its
instructions must be retained as long as their contents
may become material in the administration of any Internal
Revenue law. Generally, tax returns and return
information are confidential, as required by section 6103.

The time needed to complete and file this form will
vary depending on individual circumstances. The
estimated average time is: Recordkeeping, 5 hr.,

58 min.; Learning about the law or the form, 3 hr,,
46 min.; Preparing and sending the form to IRS, 4 hr,,
2 min.

If you have comments concerning the accuracy of
these time estimates or suggestions for making this form
simpiler, we would be happy to hear from you. You can
write to the Tax Forms Committee, Western Area
Distribution Center, Rancho Cordova, CA 95743-0001.
Do not send Form W-8BEN to this office. Instead, give it
to your withholding agent.
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In order to tender, a holder should send or deliver a properly completed and signed letter of
transmittal and any other required documents to the Paying Agent at the address set forth below.

Any questions or requests for assistance or for additional copies of the Offer to Purchase,
this letter of transmittal or related documents may be directed to the Paying Agent at its telephone
number set forth below. A holder may also contact such holder’s broker, dealer, commercial bank,
trust company or other nominee for assistance concerning the Offer.

The Paying Agent for the Offer is:

The Bank of New York
By Regular Mail: By Registered or Certified Mail or By Facsimile Transmission:
Overnight Delivery:
The Bank of New York The Bank of New York 1-315-414-3130 or
P.O. Box 396 111 East Sanders Creek Par_kway 1-315-414-3100
East Syracuse, NY 13057 Corporate Trust Redemptions
Attn: CT TR Redemptions East Syracuse, NY 13057

For information, call:

1-800-254-2826
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR TENDERING SECURITIES

If you wish to tender Securities in the Offer, please complete the fo
portions of the Letter of Transmittal. See the Instructions beginning on page
details.

A. Box A on Page 3: Complete your name and address in the first field of the table, 1
blank. If you are not a Management Holder (as defined in the enclosed materials),
you do not need to complete the other fields in the table because you will be deemed
to tender all Securities held by you. If you are a Management Holder, you must
complete the other fields in the table.

B. Box B on Page 8: Provide any special delivery instructions. This only needs to be
completed if the proceeds should be sent to a person other than you.

C. Box C on Page 8: Provide wire transfer instructions if you would like your proceeds
sent by wire; otherwise, you will receive a check.

D. Box D on page 9: Sign with the name of the registered holder exactly as it appears on
the books of the Company and complete the other information requested. Note: if
you are signing on behalf of the registered holder of the Securities, you may be
required to submit additional documentation (see Instruction 5).

E. Box E on page 10 (for entities only): If you are tendering Shares, provide the
requested information. If you are only tendering Options, you do not need to provide
this information.

F. Box F on Page 10 (for individuals only): If you are tendering Shares, provide the
requested information. Note: you must provide a copy of your passport or state
identification document containing your signature. 1f you are only tendering Options,
you do not need to provide this information.

G. Page 15 (for U.S. Holders only): Complete and sign the Substitute Form W-9.

H. Page 19 (for non U.S. Holders only). Complete and sign the Form W-8BEN if
required.

I. Fax the Letter of Transmittal (including page 3, page 9 and any other pages you have
completed) and other requested documentation to The Bank of New York at +1 315
414 3130 or +1 315 414 3100. If you do not have access to a fax, you may send the
documents by mail (we recommend insured registered mail, return receipt requested).
The fax number and address of The Bank of New York are set forth on the cover page
of the Letter of Transmittal. We encourage you to transmit your package as soon
as you have made your decision. The package must be received by The Bank of
New York no later than 5:00 P.M., San Francisco, California time on December
3, 2004,
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SHAREOPTIONS@spl To:
wg.com Subject: Shareholders and Option Holders of SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Sent by: Terez Toneff

11/16/2004 07:36 PM

To the Shareholders and Option Holders of SPL WorldGroup B.V.

OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P. has launched a tender offer to purchase the shares and stock
options of SPL WorldGroup B.V., which offer is supported by SPL's Board of Directors. The tender offer
materials have been mailed to the registered address of each stockholder and option holder of SPL.
Included here is a courtesy copy of the tender offer materials [use link to database]. The Letter of
Transmittal and the Instructions for Tendering Securities are files that may be downloaded for your
convenience. The Offer to Purchase is not downloadable but may be reviewed on-line. Please review the
tender offer materials carefully. If you wish to participate in the tender offer, please follow the instructions
stated on the Instructions for Tendering Securities and return your required paperwork promptly. The
tender offer materials contain confidential information and should not be circulated to third parties, other
than to your professional advisers who may advise you concerning your participation in the tender offer.

e Link to database:
http://iwww.splwg.com/private/shareholders.asp

e The database is password sensitive please use the following password to access your documents:
SPLSHARE

® Please address any questions to SHAREOPTIONS@splwg.com
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SHAREOPTIONS@spl To:
wg.com Subject: Shareholders and Option Holders

Sent by: Terez Toneff

12/03/2004 06:02 PM

To the Shareholders and Option Holders
of SPL WorldGroup B.V.:

This is to notify you that OCM/GF| Power Opportunities Fund, L.P. has extended the expiration date of the
tender offer for the shares and stock options of SPL WorldGroup B.V. until Wednesday, December 8,
2004 at 12:00 P.M. (noon) San Francisco time. Other than the extended expiration date, the terms and
conditions of the extended tender offer remain identical to those stated in the Offer Statement dated
November 2, 2004, which was sent to you.

The paying agent for the tender offer is The Bank of New York. Copies of the Offer Statement, the related
transmittal letter and other tender offer materials may be obtained by contacting The Bank of New York at
+1-315-414-3107 or +1-800-254-2826.

If you intend to tender shares or options, we urge you to submit your fully complete and signed paperwork
to The Bank of New York as soon as possible, and in no event later than the expiration time of the tender
offer.
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Offer To Purchase For Cash
Shares of
Series A Common Stock, Series B Common Stock, Series C Common Stock,
Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and
Options to purchase Shares of Series B Common Stock

of
SPL Worldgroup B.V.
by
SPL Acquisition S.a R.L.,
an affiliate of
OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P.

THE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT 5:00 P.M, SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA TIME, ON
DECEMBER 3 2004, UNLESS THE OFFER IS EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED
(SUCH TIME, AS THE OFFER MAY BE EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED, IS
REFERRED TO AS THE “EXPIRATION TIME”).

SPL Acquisition S.2 R.L., a Luxembourg private limited company (the ‘“Purchaser”), hereby
offers to purchase for cash shares of Series A common stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of SPL
Worldgroup B.V., a Dutch private company with limited liability (the “Company”) (“Series A Common
Stock”), shares of Series B common stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the Company (‘Series B
Common Stock™), shares of Series C common stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the Company
(“Series C Common Stock” and, collectively with Series A Common Stock and Series B Common Stock,
the “Common Stock™), shares of Series A preferred stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the Company
(“Series A Preferred Stock™), shares of Series B preferred stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the
Company (“Series B Preferred Stock” and, together with Series A Preferred Stock, the “Preferred Stock”,
and the Preferred Stock together with the Common Stock, the “Shares”) and options to purchase shares of
Series B Common Stock (“Options”, and together with the Shares, the “Securities”), upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in this Offer to Purchase and the related Letter of Transmittal (which, as
amended from time to time, together constitute the “Offer”), other than certain Securities held by the
members of the Company’s management team who are listed in Schedule I to this Offer to Purchase (the

“Management Holders™).

The Offer is conditioned upon, among other thin gs, the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions
to the obligations of Purchaser to consurnmate the transactions contemplated by the Share Tender and
Exchange Agreement dated October 15, 2004 (the “Share Tender Agreement”), attached hereto as
Exhibit A including, but not limited to, receipt of not less than specified minimum numbers of tenders for

certain classes of Shares.

The Board of Managing Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that the Share
Tender Agreement and the related agreements and transactions contemplated thereby, including the Offer,
are fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the holders of the Securities. The price offered for
the Shares and for the Options is based on an arms-length negotiation between Purchaser and the
Company. The Board recommends that holders of the Scurities accept the Offer and tender their

Securities.
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IMPORTANT

Holders of Securities desiring to tender such Securities should complete and sign the Letter of
Transmitta) in accordance with the instructions in the Letter of Transmittal, and mail or deliver it and any
other required documents to the Paying Agent. Holders having Securities registered in the name of a
broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must mntact such broker, dealer,
commercial bank, trust company or other nominee if they desire to tender such Securities.

Questions and requests for assistance, or for additional copies of this Offer to Purchase, the Letter
of Transmittal or other tender offer materials, may be directed to the Paying Agent at the addresses,
facsimile numbers and telephone number set forth on the back cover of this Offer to Purchase. A holder
of Securities may also contact such holder’s broker, dealer, commercial bank or trust company for
assistance concerning the Offer.

THIS TRANSACTION HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S.
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER LIKE REGULATORY
AUTHORITY IN ANY COUNTRY OR JURISDICTION NOR HAS THE U.S. SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER LIKE REGULATORY AUTHORITY PASSED
UPON THE FAIRNESS OR MERITS OF THIS TRANSACTION NOR UPON THE ACCURACY
OR ADEQUACY OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS UNLAWFUL.

IN THE UNITED KINGDOM, THIS DOCUMENT IS BEING DISTRIBUTED ONLY TO AND IS
DIRECTED AT PERSONS WHO HOLD SHARES AND/OR OPTIONS OVER SHARES IN THE
COMPANY AND IN RELATION TO THE SALE OF A BODY CORPORATE WITHIN
ARTICLE 62 OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT OF 2000 (FINANCIAL
PROMOTION) ORDER 2001 (AS AMENDED) (THE “RELEVANT PERSONS”). THIS
DOCUMENT MUST NOT BE ACTED ON OR RELIED ON BY PERSONS WHO ARE NOT
RELEVANT PERSONS. ANY INVESTMENT OR INVESTMENT ACTIVITY TO WHICH THIS
DOCUMENT RELATES IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO RELEVANT FERSONS AND WILL BE
ENGAGED IN ONLY WITH RELEVANT PERSONS. ANY PERSON WHO IS NOT A
RELEVANT PERSON SHOULD NOT ACT OR RELY ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY OF ITS
CONTENTS. THIS DOCUMENT MUST NOT BE DISTRIBUTED, PUBLISHED,
REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED (IN WHOLE OR IN PART) BY RECIPIENTS TO ANY
OTHER PERSON.

IN AUSTRALIA, THIS DOCUMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER REGULATED BY
CHAPTER 6 (TAKEOVERS) OR 6D (FUNDRAISING) OF THE AUSTRALIAN
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 (CTH). ACCORDINGLY, IT DOES NOT COMPRISE A
PROSPECTUS, A REGULATED DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT OR A TAKEOVER STATEMENT
FOR THE PURPOSES OF THOSE CHAPTERS AND THE PROTECTIONS AVAILABLE
UNDER THOSE CHAPTERS ARE NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS DOCUMENT. THIS
DOCUMENT IS NOT INTENDED TO PROVIDE THE SOLE BASIS OF ANY FINANCIAL
BUSINESS EVALUATION OF ITS CONTENTS. RECIPIENTS OF THIS DOCUMENT
SHOULD NOT CONSTRUE IT AS TAXATION, LEGAL OR INVESTMENT ADVICE AND
SHOULD CONDUCT THEIR OWN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATIONS AND ANALYSIS
REGARDING ITS CONTENTS. NEITHER THE AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND
INVESTMENTS COMMISSION NOR THE AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE HAS
AUTHORISED ITS ISSUE AND NEITHER TAKES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ITS CONTENT.
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The Paying Agent for the Offer is:
The Bank of New York
By Regular Mail: By Registered or Certified Mail or By Facsimile Transmission:
Overnight Delivery:
The Bank of New York The Bank of New York 1-315-414-3130 or
P.O. Box 396 111 East Sanders Creek Parkway -
- -3100
East Syracuse, NY 13057 Corporate Trust Redemptions 1-315-414-3
Attn: CT TR Redemptions East Syracuse, NY 13057

For information call:
1-800-254-2826

The date of this Offer to Purchase is November 2, 2004
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Letter To the Holders of Securities of SPL Worldgroup B.V.:

We are offering to purchase for cash all outstanding shares of Series A Common Stock, Series B
Common Stock, Series C Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock, Setries B Preferred Stock and
Options of the Company, other than certain Securities of Management Holders. If you are not listed on
Schedule I to this Offer to Purchase and have not been contacted separately regarding your status as a
Management Holder, you are not a Management Holder. Unless the context indicates otherwise, as used
herein, references to “you” or “holder” means holders of Securities and “we” or «“us” means the
Purchaser. We urge you to carefully read the Offer to Purchase and any documents referred to elsewhere
in the Offer to Purchase and Letter of Transmittal because the information in this letter is not complete
and may not contain all the information that is important to you.

The Offer is being made pursuant to the terms of the Share Tender Agreement, and is
conditioned upon a number of factors set forth in this Offer to Purchase under “The Tender Offer—
Conditions of the Offer”. The Board of Managing Directors of the Company has determined that the
Offer and the related agreements and transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are fair to, and in the
best interests of, the Company and holders of the Securities and recommends that holders of the
Securities accept the Offer and tender their Securities.

We are offering a cash payment of US$6.88 per share (the ‘“Price Per Share”) for Shares,
regardless of class or series; for Options, we are offen'ng the Price Per Share multiplied by the number of
shares issuable upon exercise in full of the Option, minus the aggregate cash exercise price payable upon
exercise m full of the Option (the “Spread Value™). Certain withholding and escrow amounts will be
deducted from the payments for both Shares and Options, as described in this Offer to Purchase.
Pursuant to the terms of the Share Tender Agreement, we are also obligated to pay an earn-out payment
(the “Earn-Out Payment”) of up to USS$0.75 per share if the Company is able to achieve specified
revenue milestones. See “Questions and Answers—How much are you offering to pay and what is the
form of payment?” and “Special Factors—Earm-Out Payment”. All references to “$” or “US$” in the
Offer to Purchase mean United States dollars.

The Offer will expire at 5:00 P.M., San Francisco, California time, on December 3, 2004, unless
extended or earlier terminated.

You are hereby notified that in the event that all of the Securities we are seeking are not tendered,
the Company will, to the extent permitted pursuant to Section 5.5 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement
(as defined hereafter), exercise its drag-along rights with respect to the Securities that are subject to the
terms of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement. The parties to such agreement who do not tender their
Securities will be obligated to. sell their Securities once the Offer has been accepted by the requisite
percentage of holders of the Securities. The Company, which has authority under the 2000 Shareholders

- - —--——Agreement;-will- accept- the- Offer-on-behalf- of- holders- who-are—parties-to-that -agreement -and- will- - -

complete all necessary documentation in connection with the Offer, ncluding the Letter of Transmittal.
See “Special Factors—Drag-Along Notice”.

Sincerely,

SPL Acquisition S.4 R.L.
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SUMMARY TERM SHEET

The following is a brief summary of the material terms of the Offer and some of the
questions you, as a holder, may have, together with the answers to those questions. We urge you
to carefully read the remainder of this Offer to Purchase and any documents referred to
elsewhere in this Offer to Purchase and the Letter of Transmittal because the information in this
summary & not complete and may not contain all the information that is important to you

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE OFFER

1. Who is offering to buy my Securities?

Our name is SPL Acquisition S.a RL. We are a Luxembourg private limited company
and an affiliate of OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P., a limited partnership organized
under the laws of Delaware (the “Fund”). We were formed for the purpose of making a tender
offer for the Securities of the Company; however, we and the Fund may employ an affiliated
acquisition entity to purchase the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer.

2. What Securities are being sought in the Offer?

We are seeking to purchase all of the Company’s outstanding shares of Series A
Common Stock, Series B Common Stock, Series C Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock,
Series B Preferred Stock and Options to purchase shares of Series B Common Stock, other than

certain Securities held by Management Holders.

We will not accept tenders of fewer than all Securities owned by a holder, other than a
Management Holder. If we receive a signed Letter of Transmittal from a holder, other than a
Management Holder, such holder will be deemed to have tendered all Securities owned by such
holder, even if the signed Letter of Transmittal purports to tender fewer than all Securities
owned by such holder. See “Special Factors—Restriction on Partial Tenders”.

3. How will my Options be treated in connection with the Offer?

We are offering to purchase both vested and unvested Options. Generally, unvested
Options owned by holders will not be accelerated in connection with the Offer. However, if
unvested Options are tendered, the holders tendering such Options will receive payment for the
Options as if such Options were fully vested.

If you are a Management Holder, your Options will be accelerated in full concurrently
with, and contingent upon, the consummation of the Offer. Additionally, if you are a holder of
Options and the terms of such Options provide that the Offer will serve as a triggering event for
the acceleration of your Options, then your Options will be accelerated in full concurrently with,

and contingent upon, the consummation of the Offer.

We will not accept any Options that expire before the consummation of the tender offer.
If you hold Options that will expire prior to the consummation of the tender offer, you may, to
the extent permitted by the terms of such Options and applicable law, exercise such Options in
order to obtain Shares to be tendered in accordance with the terms of the Offer.
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4. If I decide not to tender, how will the Offer affect my Securities?

If all of the conditions to the Offer are either satisfied, fulfilled or, where permitted,
waived, we will have acquired more than 75% of all outstanding Shares. We will then amend
certain corporate documents, including the 2000 Shareholders Agreement (as defined hereafter),
as set forth in the Letter of Transmittal and under “Special Factors—Amendments to Company
Documents”. To the extent that we have not acquired all Securities, other than certain Securities
held by Management Holders, we will acquire all remaining Securities that are subject to the
terms of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement by causing the Company to exercise its drag-along
rights with respect to those Securities. In such case, the parties to the 2000 Shareholders
Agreement who have not tendered pursuant to the Offer will be obligated to sell their Securities,
and the Company will have the authority to accept the Offer on their behalf and to complete all
necessary documentation in connection with the Offer, including the Letter of Transmittal. See
“Special Factors—Drag-Along Notice”. Following the consummation of the Offer and the
completion of the drag-along procedures and related transactions, we intend to terminate the

2000 Shareholders Agreement.

Upon the consummation of the Offer and related transactions, we, as a controlling
shareholder of the Company, will have the ability to exercise control over matters requiring
approval of the Company’s stockholders. We will also control the Company’s operations and
policies.

We intend to complete a business combination between the Company and Synergen, Inc.
(“Synergen”), a California corporation that develops enterprise operational software and mobile
workforce management solutions, and will undertake additional corporate restructuring actions
in connection therewith. In connection with the restructuring, we anticipate that an election
pursuant to United States Treasury Regulation section 301.7701-3 to treat the Company as a
pass-through entity for United States income tax purposes may be made in respect of the
Company (the ‘Pass-Through Election”). IN THE EVENT OF THE ANTICIPATED PASS-
THROUGH ELECTION, THE CORPORATE RESTRUCTURING WOULD RESULT IN A
TAXABLE EVENT FOR ALL HOLDERS WHO ARE UNITED STATES PERSONS WHO
CONTINUE TO OWN SHARES OF THE COMPANY FOLLOWING THE
CONSUMMATION OF THE OFFER AND THE PURCHASE OF REMAINING
SECURITIES THAT ARE SUBJECT TO THE DRAG-ALONG PROVISIONS OF THE 2000
SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT. GENERALLY, A U.S. HOLDER WHO CONTINUES TO
OWN SHARES WILL RECOGNIZE GAIN OR LOSS FOR UNITED STATES FEDERAL
INCOME TAX PURPOSES EQUAL TO THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FAIR
MARKET VALUE OF SUCH HOLDER’S SHARES AND SUCH HOLDER’S ADJUSTED
TAX BASIS IN THE SHARES. ALL HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN
TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OFFER

AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS TO THEM.

Following the business combination and additional corporate restructuring actions,
holders, other than Management Holders, who continue to own Securities will hold such
Securities at a lower level in the corporate structure than the Fund and the Management Holders.
There can be no assurances that holding the Securities in the new corporate structure will not
adversely affect such holders. For example, the Fund and Management Holders might in the
future decide to sell their interests in the Company by selling their Securities at a higher level in
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the capital structure. Because a continuing holder of Securities would not have an ownership
interest at the same level as the Fund and the Management Holders, that holder would not be
entitled to participate in that liquidity event. Further, while appropriate diligence would be
exercised to minimize any conflicts between the interests of the Fund and Management Holders
and those of remaining holders of Securities, there can be no assurance that the holdings of the
Fund and Management Holders at a higher level in the corporate structure would not adversely
impact continuing holders in other ways.

In addition, the Company intends to significantly reduce the par value of the Shares in
connection with the corporate restructuring. There is no guarantee that the reduction in the par
value of the Shares will not adversely impact continuing holders of the Securities.

5. How much are you offering to pay and what is the form of payment?

We are offering a cash payment of US$6.88 per share for Shares, regardless of class or
series. For each Option, we are offering to pay the Price Per Share multiplied by the number of
shares issuabk upon exercise in full of the Option, minus the aggregate cash exercise price
payable upon exercise in full of the Option We will withhold 15% of the gross amount payable
to holders of Securities upon the consummation of the Offer and related transactions (the
*Closing”), to satisfy offset and indemnification obligations, if any, of the holders of Securities.
See “Special Factors—Indemnification and Offset”. Any portion of such withholding remaining
after claims by us against the holders will be paid to you no later than June 30, 2006 (subject to
the retention of amounts needed to satisfy unresolved claims by us against the holders and
subject to a three-month period for the Representative to contest any claims by us against the
holders). We will also deposit 0.5% of the gross amount payable to holders at Closing with an
escrow agent. The funds held in escrow will be used by the Representative (as defined
hereafter) of holders of Securities to satisfy certain obligations in the performance of his duties
on behalf of the holders of Securities under the Share Tender Agreement, in his sole discretion.
Any remaining amounts in the escrow account after use by the Representative will be returned to
the holders no later than June 30, 2006 (subject to a three-month period for the Representative to
contest any claims by us against the holders). In each case, the amounts will be withheld on a
pro rata basis, in accordance with each holder’s proportion of the aggregate payment. See
“Special Factors—Withholding and Escrow” and “Special Factors—Indemnification and
Offset™.

In addition, we are obligated to pay an EarrOut Payment of up to US$0.75 per share if
the Company achieves specified revenue milestones during the two-year period ending
December 31, 2005. If the milestones are met, each holder will be entitled to an amount equal to
the Earn Out Per Share (as defined hereafter) for each Share sold in connection with the Offer,
and an amount equal to the Earn Qut Per Share multiplied by the number of Shares issuable
upon exercise in full of an Option for each Option sold in connection with the Offer. If the
revenue milestones are not met, holders will not be entitled to an Earn-Out Payment. In order to
achieve the revenue milestones required for the Earn-Out Payment, the Company would need to
perform significantly above current projections. Because there is no guarantee that the
Company will be capable of significantly outperforming current projections, tendering holders
are strongly cautioned not to rely on receiving an Earmm-Out Payment in connection with the
Offer and related transactions. See “Special Factors—Earn-Out Payment”.
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6. Is your financial condition relevant to my decision to tender in the Offer?

Our financial condition is not relevant to your decision to tender Securities and accept
the Offer because (i) the form of payment for the Securities consists solely of cash, (ii) the Offer
is not subject to any financing condition and (iii) the Fund is obligated under the terms of the
Share Tender Agreement to insure that we have the funds to satisfy our payment obligations in
respect of the Securities, including the Withholding Amount and any Earn-Out Payment.

7. How long do I have to decide whether to tender in the Offer?

You will have at least until 5:00 p.m, San Francisco, California time, on December 3,
2004, to decide whether to tender your Securities in the Offer. See “The Tender Offer—
Procedure for Accepting the Offer and Tendering Securities”.

8. Can the Offer be extended and if so under what circumstances?

Subject to the terms ofthe Share Tender Agreement, we may extend the Offer (i) without
the consent of the Company or any other party, if at the Expiration Time any of the conditions to
the Offer have not been satis fied or waived, in which case we will be entitled to extend the Offer
for an amount of time reasonably necessary o cause the conditions to be satisfied, (ii) without
the consent of the Company or any other party, for any period required by any rule, regulation,
interpretation or position of applicable securities ws and (iii) if, at the Expiration Time, certain
conditions to the Offer set forth in Section 8.1 of the Share Tender Agreement have not been
satisfied or waived, in which case we will, if the Company so requests in writing, extend the
Offer for ten business days; provided, that we will not be required to extend the Offer for more
than 20 business days in the aggregate.

9, How will I be notified if the Offer is extended?

If we extend the Offer, we will issue a press release regarding the extension no later than
9:00 am., San Francisco, California time, on the day after the day on which the Offer was

scheduled to expire.

10.  What are the most significant conditions to the Offer?

The offer is subject to certain conditions including, but not limited to, the valid tender
pursuant to the Offer of (i) all of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock; (ii) more
than 67% of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock
considered together as a class; (iii) more than 75% of all outstanding Shares; and (iv) a sufficient
number of Shares and Options such that there would be no more than 30 individuals and entities
holding Shares and Options (excluding Purchaser and the Manag:ment Holders) immediately

following consummation of the Offer.

In addition, the Offer is conditioned upon our obtaining certain government or regulatory
approvals, and upon the expiration, termination or waiver of certain waiting periods, including
the waiting period under the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of
1976 (the “HSR Act”). See “The Tender Offer—Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals™.
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11. How do I tender my Securities?

If the Securities are in your name, you should complete the enclosed Letter of
Transmittal and submit all the documents required by it, including a copy of your passport if you
are an individual tendering Shares, and mail such documents, or a facsimile thereof, to the
Paying Agent at the addresses and ficsimile numbers listed on the back cover of this Offer to
Purchase. You may also tender your Securities by having a broker, dealer, commercial bank,
trust company or other nominee effect the transaction for you If your broker holds your
Securities for you in “street name,” you must instruct your broker to tender your Securities on
your behalf. In any case, the Paying Agent must receive all equired documents prior to the

Expiration Time.

12. May I withdraw my Securities after they have been tendered?

Tenders of Securities pursuant to the Offer are irrevocable. Once Securities have been
tendered they may not be withdrawn, subject to applicable law.

13.  What does the Company’s Board of Managing Directors think of the Offer?

The Board has determined that the Share Tender Agreement and the related agreements
and transactions are fair to and in the best interests of the Company and the holders of the
Securities. The Board recommends that holders of the Securities accept the Offer and tender

their Securities.

14. 'Whom can I talk to if I have questions about the Offer ?

For additional information or assistance regarding the Offer, or to receive copies of
certain documents discussed herein, you may contact the Paying Agent at 1-800-254-2826.



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

SPECIAL FACTORS

1. Purpose of the Offer

The purpose of the Offer is to enable the Purchaser to acquire a controlling equity
interest in the Company. The Purchaser will thereafter effect a business combination between

the Company and Synergen

2. Fairness of the Offer

The Board has determined that the Share Tender Agreement and the related agreements

and transactions contemplated thereby are fair to and in the best interests of the Company and
the holders of the Securities. The price offered for the Shares and for the Options is based on an

arms- length negotiation between Purchaser and the Company, and the Board has determined that
the price offered is fair.

3. Amendments to Company Documents

The Offer is conditioned upon the amendment or waiver of certain provisions of the
following documents of the Company:

e Amended and Restated Preferred and Common Stock Shareholders
Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2000, as amended, by and among the
Company and the holders of Company Stock and Company Options signatory
thereto (the “2000 Shareholders Agreement”);

e Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 1996, by and among the Company, Technology Crossover
Ventures, L.P., Technology Crossover Ventures, C.V., and Bayview
Investors, Ltd. (the “1996 Purchase Agreement”);

e Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of
February 11, 1997, by and among the Company, TCV II, V.O.F., Technology
Crossover Ventures II, L.P., TCV II (Q), L.P.,, TCV II Strategic Partners,
L.P., and Technology Crossover Ventures II, C.V. (the “1997 Purchase

Agreement”); and

o Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 3, 1998, by
and among the Company, Technology Crossover Ventures L.P., Technology
Crossover Ventures, C.V. and the other parties thereto (the “1998 Purchase
Agreement” and collectively with the 2000 Shareholders Agreement, 1996
Purchase Agreement and 1997 Purchase Agreement, the “Existing Company
Documents™).

The waivers of Sections 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement, are
designed to permit, among other things, the parties who are subject to the those provisions to
transfer their applicable securities without being subject to the pre-emption rights described



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

therein, to transfer their applicable securities to parties who are not party to the 2000
Shareholders Agreement and to transfer or, in the case of the Company, issue securities to
parties who are competitors or who have a direct or indirect interest in a competitor of the
Company. All such waivers are in connection with the Offer and the transactions contemplated

by the Share Tender Agreement.

The amendments to Section 5.5 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement will expand the
drag-along rights set forth in that provision to cover offers that are not “irrevocable”, will allow
the drag-along rights to be exercisable if an offer is accepted by 75% (rather than 90%) of the
holders of the applicable securities, will provide an exception to the requirement that an offer be
with respect to “all” of the applicable securities, and will make the drag-along rights apply to all
Options and Preferred Stock held by the parties to the 2000 Shareholders Agreement in addition
to their Common Stock.

The amendments to Sections 5.4, 5.6, 5.7 and 6 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement
will, among other things, (i) eliminate restrictions on transfers that result in a change of control
of the Company, transfers by owners of 10% or more of the capital stock of the Company and
transfers by certain executives of the Company and (ii) remove certain voting requirements in
respect of the priority of the Preferred Stock.

The amendments to the 1996 Purchase Agreement, the 1997 Purchase Agreement and
the 1998 Purchase Agreement will modify or eliminate certain covenants and provisions
including, but not limited to, provisions restricting dividends, redemptions and public offerings,
and provisions permitting rights of first refusal under the agreements.

By signing the Letter of Transmittal, which sets forth the text of the amendments and
waivers to the Existing Company Documents, the holder will be considered to have consented to
the amendments and waivers, and such amendments and waivers will be effective upon
Purchaser’s acceptance for payment of the Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer.

4. Appointment of a Representative

Each holder, by signing the Letter of Transmittal, appoints Lenard Sidney Israelstam,
who is currently a member of the Board, to act as the representative of such holder and as the
attorney-in- fact and agent for and on behalf of such holder (the ‘Representative”), and consents
to the taking by the Representative of any and all actions and the making of any decisions
required or permitted to be taken by him under the Share Tender Agreement and all applicable
agreements, including, without limitation, the exercise of the power to negotiate and enter into
settlements and comply with orders of courts with respect to claims relating to Company Related
Losses (as defined hereafter), to vote holders’ Shares in actions taken in connection with the
Offer and related transactions, to negotiate the form, terms and provisions of, and approve,
execute and deliver, amendments or waivers to the Existing Company Documents and to take all
actions necessary in the judgment of the Representative for the accomplishment of the actions
required under the Share Tender Agreement and, in particular, the indemnification and offset
provisions of such agreement.

The Representative will have complete and sole discretion in determining how to
proceed with respect to claims involving Company Related Losses, including determining
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whether to contest a claim, solicit advice from any other holders or solicit funding from any
other holders. While acting as the Representative and in performing the functions specified in
Section 7.9 of the Share Tender Agreement, the Representative will have no liability whatsoever
to the Company, Purchaser, the Fund or any current or former stockholder of the Company,
whether with respect to any action, inaction or omission or otherwise.

5. Withholding and Escrow

Withholding. Upon acceptance for payment of the Securities, the Purchaser will
withhold an amount (the “Withholding Amount”) equal to 15% of the gross amount payable to
the holders at Closing for the purpose of securing the offset and indemnification obligations set
forth in Section 7.9 of the Share Tender Agreement. The Withholding Amount will be withheld
pro rata in accordance with the proportion of the aggregate payment to which each tendering
holder is otherwise entitled. Purchaser may satisfy offset and indemnification claims, if any, out
of the Withholding Amount and the Earn-Out Payment, if any, and any remaining portion of the
Withholding Amount will be paid by Purchaser to the holders no later than June 30, 2006
(subject to the retention of amounts needed to satisfy any unresolved offset and indemnification
claims by us against the holders and subject to a three-month period for the Representative to
contest any claims by us against the holders) pro rata in accordance with the relative proportion
of the aggregate payment to which each holder is otherwise entitled to receive, other than with
respect to any offset rights of the Company with respect to a specific holder.

In the event that as of June 30, 2006, the holder is entitled to a payment of the
Withholding Amount, the Representative will have the right, in his sole discretion with no
liability whatsoever to the Company, Purchaser or the Fund or any current or former stockholder
of the Company, to make use of the amount of such payment, or any portion thereof, to settle,
defend or otherwise handle (in his sole discretion) Company Contested Claims (as defined in the
Share Tender Agreement), whether such amount is used for travel expenses, attorney’s fees,
advisor fees or otherwise in connection with settling or defending such Company Contested

Claims.

Escrow. At Closing, Purchaser will deliver to an escrow agent designated by the
Company an amount (the “Escrow Amount”) equal to 0.5% of the gross amount payable at the
Closing to the holders entitled to receive payments pursuant to the Offer, for the purpose of
providing the Representative funds to perform his obligations set forth in Section 7.9 of the
Share Tender Agreement. Following Purchaser’s delivery of the Escrow Amount to the escrow
agent, Purchaser will have no further obligation or liability with respect to the Escrow Amount,
including without limitation with respect to the use of such funds by the Representative or any
obligation to distribute such funds to holders. The Escrow Amount will be withheld pro rata in
accordance with the relative proportion of the aggregate payment to which each holder is
entitled. Any portion of the Escrow Amount not used by the Representative pursuant to the
terms of the Share Tender Agreement will be distributed to the holders pro rata in accordance
with the relative proportion of the aggregate payment to which each holder is otherwise entitled.
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6. Indemnification and Offset

Each tendering holder, by signing the Letter of Transmittal, acknowledges and accepts
the offset and indemnification provisions of Section 7.9 of the Share Tender Agreement, which
are incorporated in the Letter of Transmittal by reference.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Tender Agreement, each holder severally and not
jointly, indemnifies and holds harmless the Covered Parties (as defined in the Share Tender
Agreement) from and against any and all losses, claims, liabilities, expenses (including, without
limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) or other damages caused by or arising
out of any breach of any representation or warranty of such holder contained in ARTICLE IV of
the Share Tender Agreement (the “Stockholder Related Losses™). The representations and
warranties in ARTICLE IV of the Share Tender Agreement cover matters such as the holder’s
power and authority to tender the Securities, the holder’s title to the tendered Shares (free and
clear of all liens and other encumbrances), the holder’s ownership rights in the Options and the
fact that there is no current or threatened litigation involving or affecting the holder that might
prevent or challenge the Offer and related transactions. You are urged to read ARTICLE IV of
the Share Tender Agreement carefully.

Each holder acknowledges the right of the Cowered Parties to offset against the
Withholding Amount and the EarmnOut Payment an amount equal to any losses, claims,
liabilities and expenses to which the Covered Parties are entitled in respect of Stockholder
Related Losses. The Covered Parties will be entitled to first offset against the applicable
holder’s portion of the Withholding Amount, then against such holder’s portion of the Earn-Out
Payment, if any, and finally, directly against the holder for any amounts due, so long as the
aggregate recovery for the claims against such holder does not exceed the aggregate amount
payable to the holder in connection with the Offer.

Each holder also acknowledges the right of the Covered Parties to offset against the
Withholding Amount and the Earn-Out Payment an amount equal to any losses, claims,
liabilities and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of
counsel) or other damages caused by or relating to the Company-related losses set forth in
Section 7.9(a) of the Share Tender Agreement (“Company Related Losses”). Company Related
Losses include losses related to: any breach of the Company’s representations and warranties or
breach of agreements made by the Company in the Share Tender Agreement; certain unpaid
taxes incurred; labilities to holders of the Securities or holders of securities of the Company’s
subsidiaries; obligations arising under the Company’s organizational documents and the Existing
Company Documents; proceedings arising out of events occurring prior to the consummation of
the Offer and related transactions; and obligations or liabilities related to the Company’s current
project with an electricity company in northern Ireland. With respect to Company Related
Losses and Valuation Losses (as defined in the Share Tender Agreement), the Covered Parties
will be entitled to offset first against the Withholding Amount and then against the Earn-Out
Payment, on a pro rata basis in accordance with the aggregate amounts due to the holders of the
Securities. The aggregate offset and recovery for Company Related Losses will not exceed the
sum of the Withholding Amount and Earn-Out Payment. Further, other than in respect of
certain specified breaches of representations and warranties, the Covered Parties will not be able
to offset for Company Related Losses until the aggregate amount of all such losses exceeds

10
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$500,000, at which point the Covered Parties will be entitled to the entire amount of the offset,
including the first $500,000.

Written notice of any claims for offset in respect of Company Related Losses and
Valuation Losses will be delivered by Purchaser to the Representative, and any claims for
indemnification with respect to Stockholder Related Losses will be delivered by Purchaser to the
applicable holder, each in accordance with the terms of the Share Tender Agreement. Claims
that are not contested in writing prior to September 30, 2006, by the Representative, in the case
of Company Related Losses and Valuation Losses, or by the applicable holder, in the case of a
Shareholder Related Loss, will be considered uncontested and will be subject to offset from the
Withholding Amount and Earn-Out Payment. Claims that are contested by the Representative or
by a holder, as applicable, will be resolved by a settlement agreement or judicial proceeding.

7. Restriction on Partial Tenders

Non-Management Holders. A holder, other than a Management Holder, tendering
Securities pursuant to the Offer must tender all Securities owned by such holder. Partial tenders
or tenders of fewer than all Securities owned by such holder will be considered tenders of all
Securities owned by such holder. By signing the Letter of Transmittal, the holder will be
deemed to have tendered all Securities owned by the holder.

Management Holders. Purchaser will not accept Securities from a Management Holder
representing more than 50% of the value assigned to such Management Holder’s Securities.
Because there are limitations on the amount of Securities that may be tendered by Management
Holders, Management Holders will be permitted to submit partial tenders in the Offer. In order
to submit a partial tender of Securities, the Management Holder must indicate the number of
Shares and/or Options tendered under the columns labeled ‘Number of Shares Tendered” and
‘Number of Options Tendered” in the box entitled “Description of Tendered Securities” in the

Letter of Transmittal.

Under the terms of the Share Tender Agreement and the Letter of Transmittal, following
the consummation of the Offer, Management Holders will enter into a security holders
agreement among the Company, Purchaser, the Fund, and other stockholders party thereto (the
“Security Holders Agreement”) with respect to the Securities.

8. Earn-Out Payment

In addition to the payment of the Price Per Share for Shares and the Spread Value for
Options, each holder of Securities sold in connection with the Offer may receive the following
EamOut Payment if the Company achieves specified revenue milestones:

e for each Share, an amount equal to the Earn Out Per Share; and

e for each Option, an amount equal to the Earn Out Per Share multiplied by the
number of Shares issuable upon exercise in full of such Option.

“Earn Out Per Share” will be determined as follows:

11
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e If the revenue earned for the two-year period ending December 31, 2005, for
the Company’s business as it existed on August 31, 2004 (“Earn-Out
Revenue™), is less than US$190,000,000, the Earn Out Per Share will be
equal to $0 (i.e., no Eamm-Out Payment).

e If the Fam-Out Revenue is equal to or greater than US$190,000,000, the Earn
Out Per Share will be equal to the sum of (A) US$0.25 plus (B) US$0.025 for
each whole US$1,000,000 by which the Earn-Out Revenue exceeds
US$190,000,000; provided, that the Earn Out Per Share shall in no event
exceed US$0.75.

In order to achieve the revenue milestones required for the Earn-Out Payment, the
Company would need to perform significantly above current projections. Because there is no
guarantee that the Company will be capable of significantly outperforming current projections,
tendering holders are strongly cautioned not to rely on receiving an Earmm-Out Payment in
connection with the Offer and related transactions.

The Earn-Out Revenue will be calculated by the Company’s outside audit firm, which
will be final and binding on the parties to the transactions and on the holders. If an Earn-Out
Payment is earned, the Purchaser will deduct any amounts needed to satisfy offset and
indemnification claims, if any, including pending or contested claims, and will make a cash
payment of the remaining amount of such Earn-Out Payment to the holders within ten business
days following June 30, 2006.

9. Interests of Management in the Offer

Bonuses. In connection with the Closing, the Company will reserve $2,103,587 for the
payment of bonuses to certain members of the management team of the Company (‘Bonus
Recipients”). On the Closing Date, the Company will pay each Bonus Recipient a bonus equal
to 50% of the bonus amount to which each such Bonus Recipient is entitled. On the first
anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company will pay each Bonus Recipient the remaining
portion of such Bonus Recipient’s respective bonus amount; provided, that such Bonus
Recipient remains employed by the Company on such date or, if no longer employed by the
Company on such date, such employment was terminated by the Company for any reason other
than Cause (as defined in the Security Holders Agreement), including by the Bonus Recipient
for Good Reason (as defined in the Security Holders Agreement).

Vesting of Certain Company Options. The Company will cause the vesting of all
Options beld by the Management Holders to be accelerated in full concurrently with, and
contingent upon, the consummation of the Offer. The Options of holders who are not
Management Holders will not be accelerated in connection with the Offer and related
transactions, unless the terms of such holder’s Options provide that the Offer will serve as a
triggering event for the acceleration of such holder’s Options. However, if unvested Options are
tendered by holders who are not Management Holders, the holders tendering such Options will
receive payment for the Options as if such Options were fully vested.

12
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10.  Dividends and Return of Capital

Concurrently with or prior to Purchaser’s acceptance for payment of the Securities, the
Company will pay to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock:

e the return of capital required by the Company’s organizational dcuments
and the Existing Company Documents, in an aggregate amount of
approximately $4,125,963; and

e all accrued and unpaid dividends payable pursuant to the Company’s
organizational documents and the Existing Company Documents, in an
aggregate amount of approximately $3,621,790 (assuming the Closing takes
place on December 31, 2004).

The accrued and unpaid dividend amount changes daily and will be adjusted pursuant to
the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock if the Closing occurs either before or after December
31, 2004. The foregoing payments are in addition to the purchase price for the Series A
Preferred Stock pursuant to the Offer.

11.  Drag-Along Notice

In connection with the Offer, the Company is seeking consents to amend and waive
specified provisions of the Existing Company Documents, including the 2000 Shareholders
Agreement. The amendments to the 2000 Shareholders Agreement will, among other things,
modify the drag-along rights set forth in Section 5.5 of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement to
apply to this Offer. The amendments include terms that will make the drag-along rights
exercisable if the Offer is accepted by 75% (rather than 90%) of the holders of the Securities and
will make the drag-along rights applicable to all Options and Preferred Stock (in addition to
Common Stock) held by the parties to the 2000 Shareholders Agreement. See “Special
Factors—Amendments to Company Documents”. :

Purchaser will, to the extent that requirements have been met to take such action, acquire
all Securities that are subject to the terms of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement by causing the
Company to exercise its drag-along rights with respect to those Securities. Pursuant to the terms
of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement, the parties to such agreement who have not tendered
pursuant to the Offer will be obligated to tender their Securities into the Offer once the Offer has
been accepted by the requisite percentage of holders of the Securities. The Company, which has
been appointed attorney-in- fact under the 2000 Shareholders Agreement, would then accept the
Offer on behalf of holders who are parties to such agreement and complete all necessary
documentation in connection with the Offer, including the Letter of Transmittal.

12.  Plans for the Company

In connection with the consummation of the Offer, Purchaser intends to complete a
business combination between the Company and Synergen, which is controlled by Purchaser’s
affiliate, OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P. Synergen, a provider of enterprise asset
management and computerized maintenance management solutions to asset-intensive industries
and utilities, has recently expanded its systems integration business through an acquisition of

13
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certain assets of Axiom Corporation. See “The Tender Offer—Certain Information Concerning
Purchaser”.

Following the business combination between the Company and Synergen and the
additional corporate restructuring actions that Purchaser intends to take, holders, other than
Management Holders, who continue to own Securities will hold such Securities at a lower level
in the corporate structure than the Fund and the Management Holders. There can be no
assurances that holding the Securities in the new corporate structure will not adversely affect the
remaining holders. For example, in the future, the Fund and Management Holders might decide
to sell their interests in the Company by selling their Securities at a higher level in the capital
structure. Because a continuing holder of Securities would not have an ownership interest at the
same level as the Fund and Management Holders, that holder would not be entitled to participate
in that liquidity event. Further, while appropriate diligence would be exercised to minimize any
conflicts between the interests of the Fund and Management Holders and those of remaining
holders of Securities, there can be no assurance that the holdings of the Fund and Management
Holders at a higher level in the corporate structure would not adversely impact continuing
holders of Securities in other ways.

The Company also intends to significantly reduce the par value of the Shares in
connection with the corporate restructuring. There is no guarantee that the reduction in the par
value of the Shares will not adversely impact continuing holders of the Securities.

In addition, the Purchaser anticipates a Pass-Through Election (See ‘“Questions and
Answers About the Tender Offer—If I decide not to tender, how will the Offer affect my
Securities?”’) may be made in connection with the corporate restructuring, which would result in
a taxable event for all U.S. Holders who continue to own shares of the Company following the
consummation of the Offer and the purchase of remaining Securities that are subject to the drag-
along provisions of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement. A U.S. Holder who continues to own
shares of the Company would recognize gain or loss for United States federal income tax
purposes equal to the difference between the fair market value of such U.S. Holder’s shares and
the adjusted tax basis in those shares. ALL HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR
OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE

OFFER AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS TO THEM.

Notwithstanding the corporate restructuring, it is expected that immediately following
completion of the transactions, and throughout the earn-out period, the Company will continue
to conduct its existing businesses in a manner substantially consistent with the operation of the
Company’s businesses as they currently exist, subject to the guidance and management by the
Board to promote the Company’s best interests, and provided that the Purchaser may add
resources, including possibly sales resources, to the business.

14
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THE TENDER OFFER

1. Terms of The Offer; Expiration.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer (including, if the Offer is
extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any such extension or amendment), Purchaser
will accept for payment and pay for all Securities validly tendered at or prior to the Expiration
Time. The term “Expiration Time” shall mean 5:00 p.m., San Francisco, California time, on
December 3, 2004, unless and until Purchaser, subject to the terms and conditions of the Share
Tender Agreement, shall from time to time have extended the period of time during which the
Offer is open, in which event the term “Expiration Time” shall mean the latest time at which the
Offer, as so extended by Purchaser, shall expire.

Pursuant to Section 1.1(c) of the Share Tender Agreement, Purchaser expressly reserves
the right at its sole discretion to increase the Price Per Share, to waive (in whole or in part) any
of the conditions of the Offer set forth in Section 8.1 of the Share Tender Agreement or to make
any other changes in the terms and conditions of the Offer; provided, that without the prior
written consent of the Company, no change may be made that (i) changes the form of
consideration to be paid, (ii) reduces the Price Per Share, (iii) reduces the number of Securities
sought in the Offer, (iv) imposes conditions to the Offer in addition to the conditions set forth in
Section 8.1 of the Share Tender Agreement or (v) amends any other terms of the Offer in a
manner adverse to the holders of Securities.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Tender Agreement, the Purchaser may
extend the Offer (i) without the consent of the Company or any other party, if at the Expiration
Time any of the conditions to the Offer have not been satisfied or waived, in which case the
Purchaser will be entitled to extend the Offer for an amount of time reasonably necessary to
cause the conditions to be satisfied, (ii) without the consent of the Company or any other party,
for any period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of applicable securities
laws and (iii) if, at the Expiration Time, certain conditions to the Offer set forth in Section 8.1 of
the Share Tender Agreement have not been satisfied or waived, in which case Purchaser will, if
the Company so requests in writing, extend the Offer for ten business days; provided, that
Purchaser will not be required to extend the Offer for more than 20 business days in the

aggregate.

Subject to applicable securities laws, and subject to the terms and conditions of the Share
Tender Agreement, Purchaser reserves the right, at any time and from time to time, upon the
failure to be satisfied of any of the conditions to the Offer, to (i) terminate or amend the Offer,
(i) extend the Offer and delay acceptance for payment of any Securities or (iii) waive any
condition, by giving oral or written notice of such termination, amendment, extension or waiver
to the Paying Agent. During any such extension all Securities previously tendered will remain
subject to any such extension and will remain subject to the Offer.

In the event that Purchaser withdraws the Offer for reasons other than the non-occurrence
of a condition or the normal expiration of the Offer, Purchaser will send a withdrawal document
to each holder, not within one month of the date of the Offer, notifying the holders of the
withdrawal
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The Company has furnished Purchaser with a list of all holders of the Securities and all
available listing and computer files containing the names and addresses of all holders of the
Securities for the purpose of disseminating the Offer to such holders. This Offer to Purchase
and the Letter of Transmittal and other relevant materials are being distributed to holders of the
Securities and furnished to brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies and similar
persons whose names, or the names of whose nominees, appear on the Company’s books.

2. Procedure for Accepting the Offer and Tendering Securities.

Valid Tender of Securities. For a holder to validly tender Securities pursuant to the Offer
a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Tramsmittal and any other required
documents, must be received by the Paying Agent at its addresses, or via facsimile at the
numbers, set forth on the back cover of this Offer to Purchase prior to the Expiration Time.

Method of Delivery. The method of delivery of the Letter of Transmittal and all other
required documents to the Paying Agent is at the election and risk of the holder. If such delivery
is by mail, it is suggested that the holder use properly insured registered mail, return receipt
requested, and that the mailing be made sufficiently in advance of the Expiration Time to permit
delivery to the Paying Agent before such time. Except as otherwise provided below, the
delivery will be deemed made when actually received or confirmed by the Paying Agent.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, payment for Securities accepted for
payment pursuant to the Offer will be made promptly, but only after timely receipt by the Paying
Agent of (i) a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (ii) any other
documents required by the Letter of Transmittal, (iii) confirmation of the satisfaction of the
conditions in the Share Tender Agreement, and (iv) confirmation of the completion of any
required notarial deed of transfer in The Netherlands. Additionally, tendering holders in
jurisdictions that require additional clearances will receive payment promptly after such
clearances have been received. Accordingly, tendering holders may be paid at different times
depending upon when documents and confirmations are actually received by the Paying Agent.
Under no circumstances will interest be paid by Purchaser on the purchase price, including the
Withholding Amount or any EarnrOut Payment, of the Securities to any tendering holders,
regardless of any extension of the Offer or any delay in making such payment.

Determination of Validity. All questions as to the form of all documents and the validity
(including time of receipt) and acceptance of tenders and withdrawals of Securities will be
determined by Purchaser, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding.
Alternative, conditional or contingent tenders will not be considered valid. Purchaser reserves
the absolute right to reject any or all tenders of Securities that are not in proper form or the
acceptance of which would, in Purchaser’s opinion, be unlawful. Purchaser also reserves the
right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular Shares or
Options. Purchaser’s interpretations of the terms and conditions of the Offer (including the
instructions in this Letter of Transmittal) will be final and binding. Any defect or irregularity in
connection with tenders of Securities must be cured within such time as Purchaser determines,
unless waived by Purchaser. Tenders of Securities shall not be deemed to have been made until
all defects or irregularities have been waived by Purchaser or cured. None of Purchaser, the
Paying Agent or any other person will be under any duty to give notice of any defects or
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irregularities in tenders of Securities, or will incur any liability to holders for failure to give any
such notice.

Other Requirements. By executing the Letter of Transmittal, a tendering holder
irrevocably appoints the Paying Agent the true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact of such
holder (with full knowledge that the Paying Agent also acts as the agent of Purchaser) with
respect to the holder’s Securities, with full powers of substitution (such power of attorney being
deemed to be an irrevocable power coupled with an interest), to (i) present all evidences of
transfer and authenticity to, or transfer ownership of such Securities on the books maintained by
the Company to, or upon the order of, Purchaser, (ii) present such Securities for transfer of
ownership on the books of Purchaser, and (iii) receive all benefits and otherwise exercise all
rights of beneficial ownership of such Securities, all in accordance with the terms of and
conditions to the Offer to Purchase.

For purposes of transferring the Shares from the holder to the Purchaser in The
Netherlands, the home jurisdiction of the Company, a motarial deed must be executed in the
presence of a civil law notary authorized to practice in The Netherlands. In order to validly
tender Shares pursuant to the Offer, each tendering holder will appoint certain designated parties
in The Netherlands, pursuant to the Letter of Transmittal, as attorney to represent such holder in
respect of the transfer of the Shares in The Netherlands, including to sign a notarial deed of
transfer of holder’s Shares of the Company to the Purchaser, to make any necessary or weful
amendments and/or additions to the notarial deed of transfer, to sign the necessary deeds and
documents and to take all actions deemed useful or necessary in connection therewith In
connection with the transfer of Shares in The Netherlands, the holder must also submit a copy of
a passport or, if unavailable, a state identification document or driver’s license containing a
signature, and, if applicable, a copy of a document evidencing the authority of the person signing
the Letter of Transmittal on behalf of the holder.

3. Acceptance for Payment and Payment for Securities.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer (including, if the Offer is
extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any extension or amendment), Purchaser will
accept for payment, and will pay for, any and all Securities validly tendered at or prior to the
Expiration Time. Any determination concerning the satisfaction of the terms and conditions of
the Offer shall be within the sole discretion of Purchaser and such determination shall be final
and binding on all tendering holders.

In all cases, payment for Securities tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to the
Offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Paying Agent of the Letter of Transmittal,
properly completed and duly executed, and any other documents required by the Letter of
Transmittal.

For purposes of the Offer, Purchaser will be deemed to have accepted for payment, and
thereby purchased, Securities validly tendered to Purchaser, if and when Purchaser gives oral or
written notice to the Paying Agent of Purchaser’s acceptance for payment of such Securities
pursuant to the Offer. In all cases, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer,
payment for Securities so accepted for payment will be made by the deposit of the funds for
payment with the Paying Agent, which will act as agent for tendering holders for the purpose of
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receiving payment from Purchaser and transmitting payment to validly tendering holders.
UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL INTEREST BE PAID BY PURCHASER ON THE
PURCHASE PRICE INCLUDING THE WITHHOLDING AMOUNT OR ANY EARN-OUT
PAYMENT, OF THE SECURITIES TENDERED PURSUANT TO THE OFFER,
REGARDLESS OF ANY EXTENSION OF THE OFFER OR ANY DELAY IN MAKING
SUCH PAYMENT. Upon the deposit of funds with the Paying Agent for the purpose of making
payments to tendering holders, Purchaser’s obligation to make such payments shall be satisfied
and tendering holders must thereafter look solely to the Paying Agent for payment of amounts
owed to them by reason of the acceptance for payment of Securities pursuant to the Offer.

If Purchaser is delayed in its acceptance for payment of, or payment for, tendered
Securities or is unable to accept for payment or pay for such Securities pursuant to the Offer for
any reason, then, the Paying Agent may, nevertheless, retain tendered Securities on behalf of

Purchaser, and such Securities may not be withdrawn.

If any tendered Securities are not purchased pursuant to the Offer because of an invalid
tender or for any reason, Purchaser will notify the holders of such Securities as promptly as
practicable following the expiration or termination of the Offer.

Purchaser reserves the right to transfer or assign, in whole or from time to time in part, to
one or more of Purchaser’s affiliates, the right to purchase all or any Securities tendered
pursuant to the Offer, but any such transfer or assignment will not relieve Purchaser of any of its
liabilities or obligations under the Offer or prejudice the rights of tendering holders to receive
payment for Securities validly tendered and accepted for purchase.

4. Certain United States Income Tax Consequences.

This summary of United States income tax consequences is for general information only
and is based on Purchaser's understanding of the laws as currently in effect. Special tax
consequences not described herein may be applicable to particular classes of taxpayers, such as
financial institutions, broker-dealers and holders who acquired their Securities through the
exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation.

THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO EACH HOLDER WILL DEPEND UPON THE
JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH HOLDER RESIDES AND ON SUCH HOLDER’S
PARTICULAR SITUATION. THE DISCUSSION BELOW SUMMARIZES UNITED
STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS AND DOES NOT ADDRESS THE
INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR HOLDERS WHO ARE NOT U.S. HOLDERS. ALL
HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE
PARTICULAR UNITED STATES AND NON-UNITED STATES TAX CONSEQUENCES

OF THE OFFER TO THEM.

Consequences to tendering U.S. Holders of Shares. Under United States federal income
tax law, the receipt of cash for Shares pursuant to the Offer will be a taxable transaction for a
holder that is a United States person (a “U.S. Holder”) and may also be a taxable transaction
under applicable state or local tax laws or tax laws of other jurisdictions. Generally, a U.S.
Holder who receives cash for Shares pursuant to the Offer will recognize gain or loss for United
States federal income tax purposes equal to the difference between the amount of cash received

18



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

in exchange for the Shares sold and such U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in such Shares.

Provided that the Shares constitute capital assets in the hands of the U.S. Holder, such gain or
loss will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder has
held the Shares for more than one year at the time of sale. Gain or loss will be calculated
separately for each block of Shares (i.e., a group of Shares with the same tax basis and holding
period) tendered pursuant to the Offer.

Backup withholding for tendering U.S. Holders of Shares. A U.S. Holder (other than
certain exempt holders including, among others, all corporations) that tenders Shares may be
subject to 28% backup withholding unless the U.S. Holder provides its TIN and certifies that
such number is correct or properly certifies that it is awaiting a TIN, or unless an exemption
applies. A U.S. Holder who does not furnish its TIN may be subject to a penalty imposed by the
United States Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”). If backup withholding applies to a U.S.
Holder, the Paying Agent is required to withhold 28% from payments to such U.S. Holder.
Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Rather, the amount of the backup withholding can
be credited against the federal income tax liability of the person subject to the backup
withholding, provided that the required information is given to the IRS. If backup withholding
results in an overpayment of tax, a refund can be obtained by the U.S. Holder upon filing an
appropriate income tax return.

Consequences to tendering U.S. Holders of Options. Under United States federal income
tax law, the receipt of cash for Options granted in consideration for the performance of services
will be a taxable transaction for a holder that is a U.S. Holder and may also be a taxable
transaction under applicable state or local tax laws or tax laws of other jurisdictions. Generally,
a holder who receives cash for such (ptions pursuant to the Offer will have compensation
income equal to the amount of cash paid for the Options. Such holder will likely be subject to
withholding from the cash proceeds of the Offer for federal and state income taxes and
employment taxes.

Consequences for U.S. Holders of Shares not tendered. In connection with the
restructuring, we anticipate that an election pursuant to United States Treasury Regulation
section 301.7701-3 to treat the Company as a pass-through entity for United States income tax
purposes may be made in respect of the Company. In the event of the anticipated Pass-Through
Election, the corporate restructuring would result in a taxable event for all holders who are
United States persons who continue to own shares of the Company following the consummation
of the Offer and the purchase of remaining Securities that are subject to the drag-along
provisions of the 2000 Shareholders Agreement. Generally, a U.S. Holder who continues to
own shares of the Company will recognize gain or loss for United States federal income tax
purposes equal to the difference between the fair market value of such U.S. Holder’s shares and
adjusted tax basis in the shares.

5. Certain Information Concerning the Company.

SPL Worldgroup B.V., or the Company, is a Dutch private limited liability company
(besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid). Established in 1994, the Company is a
leading international provider of information technology consulting and enterprise solutions.
The Company’s solutions in customer care and billing, outage management and distribution
management are specifically designed for energy, water and service companies, providing a
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platform from which they serve residential, commercial and industrial customers in regulated
and competitive markets across multiple products and jurisdictions. The Company recently
expanded its outage management business through a strategic acquisition of CES International,
Inc. (“CES”), a leader in utility outage management.

The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 75 Hawthorne Plaza, 20th
Floor, San Francisco, CA 94105.

Set forth in Schedule II are audited consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and audited consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the three years ended December 31, 2003, as well as an unaudited
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004 and unaudited consolidated statements of
income and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. Attached as Schedule III
is an audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, of CES, which was acquired by the
Company in July 2004, and an audited consolidated statement of operations, changes in
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003.

For additional information regarding the Company, you may contact Richard Zolezzi,
S.V.P. and General Counsel, 75 Hawthorne Plaza, 20th Floor, San Francisco, CA 94105,
telephone: 1-415-541-9462.

6. Certain Information Concerning Purchaser.

SPL Acquisition S.3 RL., or Purchaser, is a Luxembourg private limited company
formed for the purpose of making the Offer for the Securities of the Company. Purchaser was
formed as an acquisition vehicle and, as of the date hereof, has not conducted any business other
than in connection with the Offer.

Purchaser is an affiliate of OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P., a limited
partnership organized under the laws of Delaware.” The Fund is an investment vehicle of GFI
Energy Ventures LLC and its co-general partner Oaktree Capital Management LLC.

The Fund also owns a majority interest in Synergen, which will be combined with the
Company in connection with the consummation of the Offer. Synergen a California
corporation, is a leading provider of enterprise asset management and computerized maintenance
management solutions to asset-intensive industries and utilities. Synergen offers a series of
products that address, among other things, collaborative work management, document control,
inventory control and safety and regulatory compliance. In July 2004, Synergen expanded its
business by acquiring assets of Axiom Corporation (“Axiom”), including Axiom’s utility
company software business and its utility company-related systems integration and information
technology consulting services. Set forth in Schedule IV are reviewed consolidated balance
sheets of Synergen as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, and reviewed consolidated
statements of income and retained earnings, and cash flows for the three years ended December
31, 2003, as well as an unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004 and an
unaudited consolidated statement of income, for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.
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7. Conditions of the Offer.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer, Purchaser will not be required to
accept for payment or, subject to applicable securities laws, pay for, and may delay the
acceptance for payment of or, subject to applicable securities laws, the payment for, any
tendered Securities, and may amend the Offer consistent with the terms of the Share Tender
Agreement or terminate the Offer and not accept for payment any tendered Securities, unless
each of the following conditions has been satisfied or waived by the Fund in writing:

(a) There shall have been validly tendered (and not withdrawn) pursuant to the Offer (i)
all of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock; (ii) more than 67% of the outstanding
shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock comsidered together as a class;
(iii) more than 75% of all outstanding Shares; and (iv) a sufficient number of Shares and Options
such that there would be no more than 30 individuals and entities holding Securities (excluding
Purchaser and the Management Holders) immediately following consummation of the Offer.

(b) Each of the representations and warranties of the Company and the holders contained
in the Share Tender Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects when made and
as of the Closing Date (as defined in the Share Tender Agreement attached hereto), except that
those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date shall remain
true and correct in all material respects as of such date. '

(c) The Company shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all
agreements and covenants required by the Share Tender Agreement to be performed or complied
with by it on or prior to the Closing Date.

(d) No governmental entity or court of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued,
promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation, executive order or other ader
(whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect and that restricts, prevents or
prohibits the consummation of the Offer, the Exchange or any other transactions contemplated
by the Share Tender Agreement and the related agreements; provided, however, that the parties
shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to have any such arder vacated as promptly as

practicable.

(e) All consents, waivers, approvals and authorizations required to be obtained and all
filings or notices required to be made by the Purchasers and the Company prior to
consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Share Tender Agreement and the related
agreements shall have been obtained from and made withall required governmental entities, and
any waiting period under any applicable antitrust law or regulation (including the HSR Act)
shall have expired or been terminated.

(f) There shall not be pending or threatened any proceeding by any governmental entity
or any pending proceeding by any third party (where the Purchasers determine in good faith that
such third party has a reasonable likelihood of success) (i) challenging or seeking damages in
connection with the Offer, the Exchange or any of the other transactions contemplated herein or
(ii) seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the Offer, the Exchange or any of the

other transactions contemplated thereby:.
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(g) Since the date of the Share Tender Agreement, no Material Adverse Effect (as
defined in the Share Tender Agreement attached hereto), shall have occurred, nor shall any event
or circumstance have occurred that, in combination with any other events or circumstances,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) The Company shall have obtained at or prior to the Closing all consents or approvals
requ1red for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Share Tender Agreement
and the related agreements from any other party to any of the contracts leases, license
agreements or other agreements or instruments or understandings listed in Section 8.1(h) of the
disclosure chedules to the Share Tender Agreement without the payment of any material
amounts or any change in any of the terms of any such contracts, leases, license agreements or
other agreements or instruments or understandings.

(i) The provisions of the Existing Company Documents of the Company shall have been
amended or waived as provided in the Agreement to Tender and the Letter of Transmittal and
other Offer Documents.

(i) The requisite holders of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock shall
have approved the conversion of all outstanding shares of such stock into shares of the
applicable series of common stock of the Company (the “Conversion”) in accordance with the
requirements of applicable law and the Existing Company Documents and organizational
documents of the Company, such that the Conversion shall occur immediately following
Purchaser’s acceptance of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock for
payment pursuant to the Offer.

(k) The Company and the Management Holders shall have entered into the Security
Holders Agreement with the Purchasers.

() The provisions of the non-competition agreements and employee non-solicitation
agreements entered into in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby shall not have
been amended, modified or supplemented in any respect without the comsent of the Purchasers,
and such agreements shall be in full force and effect.

(m) The Company will have delivered an opinion of counsel to the Company in
connection with the Closing of the transactions contemplated herein.

(n) Concurrently with or prior © Purchaser’s acceptance for payment of Shares and
Options in the Offer, the Company shall make or have made the dividend and return of capital
payments described under “Special Factors—Dividends and Return of Capital”.

8. Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals.

General. Except as described below, Purchaser is not aware of any license or regulatory
permit that appears to be material to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, that might be adversely affected by Purchaser’s acquisition of Securities pursuant to the
Offer, or of any approval or other action by any governmental, administrative or regulatory
agency or authority or public body, that would be required for the acquisition or ownership of
Securities by Purchaser pursuant to the Offer. Should any such approval or other action be
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required, it is presently contemplated that such approval or action would be sought. While,
except as otherwise expressly described herein, Purchaser does not currently intend to delay
acceptance for payment of Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer pending the outcome of any
such matter, there can be no assurance that any such approval or other action, if needed, would
be obtained without substantial conditiors or that adverse consequences might not result to the
Company’s business in the event that such approvals were not obtained or such other actions
were not taken or in order to obtain any such approval or other action, any of which could cause
Purchaser to decline to accept for payment or pay for any Securities tendered. Purchaser’s
obligatiom under the Offer to accept for payment and pay for Securities is subject to the
conditions of the Offer. See “The Tender Offer— Certain Conditions of the Offer”.

Antitrust. Under the HSR Act and the rules that have been promulgated thereunder by
the United States Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), certain acquisition transactions may not
be consummated unless certain information has been furnished to the Antitrust Division of the
Department of Justice (the “Antitrust Division”) and the FTC and certain waiting period
requirements have been satisfied. The acquisition of Securities pursuant to the Offer is subject
to such requirements.

Purchaser filed a Notification and Report Form with respect to the Offer under the HSR
Act on October 22, 2004. The waiting period under the HSR Act with respect to the Offer will
expire at 11:59 p.m. New York City time, on the 15th day after such filing date, unless early
termination of the waiting period is granted. In addition, the Antitrust Division or the FTC may
extend such waiting periods by requesting additional information or documentary material from
Purchaser. If such a request is made with respect to the Offer, the waiting period related to the
Offer will expire at 11:59 p.m. New York City time on the 10th day after substantial compliance
by Purchaser with such request. With respect to each acquisition, the Antitrust Division or the
FTC may issue only one request for additional information. In practice, complying with a
request for additional information or material can take a significant amount of time. In addition,
if the Antitrust Division or the FTC raises substantive issues in connection with a proposed
transaction, the parties may engage in negotiations with the relevant governmental agency
concerning possible means of addressing those issues and may agree to delay consummation of
the transaction while such negotiations continue. Expiration or termination of applicable
waiting periods under the HSR Act is a condition to Purchaser’s obligation to accept for
payment and pay for Securities tendered pursuant to the Offer.

The Antitrust Division and the FTC frequently scrutinize the legality under the antitrust
laws of transactions such as the proposed purchase of the Securities by Purchaser pursuant to the
Offer. At any time before or after such purchase, the Antitrust Division or the FTC could take
such action under the antitrust laws as it deems necessary or desirable in the public interest,
including seeking to enjoin the transaction or seeking divestiture of the Securities so acquired or
divestiture of substantial assets of Purchaser or the Company. Litigation seeking similar relief
could be brought by private parties.

Purchaser does not believe that consummation of the Offer and the other transactions
contemplated by the Share Tender Agreement will result in violation of any applicable antitrust
laws. However, there can be no assurance that a challenge to the Offer and the other
transactions contemplated by the Share Tender Agreement on antitrust grounds will not be
made, or if such a challenge is made, what the result will be. See “The Tender Offer—Certain
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Conditions of the Offer” for certain conditions to the purchase of the Securities, including
conditions with respect to litigation and certain governmental actions.

9. Fees and Expenses.

Purchaser has retained The Bank of New York to act as the Paying Agent in connection
with the Offer. The Paying Agent may contact holders of Securities by mail and telephone and
may request brokers, dealers and other nominee holders to forward the offer materials to
beneficial owners. The Paying Agent will receive reasonable and customary compensation for
services relating to the Offer and will be reimbursed for certain out-of-pocket expenses.
Purchaser has also agreed to indemnify the Paying Agent against certain liabilities and expenses
in connection with the Offer.

Purchaser will not pay any fees or commissions to any broker or dealer or any other
person for soliciting tenders of Securities pursuant to the Offer. Brokers, dealers, commercial
banks, trust companies and other nominees will, upon request, be reimbursed by Purchaser for
customary mailing and handling expenses incurred by them in forwarding offering materials to
their customers.

10. Governing Law

Any disputes arising under or relating to the Offer, this Offer to Purchase, the Letter of
Transmittal, any of the agreements related to the transactions contemplated hereby, or any of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, will be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to rules respecting conflicts of laws.

11.  Jurisdiction, Venue and Service of Process.

In any action or proceeding arising under or relating to the Offer, this Offer to Purchase,
the Letter of Transmittal, any of the agreements related to the transactions contemplated hereby,
or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, the tendering holder (i) is subject to
the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the County of Los Angeles,
California, (ii) waives any objection that such holder may have had at any time to the laying of
such venue of any such proceedings brought in any such court, (iii) waives any claim that such
proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and (iv) further waives the right to
object with respect to such proceedings that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such
holder. Refusal to accept service of process properly given in accordance with applicable hw
shall be deemed acceptance of such service of process. The agreements contained in the Letter
of Transmittal apply no matter what the form of action, whether in rem, in personam, or any
other, or whether based on any statute, rule, regulation or other hw now existing or hereinafter
enacted.

12. Miscellaneous.

The Offer is not being made to (nor will tenders be accepted from or on behalf of)
holders of Securities in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Offer or the acceptance
thereof would not be in compliance with the securities, blue sky or other laws of such
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jurisdiction. Purchaser may, in its discretion, however, take such action as it may deem
necessary to make the Offer in any jurisdiction and extend the Offer to holders of Securities in

any such jurisdiction.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation on
behalf of Purchaser not contained herein or in the Letter of Transmittal and, if given or made,
such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized. Neither
the delivery of this Offer to Purchase nor any purchase pursuant to the Offer shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of Purchaser or
the Company since the date as of which information is furnished or the date of this Offer to

Purchase.
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Re‘portlofl Independent Auditors

- The Board of Directors

SPL WorldGroup B.V.

‘We have audlted the dccompanying consolidated balance sheets of SPL WorldGroup B V as of
. December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operauons,

stockholders’ eqmty, and cash flows for each of the three years gnded December 31, 2003. These

- financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respons:blhty is
"to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in-accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Thase standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
dbout whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportmg the amounts and disclosures in the financial

‘statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of SPL WorldGroup B.V. at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years ended

December 31,2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in theé Umted

~ States.

AP

March 26, 2Q04



SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Consolidated Balance Shcets‘
(In thousands)

Assets ,
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $2,340 and $3,815

in 2003 and 2002, respectively
Prepa.td expenses and other current assets
Deferred income taxes
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and related expensés
Accrued liabilities and other
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue

.....

Deferred income ,taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Comumitrents
Rede_emjable convertible preferred stock

Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock
Common stock
- Retained eamnings
Stockholder notes receivable
Cumulative translation adjustment
Total stockholders’ equity _
Total liabjlities and stockholders’ equity -

See accompanying notes.
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- December 31,

2003 2002
$41,826  $ 36328
16,986 31,271
1,806 2,617
760 725

- 61378 - 70,941
6,084 7,255
512 93

$ 67,974 $ 78,289
$ 1,043 $ 856
9,507 9,212
4,551 3,946
3,884 4,033
12,312 15,502
31,297 33,549
150 149
1,124 -
32,571 33,698
7,301 6,761
5,861 5,861
5,743 6,751
14,743 28,941

. 1) (232)
1,846 (3,491)
28,102 37,830
$ 67,974 $ 78,289




SPL WorldGroup B.V.

[FILE no,

- Consolidated Statements of Operations
' (In thousands)

Revenues:
Services,
License fees

Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
. Costof services
Cost of license fees
Product development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
. Restnicturing
* Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) from operations

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other

Income (loss) before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)

. Preferred stock dividends

Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders :

See accompanying notes.

82- 34708

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
$ 77,757 $ 91,072 $ 82,715
12,488 18,977 14,642
90,245 110,049 97,357
54,547 58,298 55,528
232 754 672
12,117 13,006 9,894
18,393 20,329 17,893
11,310 11,385 10,873
4,401 - -
101,000 103,772 94 860
(10,755) 6,277 2,497
852 . 858 1,196
C¥)) (16) (8)
(1,375 491 227
. (570) 1,333 1,415
(11,325) 7,610 3,912
2,333 3,044 1,492
(13,658) 4,566 2,420
540 501 485
" $(14,198) $ 4,065 $ 1935
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See accompanying nates.

FILE NO.

82- 34708
SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
_ Year ended December 31,
: 2003 2002 . 2001 -
Operating dctivities i . i
* Net income (loss) $ (13,658) $ 4,566 $ 2420
Adjustments to reconcile net iricome to net cash ’
pnmded by (used in) operating activities: '
Depreciation and amortization 3,963 3,532 2,767
- Write-off of property and equipment 545 =
Deferred income taxes (39 1,319 I, 556
Interest on stockholder notes receivable Q21 “@ (9)
;Compensatlon recogmzed for accelemhon of stock L
. options -~ - 70
Tax benefit from stock option exercises - - 7
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
 Accounts receivable 19,622 (6,620) 4,085)
Prepaid expenses and other 392 (256) 116,
Accounts payable and accrued compensation and R
related expenses 482 (1,068) . 531
Income taxes payable, net (149) 2,11 (1,270)
- Deferred revenue 3,190) 835 7,367
Accrued Tiabilities and other 1,729 {408) (1,806)
Net cash provided by operating activities 9,681 4,057 7,664
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (3,339) (4,090) . (3,356)
Net cash used in investing activities (3,339) (4,090) (3,356)
Financing activities ,
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 44 235 9
Exercise of put options by employees (48) (168) (168)
Repurchase of common stock (840) - (1,892)
Repayments of long-termi debt - - . (178)
Net cash provxded by (used in) financing activities (844) 67 (2,229)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,498 34 2,079
. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 36328 . 36294 - - 34215
-Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 41,826 $ 36,328 - 336,294
Supplemental disclosure '
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds § 2,785 $ . 933 $ 234
Cash paid for interest 5 47 $ 15~ § 12
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and
- financing activities
Preferred stock dividends $§ 540 $ 501 $_ 485
Cancellation of stockholder notes receivable s 164 $§ - - $ 398
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 3 1,2003

L. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

’chripﬁon of Business

SPL WorldGroup B.V. (collectively, “SPL" or the “Company”) is a prov1der of customer
: ma.nagement software solutions to the energy and services related industries in regulated and
. competitive markets worldwide. SPL, a Netherlands company, was incorporated on March 28,

1994,

.Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of SPL, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, include the
accounts of SPL and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances have
been eliminated in conisolidation.

Use of Estimates

. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. SPL periodically evaluates its estimates, including those
related to revenue recognition, the allowance for doubtful accounts, accrued liabilities and
income taxes. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and various other
‘assumptions that are believed to be reasonable based on specific circumstances. Actual results

could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, which consist pnmanly' of cash and highly liquid short-term
investments with insignificant interest rate risk and maturities of three months or less at the date
of purchase, are stated at cost, which approxxmates fair value.
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

- 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accousnting Policies (continued)

Concentrations of Credit Risk

. Financial instruments that potentially subject. the Cbmpany to concentrations of credit risk -

consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company places its

. ‘¢ash and cash equivalents with high-eredit, quality financial institutions. While the: Company 5.
. :business is concentrated in the utilities industry, the- Compa.ny beheves its concentrations .of -

credit risk with respect to-accounts receivable are mitigated by the number of geographic areis in
which the Company conducts business. Generally, the Company does not require collateral or

other security to support customeér receivables, which are principally from end users of the

Company’s products and ‘services. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of -its
customers and maintains an allowance for pgtential credit losses based on historical experience
and other information available to management. Provisions are made based upon a specific
review of all significant outstanding inveices. For those invoices not specifically reviewed,
provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In deterinining

these ‘percentages, the Company analyzed its historical -collection experience and- current

economic trends. Actual credit losses may differ significantly from estimated amounts included
in the allowance for doubtful accounts, and such d1fferences could be material to the financial

Statements.

One customer accounted for approximately 12%, 11%, and 20% of revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. The same customer accounted for
appronmately 10% of accounts receivable as of December-31, 2003. Three customers accounted
for approximately 17%, 12%, and 10% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2002.

_'-Property and Equipinent

Property and' equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecxatlon and amortlzauon.

' Deprecxanon and amortization are provided aver the éstimated useful lives of thre¢ to five years

using the straight-line methad. Leaschold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the lesser of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

- 1. Description of Business and ‘Summary of Signiﬁcant-Accoilnﬁng Pbl'i"cies-(cdh‘tin‘u‘ed)
Software Development Costs

The Company accounts for soﬁware development: costs in accondance with Statement of
.Financial "Accounting Standards (*SFAS”) No.. 86, Accountirig “for. the “Costs of Computer
- Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, under which: certain software development -
‘costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility are capitalized  and'
amortized over the estimated lives of the related products. Technological feasibility is
established upon completion of a working model. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility have not been
.Significant, and all software development costs have been charged to product ‘development
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting. for
Income Taxes, which requires recognition of déferred tax assets and liabilities based on
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities measured using
enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the:differences are expected to

reverse.
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has chosen to account for stock-based employee compensauon using the intrinsic
value method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (“APB") Opiniont No. 25, Accounting
;" for Stock Issued to Employees, and Related Interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost for
~ stock options granted to employees is measured as the excéss, if any, of the current fair value of
the Company stock at the date of the grant oveér the amount an cmployee must pay to acquire the -
“stock. The Company did not grant any stock options at exercise prices below fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant during the years ended December 31, 2003 and

2002.
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

| - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemerits (continued).

1. Description of Business and Summary of Si’g_';iiﬁcant Acééuntin_g Policies (c"ontimied) :
. Sfdck-Based Conipensation (continued)- .

An alternative method to the intrinisic value method of accoimting for stock-based ¢ompensation -
is the. fair . value . approach prescribed by SFAS No. 123, Accounting jbr Stock-Based
Compensation, ‘as-amended by SFAS No. 148, Accountmg Sfor Stock-Based. Compensatzon——
- Transition and. Disclosure (collecmvely referred to as “SFAS 'No..123%).- SFAS No, 133
encourages, ‘but does 'not require, companies to record compensition cost for stock-based
employee compensation plans at fair value. If the Company followed the fair value approach, the
Company would be required to record deferred compensano_n based on the fiir value of the stock
option at the date of the grant. The value of the stock option is required to be’ computed using an
option-pricing model at the date of the stock option grant. The deferred compensation calculated
under the fair value method would then. be amortized over the respective vesting period of the

stock optton.

If the Company had elected to use the fair value approach encouraged by SFAS No. 123 to
account for its employee stock-based compensation plan, the pet income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders would have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2003 .2002 2001

Net income (loss) attributable to common _
. stackholders — as reported $(14,198) . $ 4,065 $ 1,935
Add: Stock-based ernployee oompensauon i

~ cost, net of tax, included in net income as : o
- - 43

. reported
Less: Pro forma stock-based employee
compensation cost, net of tax, det¢érmined .
under the fair value method (320) - (961) (1,791)
. Net income (loss) attributable to common ' o
stockholders — pro forma. . $(14,518) - $3,104 $ 187

10
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (con_tinﬁed)

1. Descnptlon of Busmess and Summary of ngmﬁcant Accountmg Policies (contmued)

. Stock-Based Compensatxon (continued)

The stock-ba,sed employee compensation cost under the fmr value method was deterniined. usmg
the “rmmmum value” option-pricing model with the following wexghted—average assumptions: -

Year ended December 31,
2003 . 2002 2001
 Risk-free interest rate 3.0% 38% 4.3%
‘Expected life (in years) 6 6 6

Expected dividends - - -

The weighted-average grant .}d‘ate fair value of aptions granted during the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, were $0.92, $1.13, and $1.08, respectively.

Fore‘ign—C‘urrency Translation

All amounts included in the accompanymg consolidated financial statements-are stated in U.S.

dollars, which.is the reporting currency of the Company. In general, the functional currency of a
forelgn operation is deemed to be the local country’s currency. Assets and liabilities of
operations denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchangc rate at the end of
the applicable repoiting period. The cumulative effects of foreign-currency translation

adjustments are included as a separate component of stockholders equity. Foreign-currency - - °

transaction gains and losses are included in other income. The accompanying statements of
‘operations include net forelgn-currency transaction gains (losses) -of approximately $(436,000),
$(252,000) and $230,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

: R_evénue Recognition

- The Cornipany provides computer systems intégration and software licenses to customers under
contractual arrangements. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with provisions of
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as modified by SOP 98-9
and SOP 81-1, Accountmg for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type

* Contracts. Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the
‘software is delivered, collection is probable, and the fee is fixed or determinable.

11
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-SPL WorldGroup B.V.

- Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contiriued)
Revenue Recognition (continued)

- Revenues for integration services and rclated software license fees are recogmzed at the contract.
" amounts either as. the services are performed (for time and material’ contracts) of undér the
. percentage-of-compleuon method ' (for ﬁxed-pnce contracts). The’ percentage-of—completxon

method is dependem on estimates of remaining effort required to comiplete the project-and is

! determined using the number of hours. incurred as compared to the total estimated hours to

complete the contract. Actual remaining effort could vary significantly from the estimates, and
such differences could be material to the financial statements. Losses on contracts, if any, are

provided for in full in the peried when detérmined.

When services being performed are essential to the ﬁmcﬁonalit.y of the éBﬁWare licenses, license
revenue is recogmzed using the percentage-of-completion method and is determined by the
number of hours incurred as compared to the total estxmated hours to complete the contract.

In arrangements .where the Company sells software licenses without professional services,
license revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, revenue is
allocated to undelivered elements based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value and-
the residual amounts of revenue are allocated to delivered elements.

" Revenue from maintenance cortracts, which is included in service revenue, is recognized ratably
over .tie term of the maintenance agreement, which is generally one year. These contracts
typically call for the Company to provide support and soﬁware updates and upgrades to

- .customers.

Royalty fees are generally recogmzed as they are reported by the reseller aud are mcluded as
. hcense fees'in the accompanymg statements of operations. o

/
Accounts recejvable includ_e revenue billed under the terms of the contract or agreement, licenses
and services revenue recognized but not yet billed, and out-of-pocket expenses: that are
. recoverable from the customer. Revenue earned but not billed:as of December 31; 2003 and 2002
amounted to $4,630,000 and $4,392,000, respectively. Accounts receivable also include retention
amounts due.to the Company upon completion of the related contract. Retentions included in
receivables amounted to $248,000 and $393,000 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, which will be due upon completion of the contract and final customer acceptance.

12
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. (continued)

1. :Déscrix'iti'oh of Business and Summary of Slgmﬁcant Acéqu‘n'tjixig Policies (continued)
Déferred Révenues

"Deferred revenues relate pnmanly to license fees paxd in advance of pro;ect complenon and
maintenance agreements, which are typlcally pa.ld for by customers in -advance. of theA ’
' perfonnance of those semces

' Adv.ertisih'g Costs -

Advertxsmg costs -are expensed during the periods in whxch they are incurred. Advertising
.expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, were approximately $395,000,
$607,000 and $399, 000, respectxvely

2, Licensing Agreeinent with Related Party

In February 1999, the Company entered into a Joint Development and Marketing Agreement
with PeopleSoft, Inc. (“PeopleSoft”), a stockholder of the Company. This agreement calls for the

development and marketing of a PeopleTools version of the Company’s proprietary customer
information system software (“CIS PLUS“’”) Under this agreement, the Company receives
royalties on license and maintenance sales of PeopleTools CLS PLUS®. A minimum royalty of
$8 million is due over the five-year period ending June 30, 2003. In each period, the Company
recognizes | rhe greater of the amount earned on sales of the PeopleTools product or the minimum.
annual toyalty amount. The Company recognized license revenue of $1.3 million, $4.6 million,
_and $2.3 million and services revenue of $2.5 million, $1.6 million, and $0.8 million under this
agreement in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

13
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

- 3 Pi’dperty and Equipment

" Propeity and équipment consists of the following;

December 31,
. 2003 2002 -
(n thousands)
- Computer equlpment o ' . $ 12;705 $ 13,696
.Office furniture and equipment ‘ 4,082 3,690
- Automobiles 114 74
* Leasehold improvements . 3,754 2,724
20,655 20,184
Less accumulated depreciation and amortlzatlon ' (14,571) (12,929)
- Net property and equipment $ 6,084  § 7255
4. Stockholders’ Equity
Capital Stock

‘As of December 31,2003 and 2002, the Company’s capital stock consists of the following:

_ Shares -
: Outstanding at December 31
~ Séries Authorized 2003 2002

A redeemable convemble preferred 1,120,020 1,120,020 1,120,020
.. B convertible preferred | - 597,600 597,600 597,600
Acommon . 4,480,000 - -

B common 4 52,302,300 11,699,028 11,924,482

C common 4,000,000 - -

The Company’s three classes of common stock have the same features and rights. Series A and -
Series. B preferred sha.res may only be converted into Series A and C common shares,

respectively.

14




FILE NO. 4
82- 34708

SPL WorldGroup B.V.

~ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4. Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
P_l_'eferred Stock

Series A

‘ 'Subject to certain antidilution provisions, each share of Senes A preferred stock is. convemble"

- into one share of Series A common stock. Preferred shares automatically convert into common

stock upon @ Qualified Initial Public Offering (“Qualified IPO™). A Qualified IPO is defined as a
‘public offering whereby aggregate net proceeds exceed.$17.5 million and the price per share is at
least three times the Series A original issuance price (or $11.25 per share). Dmdgnds on the
. Series A preferred stock are cumulative at 8% of the issué price, compounded. Dividends

totaling $540,000, $501,000, and $485,000 were accrued in the years ended December 31, 2003,

2002, and 2001, respectively.

-These dividends were unpajd as of December 31, 2003, and are included with redeemable
convertible preferred stock in the balance sheets. At the election of any holder of Series A
preferred stock, up to 50% of that holder’s dividend may be payable in shares of the Series A
common stock. The dividend requirements of the Series A preferred stock must.be satisfied prior

"to payment of any dividends or distributions with respect to the Company’s other classes of

" capital stock. The redemption provision of the Series A preferred permits holders, at any time
" after October 31, 2000, to redeem their shares with the Company for the price paid plus any
_accrued dividends. As of December 31, 2003, no shares have been redeemed.

" SeriesB

" Each share of Series B preferi‘ed stoék is convertible into oné share of Series C commion stock,
subject to certam antidilitien provisions, Series B preferred shares automatxcally convert mto

common stock upon a Qualified IPO

At December 31, 2003, a‘ggregate liquidation preferences were $7,301,000 and $4,183,000 for
“the Series A and Series B preferred stock, respectively. Both Series A and Series B preferred
- stockholders ‘are entitled to voting rights equivalent to the number of common shares into which

“their shares are convertible.
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial S‘tatements‘(continu'ed) :

4, Stockholders Eqmty (contmued)
Preferred Stoek (contmued)

: Warrants

'Watrants to purchase : 25 000 shares of Senes B common stock ax an ex¢réise price of $4 20 per

" share are outstandmg as of December 31, 2003. The warrants are exerclsable unmedxately and
* expire in August 2007. ' . ‘

Sto'ckho‘-ld‘er Notes Receivab!e

As of December 31, 2003 ‘notes’ réceivable in the amount of $91 000 from stockholders of the ‘

Company arising from the issuance of 25,960 shares of common stock to employees’ have been
recorded a$ a reduction of stockholders’ _equity in the consohdated balance sheet. The full
recourse notes bear interest at 7%.

During 2003, the Company canceled a shareholder note receivable for $164,000 in exchange for -

38,940 shares' of the Company’s common stock and $2,000 cash representmg interest owed
under the note.

In July 2001, the Company loaned $2 791,000 to Stichting SPL WorldGroup Employee Stock
(“SES™), a foundation established under Dutch law. This note is due in July 2004. The objectives
of SES are to stimulate and promote the shareholdmg by employees of SPL and other interested
- parties of shares.in the capital of SPL, whether or not in conriection with an employee stock plan,
In July 2001, the former chief executive officer sold 664,605 shares of Company common stock
‘to SES, which shares are treated as ‘outstanding by the Company In accordance with accounting
pn_ncxples generally accepted iri the United States, SES has been. consolidated with the Company.

'Sharec Reserved for Future Issuance

At December 31, 2003, the Company had reserved 1,120,020 shares of Series A' common stock
for the conversion of Series A preferred shares; 9,484,275 shares of Series B common stock for
future issuance, including 25,000 shares reserved for exercise of warrants and 9,509,275. shares
for the exercise of stock options; and 597,600 shares of Series C common stock for the
conversion of Series B preferred shares. '

16
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4.'8tockh6[ders-’ Equity (continued)
Stock Option Plan

The Company has stock and stock- optlon plans that cover. the issuance of stock purchase rights,
. incentive stock options, and nonqualified stock- optlons (hereinafier collectively referfed.to as -

. optxons”) The ‘plans provide for the purchase of up'to 10,852,872 sharés of the Company’ ]
common stock. Stock purchase rights, entitling' the grantee. to purchase restncted stock, may bé -
 granted under the 1998 stock plan. Under the terms of all plans, optlons may be granted to
qualified employees, diréctors, and, under certain plans, consultants, at prices determined by the
administrator of the plan on the date of grant. The exercise price must be equal to at least 85% of
the current fair market value of the underlying shares in the case of a nonqualified stock option
-or. 100% in the case of an incentive stock option, except under the 1995 and 1997 Management
Stock Option Plans which permiit the granting of options with an exercise price as determined by
the Board of Directors and may be below fair market value of the underlying shares. Vesting
. periods are determined by the Board of Directors and are generally three to.four years from the
date of grant. Options expire at the earlier of ten years from the plan inception date for incentive
and nonqualified stock options granted under the Company’s 1995 or 1997 Option Plans (ten
" years from the grant date under the 1998 plan), or five years from the time of grant for incentive
stock options granted to a 10% stockholder or three months from the date of the optionee’s
termination of association with the Company.

17 -
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S-PL WorldGroup B.V.

‘Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4, Stackholders’ Equity (conﬁnuédi
' Stock Optlon Plan (contmued)

‘ Informatxon reIatmg to the outstandmg stook opnons is as follows

3 _ Optxons Outstan@g

' Opt:oms o Weighted-

Available for Number of Average
Grant . Shares . Exercise Price

Outsta.ndmg at December 31,2000 2,780,972 6,873,460 $345
Granted . (2,261,366) 2,261,366 4.20
‘Exercised : - . (8,332) 2.15
Canceled 993,110 {993,110) 3.50
Outstanding at Decemiber 31,2001 1,512,716 8,133,384 3.65
Granted (1,260,628) 1,260,628 420
Exercised ' - (111,894). 232
_Canceled 725,401 (725,401) 3.80
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 977489 8,556,717 3.75
Granted - (1,502,900) 1,502,900 4.20
. Exercised - (24,931) A5
‘Canceled 3,274,181 (3,274,181) 4.05

Qutstanding at December 31, 2003 ' . . 2,748,770 6,760,505 3.71

18 .
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

"Notes t(_S Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4. Stockholders’ Equity (continued)

- Stock Option Plan (coutinued)

_‘-The followmg table ‘summiarizes. mformatmn w1th _respect o stock opnons outstandmg at.

December3l 2003

Options Outstanding. . - Options Exercisable
Weighted- - ' B
Average
.Range of a Remaining Welghted- i Weighted-
Exercise Number of Contractual Average Number of Average
Prices . Shares - Liferears) Exercise Price - Shares Exercise Price
$0.87-82.69 1,250,356 2.40 $ 1.96 : 1,250,353 3$1.97
$3.22-33.85 936,116 5.10 $ 3.67 935,578 $3.67
$4.20-34.20. 4,574,033 7.93 $ 420 2,490,321 $4.20
$0.87 - $4.20 _ 6,760,505 6.52 $3.71 4.676,252 $349

5.Provision for Income Taxes
Significant components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following:

‘Year ended Deéember 31,

. 2003 2002 2001 - -
(In thousands)

. Current: ' o
U.S. federal .$ (@65) - 3§ (369) $(1,357)
State and local : , 15 15 10
Foreign _ 2,817 2,079 1,113

2,367 1,725 (234)

Deferred:

" U.S. federal : 418 945 1,121
State and local (7 @31) -
Foreign , (445) 405 605

<)) 1,319 1,726

Total provision for income taxes - $ 2,333 $ 3,044 $ 1,492
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

- Px"ovis'ion for‘Ixicom‘é Taxes (continued)-

The prowsmn for mcome taxes differs from the amount computed by applymg the statutory

‘ federal rate to pretax mcome as follows:

Year ended Decémber 31,
- 2003 . 2002 2001
Federal statutory rate 34.0% - 35.0% '35.0%
Differences in U.S. and foreign tax rates 15 2.0 3D
Change in valuation. allowance 67.9) 17.4 314
“Tax credits 5.1 (8.3) (13.5)
State and local taxes 3.9 (0.4) 03
Other 4 2.2) _ (L.6) (11.3)
Effective income tax rate (2_0.6)% 40.0% 38.2%

L

*‘

ngmﬁcant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit camryforwards
‘Compensation accruals

Accrued expenses
* Deferred revenue

" . Other, net

Valuation al_IoWanée

Deferred tax liabilities:

Unremitted earnings
Other, net

" Net.deferred tax assets

December 31,
2003 2002 2001
$ 7,666 $ 635 $ 441
2,508 2,048 1,420
601 782 1377
1,411 1,475 112
- - 901
2,153 1,605 1,314
14,339 6,545 " 5,565
(12,150) - (4,537) . (3213)
2,189 12,008 2,352
150 150 150
1,429 1,282 307
1,579 1,432 457
'$ 610 $ 576  $ 1895
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

.5, Pro‘visiiin- for Income Taxes (continued)

‘ Managemcnt has concluded that a valuation allowance is requxred on a portion of the Oompany s
deferred tax assets based on the Company’s history of earnings and its assessment that it is. more '
'likely than not that future levels of taxable income will not be sufficient to realize a poruon of
the deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance increased by $7,613,000 and $1,324,000 durmg
‘ the yea:s ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respecttvely

<As of Dece:_nbet 31, ,2003, the Company had fedeéral net operating loss. carryforwards. of
$17.9 million, which begin to expire in 2022. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had state
net operating losses carryforwards of approximately $26.6-million, which begin to expire in
2005. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had federal tax credit catryovers of $309,000
which begin to expire in 2005 and $1,603,000, which begin to expire in 2019 and state tax credit
carryovers of $596,000, which have no expiration. '

Utilization of the Company’s loss carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to
change in ownership provisions in various tax jurisdictions. Any such limitations could result in
the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards before utilization.

6. Commitments

The Company leases its office facilities under operating leases with renewal options and
escalation clauses expiring through the year '2008. These leases require the Company to pdy
‘operating costs, mcludmg property taxes, insurance, and maintenance, and generally contain
renewal options and provisions adjusting the lease payments based upon changes in the U.S.
ConsumerPnce Index or locaI equivalent,

Future m1mmum lease payments under noncancelable operatmg leases hang initial térms in
excess of one year are as follows-(in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2004 _ | $3378
.-2005 ' : ‘ 2,614
2006 2273
2007 | 2,017
2008 1,476

$ 11,758

- 21




FILE NO.
82- 34708

SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

‘ _ 6. Commitments (continued)

The amounts above include $3,004,000 of minimum lease payments for gxcess. officé space. that
was abandoned in December 31, 2003 (Note 7), and will be pmd through 2008. :

Minimum payments have not been rcduced by minimum sublease rentals of $642 OOO due in. the
future” under noncancelable . -operating leases. Rent expensé. amounted to- approxxmately

85,326,000, $2,680; 000 and $2,391,000 for the years ended December 31 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively.

7. Restructuring

In' January 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated wzﬁ ,
Exit or Dzsposal Activities, for all restructuring plans initiated after December 31, 2002. During -

the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $4.4 million.
The charge consisted of $2.4 million resulting from a workforce reduction primarily attributable

to severance, $348,000 resulting from the disposal of fixed assets and $1:7 million resulting from -

excess facility costs. The. facilities cost was based on.the present value of the sum of
noncancelable lease costs. The lease costs were less the esﬁmated fiiture sublease income, which
will be paid over the estimated vacancy periods through 2008.
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.

Notes to Consolidated Finaricial Statements (continued)

7. Resiructuring (continued)

‘_ The Company’s estimated costs to exit excess facxlmes are: based on cunently avaxlable'
commercial rates.: The actual loss: incurred inexiting the facilities could be different than the
-current esnmates A summary of the restructunng charge and related accrua.ls are as feﬂows

Work Force Facxhtxes
Reduction.. . Related:

. Charges . . Chirges . - Total _
' ' (I thousands) i
Accruals as of December 31, 2002 $ - 5 - 8 -
Charges 2,393 - 2,008 - . 4,401
:Deductions — cash payments (1,065) - (1,065)
Deductions write-offs o o= - (348 .. (348).
Accrual as of December 31, 2003 $ 1,328 $ 1,660 $ 2,988
Less noncurrent acerued restructuring charges ' ' i (1,005)
Accrued restructuring charges included within )
current accrued liabilities $ 1,983
" Estimated remaining cash expenditures $ 1,328 $ 3004 . 8§ 4332

8. Employee Benefit Plans.

The Company has multiple employee beneﬁt plans covering groups of its cmployew within the
“United States and throughout the world. Employee contributions are determined based upon
- local standards and requuements The' Company’s coritributions to-these -plans include both
nandatory and discretionary ' contribitions. Company conmbutlons for the years ended
. December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, were approxmately 51 4m1111on, $22 mllhon, and

$2 1 million, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

9. Informatwn by GeOgraplnc Area

Informatlon regardmg operajmg mformatlon and 1denuﬁable assets for contmumg opcratlons by ’

geographxc area is as follows
Year ended December 31
;2003 , -2002 . 2001
. o (Tn thausands) '
Revenues: T '
. United States o $ 68,457 $ 8924 & 85,222
Foreign 21,788 . 20,808 . 12,135
$ 90245 - $110,049 - $97,357
Income before income taxes: :
! . United States $ (15,731) $ 2,804 $ 3419
f Foreign 4,406 4,806 493
$(11325) § 7610 $ 3912
December 31,
2003 "~ 2002
(In thousands)
Total assets: : '
United States $ 32,446 $ 53,061

Foreign _ 35528 25228
| ' ' " 567974 $ 78289

The foll:owing long-tived assets are .inclu&ed'iﬁ the iatjle above:

December 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
Long-lived assets:
" United States $ 2,334 $4.472
Foreign - . _ 4,262 2876
$ 6,596 $ 7348
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Notes iO'Cons'oiida;ed Financial Statements- (continuqﬁ)

10. Subsequent Events (Unéitditéd)'

Sale of Search Software Amenca )

On March 16,.2004; the Company completed the sale of its data soluuons busmess, S,camh

-Software Amenca, for $2l.3 mllhon i cash. The transactxon resulted in a gain'in the: ﬁrst quarter'

‘of 2004.

1

The canymg values of the major classes of assets and hablhtzes of the: data solutmns busmess are -

as follows:

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Property and equipment, net

‘Liabilities:
Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued liabilities and other
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue

December3l
2003 2002

* (In thousands) -
$10,831 $ 7,788
1,968 1,453
168 129
432 159
- 203 - 209
$13,652 $ 9,738
$ 1679 3 865
© 249 144
. 136 286
2,703 . 2,344
. $ 4767 . $ 3,639

The revenue and income before income taxes for Search Software America was as follows:

Revenue -
Income before income taxes

Year ended December 31,

2003 . 2002 2001
* (In thousands)
$10,308 $ 9,038 $ 7,501
$ 2,941 $ 2,964 $ 2,858
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‘Notes to: Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

10. Subsequent Events (Unaudlted) (contmued)

Business Acqmsmon

On May 4, 2004 the Company s1gned dn agreement to acquire cermn assets ofa busmess for‘.' RS

approxxmately $15 mllhon in cash. Thls tlansacnon Is subject 10. clos:ng condmons
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)
Unaudited Audited

Assets 09/30/04 12/31/03
Current assets:

Cash & cash equivalents $ 38,582 $ 41,826

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $880 and $2,340

in September 2004 and December 2003, respectively 17,638 16,986

Prepaid expenses & other assets 9,106 1,806

Deferred income taxes 267 760
Total Current Assets 65,593 61,378
Property and equipment, net 3,997 6,084
Other assets 12,651 512
Total assets $ 82,241 $ 67,974
Liabilities & stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 307 $ 1,043

Accrued compensation and related expenses 6,322 9,507

Accrued liabilities and other 3,693 4,551

Income taxes payable 7,099 3,884

Deferred revenue 10,622 12,312
Total current liabilities 28,043 31,297
Deferred income taxes 150 150
Other long-term liabilities 1183 _ 1,124
Total liabilities 29,376 32,571
Commitments
Redeemable convertible preferred stock 7,734 7,301
Stockholders' equity:

Convertible preferred stock 5,861 5,861

Common stock 5,799 5,743

Retained earnings 33,491 14,743

Stockholder notes receivable - 1)

Cumulative translation adjustment __{20) ___ 1,846
Total stockholders' equity __45.131 __ 28102
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 82,241 $ 67,974




SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Consolidated Statements of Income

Revenues:
Services
License fees

Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Cost of services
Cost of license fees
Product development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Restructuring charge

Total costs and expenses

Income (loss) from operations

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other

Income (loss) before income taxes

(In thousands)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Net income (loss)
Preferred stock dividends

Net income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders

FILE NO.

82 - 34708
Unaudited Audited
For the For the
9 months - 12 months
ended ended
9/30/2004 12/31/2003
$ 57,603 $ 71,757
5124 12.488
62,727 90,245
35,587 54,547
412 232
7,484 12,117
9,479 18,393
8,428 11,310
— 653 —_4.401
62,043 101,000
684 (10,755)
433 852
(30) (47
21,529 (1,375)
21,932 (570)
22,616 (11,325)
3,435 2.333
19,181 (13,658)
433 540
$ 18,748 $ (14,198)
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SPL WorldGroup B.V.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Unaudited Audited
For the For the
9 months 12 months
ended ended
9/30/04 12/31/03
Operating activities
Net Income (loss) ’ 3 19,181 3 (13,658)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation & amortization 2,550 3,963
Gain on sale of SSA (20,879)
Write-off of property and equipment 52 545
Deferred income taxes 74 (34)
Interest on stockholder notes receivable 11 (21)
Changes in operating assets & liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,047) 19,622
Prepaid expenses and other (2,920) 392
Accounts payable and accrued compensation and -
related expenses 237) 482
Income taxes payable, net 3,215 (149)
Deferred revenue (5,451) (3,190)
Accrued liabilities and other (999) 1,729
Net cash provided by operating activities (8,450) 9,681
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment : (166) (3,339)
Proceeds from sale of SSA 19,462
CES Acquisition - Escrow (5,000)
CES Acquisition T (9,226)
Net cash uséd in investing activities 5,070 (3,339)
Financing activities
Proceeds from isshance of common stock 56 44
Exercise of put options by employees - 48)
Repurchase of common stock - (840)
Repayment of stockholder note receivable 80 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 136 (844)
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents (3,244) 5,498
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 41,826 36,328
Cash & cash equivalents at end of period $ 38,582 $ 41,826
Supplemental disclosure
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ - $ 2,785
Cash paid for interest $ 30 47
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and
financing activities
Preferred stock dividends $ 433 $ 540
' $ 164

Cancellation of stockholder notes receivable
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NOTIFICATION TO THIRD PARTY USERS OF THIS REPORT

This report was prepared subject to the terms and conditions set forth in an engagement letter. By
relying upon this report, all users shall be deemed to agree to the terms and conditions of that
engagement letter. Users intending to rely upon this report should cortact the issuer to obtain a copy of
its applicable terms and conditions. This report is intended for the exclusive use of the clients of the
issuer and others to whom the issuer has expressly granted consent.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
CES International, Inc. and Subsidiary
Alpharetta, Georgia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of CES International, Inc. and Subsidiary
as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders'
deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements do not include the balance sheet or the statements of
operations, changes in stockholder's deficit, and cash flows of one of its wholly owned subsidiaries,
Enermetrix.com, Inc. In our opinion, consolidation of the balance sheet, statements of operations,
changes in stockholder's deficit, and cash flows of this wholly owned subsidiary is required to conform

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, except for the omission of the information discussed in the preceding paragraph, the
consolidated financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of CES International, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2003, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for the yearthen ended in conformity with U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company
will continue as a going concern As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the Company's
significant operating losses raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of
this uncertainty.

June 10, 2004
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CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31, 2003
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,268,417
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $707,571 2,163,172
Unbilled receivables 343,614
Prepaid expenses 482,071
Total current assets 4,257,274
Property and equipment, net 841,120
Investment in wholly-owned subsidiary 3,301,778
Total Assets $ 8.400.172
Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficit
Current liabilities:
Current portion of capital lease obligations $ 135,122
Accounts payable 1,320,368
Current portion of accrued liabilities 1,660,266
Notes payable to stockholders 4,219,747
Current portion of deferred revenue 7,031,053
Total current liabilities 14,366,556
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 21,030
Accrued liabilities, net of current portion 82,661
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 1,296,493
Due to wholly-owned subsidiary 3,706,207
Deferred rent 44,645
Total liabilities 19,517,592
Commitments -
Stockholders' deficit:
Convertible preferred stock:
Series E, $.01 par value; 3,200,000 shares authorized, 2,588,677 shares issued and outstanding 25,887
Series A, $.01 par value; 10,678 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding 107
Series A-1, $.01 par value; 9,788 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding 98
Series C, $.01 par value; 2,054,864 shares authorized, 1,233,022 shares issued and outstanding 12,330
Series D, $.01 par value; 283,425 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding 2,834
Common stock, $.01 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized 5,420,091 shares issued and outstanding 54,201
Additional paid-in capital 38,113,162
Accumulated deficit (49,306,528)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (19,511)
Total stockholders' deficit (11,117,420)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit 8,400,172

FILE NO.

82 - 34708

D
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Revenue:
Software license revenue $ 3,188,073
Service and support revenue 8,827,086
Total revenue 12,015,159
Expenses:
Cost of software license revenue 221,572
Cost of service and support revenue 5,265,864
Sales and marketing 2,372,802
Research and development 2,432,927
General and administrative 3,569,617
Total expenses 13,862,782
Loss from operations (1,847,623)
Other income (expense):
Interest income 1,334
Interest expense (1,106,105)
Other income 11,782
Other expense (3,062)
Gain on vendor settlement 19,654
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (3,650)
Investment loss from wholly-owned subsidiary (65,840)

(1,145,887)

Net loss (2,993,510)
Other comprehensive loss -
Foreign currency translation (19,511)

Comprehensive loss $ (3,013,021)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FILE NO.
CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY [82- 34708

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $  (2,993,510)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: '

Depreciation and amortization 859,646
Interest expense from warrants 595,434
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 3,650
Bad debt recoveries (11,970)
Other comprehensive loss (19,511)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,732,175
Unbilled receivables (60,148)
Prepaid expenses 715,094
Accounts payable (664,448)
Accrued liabilities (326,388)
Deferred revenue (304,978)
Deferred rent 44,645
Due to wholly-owned subsidiary (123,770)
Net cash used in operating activities (554,579)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment ! (33,781)
Investment in wholly-owned subsidiary 53,364
Net cash provided by investing activities 19,583
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 25
Proceeds from notes payable to stockholders 2,312,324
Principal payments on capital leases (224,570)
Payments on line of credit (827,298)
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,260,481
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 725,485
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 542,932
$ 1268417

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY |82- 34708

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows - Continued

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest 3 34,032

Cash paid during the year for income taxes

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities:

During 2003, the Company disposed of property and equipment with a cost of $327,912 and
accumulated depreciation of $324,263.

During 2003, the Company issued Series E convertible preferred stock warrants with a value of
$576,432.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 82- 34708

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

Note 1 - Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies:

Description of business

On May9, 2001, Configured Energy Systems, Inc. reincorporated in Delaware from
Minnesota and became CES International, Inc. (CES). CES provides real-time software
solutions, implementation, and support services focused on improving infrastructure reliability
and customer service to companies with distributed networks. To date, CES has focused its
efforts in the electric utility market. CES considers its business activities as a single segment.

On June 18, 2001, CES International Pty, Limited was incorporated in Sydney, Australia to
expand CES' services in Australia and New Zealand.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated balance sheet of CES International, Inc. and Subsidiary (the Company) as of
December 31, 2003, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’
deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 are consolidated and consist
solely of the financial statements of CES International, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary
CES International Pty, Limited. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated as part of the consolidation.

The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, and the consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders' deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended do not
include the balance sheet, statements of operations, changes in stockholder's deficit, and cash
flows of CES' wholly owned subsidiary Enermetrix.com, Inc. (Enermetrix). If the financial
statements of Enermetrix were included in the consolidated financial statements, they could
influence the reader's judgment as to the financial position of the Company.

Receivables and credit policies

Accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms

requiring payment within thirty days from the invoice date, depending upon the contract
terms. No interest is charged on accounts receivable not paid according to terms.

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to the customer. Customer account
balances not paid within contract terms are considered delinquent. Payments on accounts
receivable are allocated to the specific invoices identified on the customers remittance advice

or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid invoices.

Page 9
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CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 1 - Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies - continued:;

Receivables and credit policies - continued

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding
balances. Management individually reviews all accounts receivable balances that exceed
contract terms and based on an assessment of current creditworthiness, estimates the portion,
if any, of the balance that will not be collected. Management provides for probable
uncoliectible amounts through an allowance for doubtful accounts. At December 31, 2003,
the allowance for doubtful accounts was $707,571.

Cash equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the Company considers all highly liquid
debt instruments, including short-term investments purchased with a maturity of three months

or less, to be cash equivalents.

Use of estimates in the preparation of consolidated financial statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment, including software purchased for internal use, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the straight- line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three to seven years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the estimated life of the related asset or the lease term,

whichever is less, on a straight-line basis.

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 1 - Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 109 (SFAS No. 109), "Accounting for Income Taxes." Under SFAS No. 109, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under SFAS No. 109, the effect on the
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in incomie in the period
that includes the enactment date.

Revenue recognition

The Company generates revenue from licensing its software products, providing related
services for implementation consulting and support. The Company follows the provisions of
Statement of Position No. 97-2 (SOP No. 97-2), "Software Revenue Recognition”, as
amended by Statement of Position No. 98-9 (SOP No. 98-9), "Modification of SOP 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactions."

Under SOP No. 97-2, if the license agreement does not provide for significant customization
of or enhancements to the software, software license revenue is recognized when a license
agreement is executed, the product has been delivered, all significant obligations are fulfilled,
the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is probable. For those license agreements where
customer acceptance is required and it is not probable, license revenue is recognized when the
software has been accepted. For those license agreements where the licensee requires
significant enhancements or customization to adapt the software to the unique specifications
of the customer or the service elements of the arrangement are considered essential to the
functionality of the software products, both the license revenue and services revenue are
recognized using contract accounting. If acceptance of the software and related software
services is probable, the percentage of completion method is used to recognize revenue for
those types of license and service agreements, where progress towards completion is measured
by comparing software services hours incurred to estimated total hours for each software and
services arrangement. Substantially all of the license and services revenue from the
Company's fixed price contracts have been recognized using the contract accounting
percentage of completion method. If acceptance of the software and related software services
is not probable, then the completed contract method is used and license revenue is recognized
only when the Company's obligations under the license agreement are completed and the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 1 - Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Revenue recognition - continued

software has been accepted. Accordingly, for these contracts, payments received and software
license costs are deferred until the Company's obligations under the license agreement are
completed. Anticipated losses, if any, on uncompleted contracts are recognized in the period in
which such losses are determined.

Maintenance and support revenue associated with new product licenses and renewals is
deferred and recognized ratably over the contract period, which is typically 12 to 36 months.
For time and material contracts for services, where the services do not significantly modify the
licensed products and are not essential to their functionality, and payment obligations for the
licensed products are not dependent upon the performance of the services, service revenue is

recognized as such services are performed.

Cost of service revenue consists primarily of salaries, benefits, and allocated costs related to
providing such services.

The Company has relationships with a number of third-party distributors to market and
distribute its products worldwide. Under such arrangements, the distributors report

information to, are invoiced by, and remit payments to the Company based on transactions
with the ultimate customer. The Company records license revenue and service revenue based

upon transactions reported to the Company.

The Company provides a warranty that its products are free from defects. Estimated sales returns
and provisions for msignificant vendor obligations and estimated warranty costs have not been

material and are recorded as incurred.

Research and development

Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 86 (SFAS No. 86), "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed", requires capitalization of certain software
development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on the
Company's product development process, technological feasibility is established upon
completion of a working model. Historically, the period between achieving technological
feasibility and general availability of such software has been short and software development
costs qualifying for capitalization have been immaterial. Accordingly, the Company has not

capitalized any software development costs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 1 - Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Stock-based compensation

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS No. 123), "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation",

but applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB No. 25) and related
interpretations in accounting for its stock plans. Under APB No. 25, when the exercise price

of an employee stock option equals the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant,
no compensation expense is recognized.

Note 2 - Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue consists of the following at December 31, 2003:

Current:

Software license revenue $ 1,571,013
Service and support revenue 5,460,040
7,031,053

Long-term - service and support revenue 1,296,493

Total deferred revenue $ 8,327,546

Deferred service and support revenues consist primarily of prepayments by our customers
related to: (1) maintenance contract revenue, which is recognized ratably over the contractual
period; (2) time and material professional service contract revenue, which is generally
recognized as the services are rendered; and (3) fixed price professional services contract
revenue, which is generally recognized on the percentage of completion basis.
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Note 3 - Property and equipment:

Property and equipment at December 31, 2003 is as follows:

Equipment

Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Purchased software

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment - net

Note 4 - Notes pavable to stockholders:

$2,132,018
1,075,916
326,419

861,497

4,395,850
(3,554,730)

$ 841,120

During 2003, the Company had borrowings under multiple notes payable from various
stockholders totaling $2,312,324. The notes payable accrue interest at an interest rate of 15%,
compounded annually. The notes payable are unsecured and are due on demand. At
December 31, 2003, amounts outstanding under the notes payable to stockholders, net of
unamortized discount of $361,376, totaled $4,219,747 plus accrued interest of $510,068.

In conjunction with the borrowings from its stockholders, during 2003 the Company issued
warrants to purchase a total of 191,419 shares of its Series E convertible participating preferred
stock at $.01 per share. A total of $595,434 in interest expense was recorded by the Company
in 2003 in conjunction with the issuance of these warrants and warrants issued in previous

years.

Note 5 - Concentration of credit risk information:

The following is a summary of net sales by geographic location:

United States
Australia

New Zealand
Ireland

United Kingdom
Bermuda

Canada
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003 :

Note 5 - Concentration of credit risk information - continued:

Net property and equipment of approximately $9,800 is located in Australia. The remaining
long-lived assets of the Company are located in the United States.

The Company provides products and services among customers in the same industry. This
concentration of customers in the same industry creates a concentration of credit risk with
respect to accounts receivables. The Company generally does not require collateral for
accounts receivable. The Company considers concentrations of credit risk in establishing the
allowance for doubtful accounts and believes the recorded amount is adequate. Historically,
the Company has not experienced significant losses related to receivables from individual

customers.

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposits that, at times, may exceed federally-insured
limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company
believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

Note 6 - Major customer:

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company had revenues from one customer
totaling approximately $2,100,000 or 17% of revenues. The Company had receivables due
from this customer of approximately $680,000 or 24% of accounts receivable at December 31,

2003.

Note 7 - Major vendor:

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company obtained services from one vendor
totaling approximately $818,037 or 16% of the cost of revenues. The Company had accounts
payable due to this vendor of approximately $600,000 or 45% of accounts payable at

December 31, 2003.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 8 - Equity:

Series E Convertible Preferred Stock

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, holders of shares
of Series E shall be entitled to an amount equal to $2.98144 per share plus all declared but
unpaid dividends. The Series E liquidation preference is superior to, and paid prior to,
liquidation preferences for all of the other existing classes of preferred stock. After payment
of this preference amount, then remaining assets and funds of the Company legally available
for distribution shall be distributed among the holders of the then outstanding preferred stock
pro rata, in proportion to the full amount each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive for
their respective liquidation preferences, then among the holders of the then outstanding capital
stock pro rata (assuming conversion of all preferred stock into common stock), in proportion
to the full amount each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive. -

Holders of Series E are entitled to such number of votes equal to the number of shares of
common stock into which such shares of Series E are convertible. Series E votes together
with common stockholders except as otherwise required by law, the Company's Articles of
Incorporation and Bylaws, and the Stockholders' Agreement.

Each holder of preferred stock may at any time convert any or all of such preferred stock into
fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock at the applicable conversion price.
Each share of Series E shall be convertible into the number of shares of common stock that
results from dividing $3.01832 by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion.
The conversion ratio is subject to adjustment as defined for certain dilutive events. Each share
- of Series E shall be converted into common stock automatically upon the closing of a firm
commitment underwritten public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement with
the Securities and Exchange Commission of at least $30,000,000.

Holders of Series E are entitled to receive dividends pro rata with the holders of shares of
common stock. Dividends on each share of Series E are payable in cash or shares of common
stock and only if declared by the Company's board of directors and are not cumulative. No
dividends were declared or unpaid at December 31, 2003.

Series A and A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, holders of shares
of Series A and A-1 shall be entitled to, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of
the assets of the Company to the holders of common stock, an amount equal to $374.60 per
share of Series A and $561.90 per share of Series A-1, plus all declared but unpaid dividends.
After payment of this preference amount and preference amounts to other series of preferred

Page 16



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

CES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

December 31, 2003

Note 8 - Equity - continued:

Series A and A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock - continued

stock, remaining assets and funds of the Company legally available for distribution shall be
distributed among the holders of the then outstanding capital stock pro rata (assuming

conversion of all preferred stock into common stock), in proportion to the full amount each
such holder is otherwise entitled to receive. Series A and A-1 shall rank in liquidation on parity

with Series C and D.

The holders of the Company's Series A-1 convertible preferred stock are entitled to such
number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which such shares of
Series A are convertible. Series A vote together with common stockholders except as
otherwise required by law, the Company's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and the
Stockholders' Agreement. Holders of Series A-1 do not have voting rights for their shares
except as provided by applicable law. :

Each holder of preferred stock may at any time, convert any or all of such preferred stock into
fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock at the applicable conversion price. Each
share of Series A shall be convertible into the number of shares of common stock that results
from dividing $374.60 by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. Each share
of Series A-1 shall be convertible into the number of shares of common stock that results from
dividing $561.90 by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. The conversion
ratio is subject to adjustment as defined for certain dilutive events. In addition, each share of
preferred stock shall automatically be converted into common stock at the then effective
conversion price in the event that holders of a majority of the shares consent to such conversion, or
upon the closing of an underwritten public offering with aggregate offering proceeds of at least
$30,000,000.

Holders of Series A and A-1 are entitled to receive dividends pro rata with the holders of
shares of common stock. Dividends on each share of Series A and A-1 are payable in cash or
shares of common stock and only if declared by the Company’s board of directors and are not
cumulative. No dividends were declared or unpaid at December 31, 2003.

Series C and Series D Convertible Preferred Stock

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, holders of shares
of Series C and D shall be entitled to, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the
assets of the Company to the holders of common stock, an amount equal to $9.73 per share of
Series C and $7.06 per share of Series D, plus all declared but unpaid dividends on such shares.
After payment of this preference amount and preference amounts to other series of preferred stock,
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December 31, 2003

Note 8 - Equity - continued;

Series C and Series D Convertible Preferred Stock - continued

remaining assets and funds of the Company legally available for distribution shall be distributed
among the holders of the then outstanding capital stock pro rata (assuming conversion of all
preferred stock into common stock), in proportion to the full amount each such holder is otherwise
entitled to receive. Series C and D shall rank in liquidation on a parity with the classes of

Series A and A-1.

Each holder of preferred stock may at any time, convert any or all of such preferred stock into fully
paid and non-assessable shares of common stock at the applicable conversion price. Each share of
Series C shall be convertible into the number of shares of common stock that results from dividing
$9.73 by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. Each share of Series D shall be
convertible into the number of shares of common stock that results from dividing $7.057 by the
conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. The conversion ratio is subject to adjustment as
defined for certain dilutive events. In addition, each share of preferred stock shall automatically be
converted into common stock at the then effective conversion price in the event that holders of a
majority of the shares consent to such conversion, or upon the closing of an underwritten public
offering with aggregate offering proceeds of at least $30,000,000.

Holders of Series C and D are entitled to such number of votes equal to the number of shares
of common stock into which such shares of Series C and D are convertible. Series C and D
vote together with common stockholders except as otherwise required by law, the Company's
Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and the Stockholders’ Agreement.

Holders of Series C and D are entitled to receive dividends pro rata with the holders of shares
of common stock. Dividends on each share of Series C and D are payable in cash or shares of
common stock and only if declared by the Company's board of directors and are not cumulative.

No dividends were declared or unpaid at December 31, 2003.

Equity in escrow

During 2001, the Company purchased Enermetrix.com, Inc. As a part of the acquisition, an
aggregate value of $750,000 in Series E Convertible Participating Preferred Stock of the
purchase price was held in escrow pending a post closing adjustment period, and to offset
potential unrecorded liabilities per the terms of the purchase agreement. As of the date of this
report, the escrow agent continued to hold 248,483 shares of the Series E Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock in escrow pending negotiation of such adjustments.
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December 31, 2003

Note 9 - Income taxes:

At December 31, 2003, the Company had net deferred income tax assets of $0. The principal
type of temporary differences between assets and liabilities for financial statement and income
tax reporting purposes relates to differences resulting from depreciation, the allowance for
doubtful accounts, deferred revenues, accrued liabilities, and net operating loss carryforwards.

The Company's effective income tax rate varies from what would be expected if the federal
and state statutory rates were applied to income primarily because of the change in the
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.

Deferred taxes at December 31, 2003 include the following components:

Current Non-current

Federal:
Deferred income tax assets $3,036,714 $13,601,430
Deferred income tax liabilities (279,939) -
Valuation allowance (2,756,775)  (13,601,430)
Net deferred income tax assets $ - $ -
State:
Deferred income tax assets $ 172,622 § 773,175
Deferred income tax liabilities (15,913) -
Valuation allowance (156,709) (773,175)
Net deferred income tax assets $ - $ -

The net change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2003 was an
increase of $991,714. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based
upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the
periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management has provided a full
valuation allowance for the Company's deferred tax assets at December 31, 2003.
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December 31, 2003

Note 9 - Income taxes - continued:

At December 31, 2003, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward for Federal
income tax purposes of approximately $38,600,000, which is available to offset future taxable

income of the Company. This net operating loss carryforward will expire at various dates
through 2023 if it is not used to offset future taxable income of the Company.

Note 10 - Stock options:

The Company's Stock Option Plan (the Plan) provides for stock options to be granted to
employees, consultants, independent contractors, officers, and directors. A committee of the
board of directors establishes certain provisions of the options and estimates the fair value of
the common shares underlying the options by assessing the business progress of the Company as
well as other external factors. All options are granted at the discretion of the Company's board of
directors, with the term determined by the board of directors. Stock options have a term not greater
than ten years from the date of grant. Options generally vest over a period of four years with 25%
at the end of the first year, then 6.25% per quarter until fully vested, and are exercisable upon
vesting. In the case of certain change of control events, as defined in the Plan, all outstanding
options will become immediately exercisable. In the event of termination of employment by an
option holder, vesting of all non-vested options will cease. The terminated employee has the
option of exercising their vested options within ninety days of termination. All unexercised
options are cancelled at the end of the three month period. No options were granted during
2003.

A summary of stock option activity under the Plan is as follows:

Weighted

Plan Non-plan Exercise
Options Options Price

Outstanding Outstanding  Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2002 808,693 75,000 $223
Options exercised 6 - $5.00
Options cancelled (120,569) (75,0000  $231
Balance at December 31, 2003 688,119 - $1.97
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Note 10 - Stock options - continued:

The following table summarizes information concerning shares outstanding under the Plan as

of December 31, 2003:
Weighted-
Average Approximate Exercisable
Range of Contractual Weighted- as of
Shares Approximate Remaining Average December 31,
Outstanding Exercise Prices Life (In Years) Exercise Price 2003
305,893 $ 42-1.70 5.11 $0.91 296,018
382,226 2.00 - 5.00 8.01 2.81 159,751
688,119 $042-5.00 6.72 $1.97 455,769

The Company applies APB No. 25 in accounting for its Plan and, accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements
because all options granted under the Plan were granted with exercise prices at or above fair
market value at the grant date. The Company did not grant stock options during 2003.
Therefore, there is no difference between net income reported under APB 25 and SFAS

No. 123.

Note 11 - Commitments:

Leases

The Company is obligated under various capital leases for certain computer and office
equipment that expire at various dates through 2006. At December 31, 2003, the amount of
equipment and related accumulated amortization recorded under capital leases was as follows:

Computer and office equipment $ 220,652
Less: accumulated amortization (156,047)
$ 64,605

Amortization of assets held under capital leases is included with depreciation expenSe.
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Note 11 - Commitments - continued:

Leases - continued

The Company also has non-cancelable operating leases, for office space, that expire at various
times through 2006. The leases generally contain renewal options for periods ranging from
three to five years. The Company also subleases a portion of its Atlanta office space for
$1,000 per month through a month-to-month sub-lease. Rental expense, net of rental income
of approximately $12,000 from subleases, for operating leases during 2003 was approximately

$934,000.

During 2003, the Company closed its office in Australia and negotiated a lease buy-out with
the landlord for a payment of approximately U.S. $19,000.

The Company amended the Atlanta office facilities lease during 2002. As a provision of the
amendment, the Company paid approximately $586,000 to the landlord in exchange for a
significant reduction in the amount of monthly payments throughout the remainder of the
lease. The total rent due remained the same. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The liability "Deferred rent" represents the cumulative difference
between rent expense recognized on the straight-line basis and actual rent paid.

A summary of deferred rent at December 31, 2003 is as follows:

Rental expense recognized on a straight-line basis '
since the amendment of the lease $ 1,230,304

Rents paid since the amendment of the lease (1,185,659)
Deferred rent $ 44645
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Note 11 - Commitments - continued:

Leases - continued

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases (with initial or
remaining lease terms in excess of one year) and future minimum capital lease payments as of

December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Year ending December 31:
2004 $ 144,463 $ 340,805
2005 18,983 336,396
2006 3,774 1,023,702
Total minimum lease payments 167,220 $ 1,700,903
Less: Amount representing interest (at rates of 8.58% _
through 14.49%) (11,068)
Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 156,152

Less: Current installments of obligations under capital leases (135,122)

Obligations under capital leases, excluding current
installments $ 21,030

Note 12 - Employee 401(k) Plan

The Company has a voluntary defined contribution retirement plan qualifying under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The plan covers substantially all fulktime employees.
Employees are eligible on the first day of employment. At its discretion, the Company may
make matching contributions. The Company made no matching contributions during 2003.
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Note 13 - Related party transactions:

A director of the Company is also a director in a company that provides services to the
Company. The Company paid $19,482 to the service provider during 2003.

During 2003, the Company recorded revenue totaling $588,237 from the operating arm of a
utility holding company that is affiliated with a stockholder of the Company.

The Company has a contract with a stockholder to sell one of the Company's products at the
stockholder’s third party company, the operating arm of a utility holding company. The value
of this contract was $150,000, of which $2,098 has been recognized as revenue by the
Company during previous years. During 2003, the Company recognized $147,902 of revenue

related to this contract.

The Company has an agreement with a stockholder to provide consulting services to the
Company. During 2003, the Company recognized $20,000 of consulting expenses related to
this agreement. Additionally, the Company recognized $14,663 of expenses incurred by the
stockholder related to the agreement. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had $23,984

included in accounts payable related to this agreement.

During 2003, the Company guaranteed the payment of certain accounts payable of its wholly-
owned subsidiary Enermetrix.com, Inc. At December 31, 2003, the amount of the obligations

guaranteed totaled approximately $185,000.

Note 14 - Litigation:

During 2002, the Company became a party to a lawsuit brought by one of its customers in a
breach of contract claim. The Company is vigorously defending its position, and has filed a
counterclaim against the party for amounts owed to the Company. The Company does not
believe that the lawsuit has merit, or that the other party will prevail, and accordingly has not
provided any reserve in the accompanying financial statements. All receivables relating to the
customer have been fully reserved at December 31, 2003.

In 2003, the Company became a party to a lawsuit brought by one of its customers in a breach
of contract claim. The Company is vigorously defending its position, and has filed a
counterclaim against the other party for amounts owed to the Company. The Company does
not believe that the lawsuit has merit, or that the other party will prevail, and accordingly has
not provided any reserve in the accompanying financial statements. All receivables relating to

the customer have been fully reserved at December 31, 2003.
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Note 14 - Litigation - continued:

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is party to various other legal actions, which
it believes are incidental to the operation of its business. The Company believes that the
outcome of the proceedings to which it is currently a party will not have a material adverse
effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Note 15 - Subsequent events:

In May 2004, the Company's entered into a promissory note with several of its stockholders to
borrow up to $1,000,000 to meet the Company's working capital needs. The loans are
collateralized by all assets of the Company and bear interest at an annual rate of 14%. The
notes require repayment of the advanced amounts plus accrued interest on the earlier of (1) the
earlier of July 15, 2004 or termination of the asset purchase agreement governing the
transaction described below in connection with either a demand for repayment or an
acceleration declaration due to breach of the note purchase agreement; (2) a consolidation or
merger with another Company whereby the Company's stockholders of record immediately
prior to such consolidation or merger hold less than 50% of the outstanding voting stock of the
surviving entity after such consolidation or merger; (3) a sale or transfer of greater than 50%
of the outstanding voting stock of the Company to a person or persons different from the
persons holding such stock immediately prior to such sale or transfer; or (4) a sale of all,
substantially all, or a material portion of the Company's properties and assets to another
person or entity, including the contemplated sale of certain assets and liabilities to a third
party. In the case of subsection 4 above, an amount equal to three times the outstanding
principal amount of the note, plus accrued interest, shall be due and payable upon the closing

date of the transaction.

On May 12, 2004, the Company received advances totaling $602,000 related to the above
promissory note. On June 9, 2004, the Company received advances totaling $398,000 related

to the above promissory note.

In April 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to sell substantially all of its assets to
SPL WorldGroup, Inc. for approximately $15,250,000, subject to certain purchase price
adjustments as defined in the asset purchase agreement. Of the purchase price, $3,000,000
will be held in escrow for approximately one year to satisfy indemnification claims. If the
transaction closes, the Company plans to pay off all liabilities and distribute any remaining
funds to stockholders. As of the date of this report, June 10, 2004, the transaction had not

closed.
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Note 16 - Going concern:

The Company's ability to continue as a going concem is contingent upon the successful
completion of the sale of certain assets and liabilities mentioned in Note 15. There is no
commitment by the stockholders to fund the operations of the Company outside of the
$1,000,000 of funding mentioned in Note 15. There is reasonable doubt as to whether the
Company will be able to obtain additional financing from the stockholders or any other third
parties due to its lack ofability to achieve profitable operations. Additionally, the Company
has added no new customers since September 2002, but continues to service the existing
customers and contracts in place prior to that date. In addition, the Company terminated a

significant portion of its work force during 2003 and 2002.

These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might arise

from this uncertainty.

Page 26
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FILE NO.

82- 34708

Accounlants’ Review Report

The Board of Direclors
Synergen, Inc.

We have reviewed the accompanymg balance sheets of Sypergen, Inc. as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, and the related stalements of income and re!amed.éammgs, and cash flows for the years then
‘éided, in accordance with Statements on Standards fof A@gﬁﬁlmg and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountints. Allziformation included in these financial
statements is the representation of the managemcm a[ Synergen., Inc.

A review consists pnm::pally of inquinies. of Comgany personnel and analytical procedures applied
1o financial data. It is substantially less in sgope 1 thah ar audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepied in the United Stales of% Mg:wa, the objective of which is the expression of an
-0pmxon regarding the financial statmld)mmken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an
bpinion.

- Based on our review, we are Bl iwm of any material modifications that shovld be made to the

accompanying financial statenttents in order for them to be in conformity with accounting principles
‘generally accepted in the United States of America.

Centified Public Accountants

Februvary 19, 2004




FILE NO.

182- 34708
SYNERGEN, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2003 and 2002
2003 2002
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,749,108 3 1,190,053
Accounts receivable, net . 2,302,407 1,622,349
Prepaid expenses and other current assels 101,301 83,253
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,152,816 2,895,635
Fixcd assets 327,633 374,399
Deposits 29,689 21,440
‘Other assets 16,341 16,065
[y
=8 6838179 $ 3,307,559
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUI'_I'Y

Accounts payable . S 590236 S 238410
Accrued liabilities 913,624 600,588
Deferred revenue 2,494 740 1,084,792
Customer deposits 8338 838

Dividends payable 475,000 -
Income tax hability 5,867 8,367
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,480,305 1,932,995

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
’ Common stock, 20,000,000 shares authorized, .

10,000,000 shares issued and outstanding 50,000 50,000
Additional paid-in capital 25,067 25,067
Retained eamings ‘ 1,973,107 1.299,497
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 2,046,174 1,374,564

$ 6,526,479 $§ 3307,559

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
and accountants’ review repori.
. _2_
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SYNERGEN, INC.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

REVENLUJES
COST OF REVENUES
Professional services
GROSS MARGIN
OPERATING EXPENSES
Product development
Sales and markeling
General and administrative
TOTAL OPEMNNG EXPENSES
NET OPERATING INCOME
Interest expense
Interest and dividend income
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Income lax provision
NET INCOME

RETAINED EARNINGS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Dividends
RETAINED EARNINGS, END OF YEAR

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

FILE NO.
82 - 34708

2003 2002
$ 11911938  $ 8732852
4,783,441 3,632,159
7,128,457 5,100,693
2,701,954 2,805,160
2,073,575 1,637,704
1,174,070 596,002
5,953:599 5,038,866
1,174,898 61.827
(1 (44,746)
11,723 21,635
1.186,610 38,716
1,186,610 38,716
1,299,497 1,260,781
(515,000) S
$ 1971107 5 1299497

and accountants’ review report.

-3



FILE NO,

82- 34708
SYNERGEN, INC.,
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net lncome ’ $1,186610 § 38,716
Adjustments to reconcile net income lo net cash
provided by operating aclivities:
" Depreciation and amortization 144,856 173,999
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable (680,058) 33,573
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (18,048) (6,731)
Other assets (8,525) (422)
Increase (decrease) in: '
Accounts payable 351,827 91,115
Accrued liabilities 313,035 57,142
Income taxes payable (2,500) 8367
. Deferred revenue 1,409,948 262,349
o3 Customer deposits - 838
oy Deferred reat - (418)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY O?ERA'HNG ACTIVITIES 2,697,145 659,128
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING A€TIVIBIES:
Cash payments for the purchase of fixed assets (98,050) (283,380)
NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (98,090) {283,380)
TASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
_Cash proceeds from notes payable - 29,400
Payments to sharcholders {40,000) -
Payments on notes payable - (634,400)
Principal payments against capital lease obligations - (3,332)
NET CASH USED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (40,000) (608,332)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 2,559,(555 {232,584)
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,190,053 1,422,637
' CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR _$ 3,749,108 $ 1,150,053

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

and accountants' review report.
-4-
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FILE NO.
82 - 34708

SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2003 and 2002

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Generat

Syrerpen, Inc. (the “"Company”) develops and markets a comprehensive Enterprise Asset Management
solution to streamline the operations, and improve the productivity, of plants and facilities in diverse
industries inchuding petroleum, chemicals, energy, mining and metals, water treatment, food
processing, manufacturing, pulp and paper, education, and transportation. Based on clfenlfsq;ver and
web technology, the system tracks various aspects of ils customers’ operations including resources,
maintenance, purchasing, inventory, contmct services, accounting, regorts and ana!ys:s, project
tracking and documents. .

The Company sells its product primarily in North America and substantially all of the Company’s
revenues are derived from sales of a single product and from related services.

Cash

The Company maintains its bank accounts with three majorﬁmncxa}muumons located within the San
Francisco Bay Area, one of which is a brokerage company” “Fhe balance of cash held in the brokerage
accounts, as of December 31, 2003  and 2002, tota}%_gpb@JSlJ?S and $1,172,482, respectively, and is
insured by the Security Investars Protection Corporatiofi (SIPC). At December 31, 2002, there was a
minimum balance of $3,000 required at pnie of the banks in order for payments on certain capital lease
cbligations to be automatically deducted frqriy the account.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue recognitipn policy is in compliance with the provisions of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recogmuon License revenue'is eamed upon the delivery of the core work management software and
is recognized upon acceplance by.the customer. Support and maintenance revenue rcprwems amounts
earned for the support and maintenance of software ficensed by customers, and revenue is recognized
over the life of the agreement.

Professional services revenue represenis amounts earned in the configuration of the core technology to
meet the customers’ specific requirements. Troining revenue represents amounts eamed in the
individuval training of users of the software. These types of revenue are billed on a fixed fee basis, lime
and material basis, or a combination thereof. Fixed feec arrangements are recognized under the
percentage-of-completion method based on the relationship of costs or time incuired to date !o -lotal

anticipated project costs. '

‘Deferred revenue generally results from the uneamed revenue from support and maintenance contractsv

which have been invoiced at the begmnmg of their coverage periods.

See accountanls’ review report
-5-
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FILE NO.

82 - 34708.

SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31. 2003 and 2002
NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fixed Assets

Pkopeny and e¢quipment are carried at cost. Expenditures for property and equipment over $500 are

capitalized. The Company provides for depreciatian of assets aver their estimated useful lives of four

(4) to seven (7) years on a straight-line basis.

- Computer Software Development Costs

Computer software development costs, reported ds product development costs in the statement of

Jincome, incurred before and after technical feasibility is reached-are expensed-as research and

development costs. Cosls incurred afier technical feasibility is estiblished but before the software is
released to customers are capitalized. As of December 31, 2003, énd2002 there have been no material

" capitalized software costs.

Mhiot Customers

For the year ended December 31, 2003, sales to three custoners.accounted forty-seven percent {47%)
of the Company’s revenne. Sales to two customers accounted for thirty-four percent (34%) of the

Company's revenue at December 31, 2002,

Income Taxes

As of January 1, 2001, the Company, vailrthe consent of its shareholders, elected § cbrporabon status.
In Jiew of federal corporation income taxes, the shareholders are taxed on the Company's taxable
mcome. Therefore, no liability, ﬁ%’ftﬁdﬂal income taxes has been inchaded in the financial statements at
December 31, 2003. Cahfortd'k‘-assbsseé tax to S corporations at a reduced rate. The state of Arizona,

Hawaii and Maine do not assess’ moome taxes. Connecticut, Georgia, Minnesota, New York, Oregon,
Obio, and Tenmessee access incomie taxes at the corporate income tax rate applicable in those states.
Deferred state 1axes are provided for temporary differences between financial statement and income tax

rcponmg. There were no matcnal deferred tax amounts at December 31, 2003 and 2002

.Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all bighly liguid debt instruments

with maturities of three (3) months or less to be cash equivalents.

See accountants’ review report
. - 6 -
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FILE NO.
82- 34708

SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2003 and 2002

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Adventising
- The Company expenses advertising costs as incumred. Advertising expenses for the years ended

" December 11, 2003 and 2002 totaled §152,606 and $128,890, respectively.
’ Pervasivencss of Estimates.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assomptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results eonld differ from those estimates.

NOTE B~ ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable represents amounts billed for prgdiigts and services that have not yet been
collected. The Company uses the reserve for bad-debis m%d of valuing doubtful accounts réceivable
which is based on a review of the outstanding balances, historical experience, and existing economic
conditions. Accounts receivable are shown net of £:§20,000 allowance for doubtfu] accounts for 2003
and 2002, The Company does not require collateral on accounts receivable. Delinquent receivables are
written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific circumstances of the customer.

Accounts receivable consists of the follewing: 2003 2002
Accounts receivable - billsg.y $1,692,281 $1,266,258
Accounts receivable — ufibilicd 630,126 376,091

2322407 1,642,349
~ Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (20,000) (20,000)
 $2,302,407 $1,622,349

NOTE C - FIXED ASSETS

Propeny and equipment is sammarized as follows: 2003 2002

. Computers and equipment $ 1,168,756 $ 7242713

Office fumiture and fixtures 184,800 179,570

_ Leasehold improvements 173320 170,120

- Equipment under capital Jeases - 359,677

o _ 1,526,876 1,433,640
Lcés acainmulated depreciation (1,199,243) (1,059,241)
L ] $ 327633 $ 373399

See accountants’ review report
-1-
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82 - 34708

SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO TRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31. 2003 and 2002

NOTE D - LINE OF CREDIT

In January 2002, the Company was able to transfer the balance of $605,000 to a loan agreement with the
bank. secured by the Company's assets. The loan was due in three (3) equal monthly payments of

‘§16,806 plous interesi, with a balloon payment due in June 2002 for the remaining balance. Jnterest was
incuryed at the bank’s prime rate plus five and one-half percent (5.5%) per annum.  The initfaj rate of the

loan was ten and one-quarter percent (10.25%). In July 2002, the Company entered into a $608;000 line
of credit with a bank. Interest is incurred at the prime rate plus 1.875%, and is payable montlﬁy This
fine expires on August 10, 2004. At December 31, 2003, no amount was outstanding on this line of

credit.

NOTE E - COMMITMENTS

The Company leases ils office facilities and certain computer eqaipment under non-cancelable lease
apreements which require the Company to pay operating costs, including. property laxes, insurance, and
maintenance. The Company’s facilities feases are secured by personal guarantces made by the owners.
Future minimum renta) payments reguired under opmtmg’dmscs with remaining non-cancelable lease
terms in excess of one year, are as follows:

For the year ending December 31, 2004 $ 673,769
2005 690,486
2006 707,581
2007 180,084

$ 2251920

The facilities leases also contain certain renewal options. Tofal rent and utilities expense for all
operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $675,154 and $536,941,

respectively.
The Company also leased centain equipment under non-cancelable capital lease agreements, for which

the feasc term ended in 2002. At December 31, 2002, the.cost and zecumulated depreciation was
$359.677 and $349, 766 respectively. The depreciation expense for the year ended 2002 totaled

- $49.031..

Sec accountants’ review report
-8-
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FILE NO.

82- 34708

. SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2003 and 2002

- NOTE F - EQUITY APPRECIATION RIGHTS

) T'he Company has adopted a discretionary incentive plan allowing up to 2,000,000 units of Equity

Appreciation Rights (The Equity Plan) to be awarded to valued employees subject to continued
employmem and a five year vesting term. The basis value of each Equity Unit is equivalent lo the value
of one share of common stock at the efiective date of award. Since the Company is privately held and
there is no readily available value for its common stock, the per share value of the Company’s.common
stock is determined as net owners’ equity divided by total outstanding common shares. The pm”mons
of the Equity Plan allow the Company lo repurchase the vested Eqmty Units at any Ume at the
appieciated value as of the prior year end (the difference between the prior. year end value and the basis
value). . Upon repurchase, the Equity Unils are made available for future awards. Al December 31,

- 2003, a 1otal of $1,460,500 Equily Units were granted, of which 1,323,300 Equity Units were vested,
" with a total estimate value of $171,500. No Equity Units wese grapted in.2003. At December 31, 2002, 2

total of 1,458,000 Equity Units were pranted, of which 1 ,189,500 Equity Units were vested, with a total
estimated vatue of $71,000. No Equity Units were granted in 2002. :

NOTE G — RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT PLANS

The Cnmp'my has a retirement plan under Section 403}(.&,) of the'Internal Revenue Code. All employees
who are twenty-one (21} years and older are ehgibﬁt'io patticipate in the plan on the first day of the
inonth following one month of service. The Company makes matching contributions equal to fifty
pefcent (50%) of employee contributions, up to six percent (6%) of the employee s compensation. The
Company may also make discretionary contiibutions each year. Contributions for the year ended
Decembcr 31, 2003 and 2002 totaled $ 148,986 and $128, 471, respectively.

The Company also provides a flexible benefit plan to its employees that qualifies as a Section 125
Cafeteria Plan. Under this plan, employm are able to choose among certain benefits that are available
to them in order o obtain an income fax’ savings. Other than administrative costs, the Company does
not pay any amounts towards this plan.

NOTE H- SUPPLEMENT AL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Addmoml information fo the statemenis of cash flows with regard to ceriain cash payments is as

v fo]lows.
2003 2002
Cash paid for:
Interest expense $ 115 44746
Income laxes § 2500 §$ 1,800

See accountants’ review reporl
-9.
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Ac;oumants’ Review Report

The Board of Directors
Synergen, Inc.

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheets of Synergen, Inc. as of December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the related statements of iscome and retained eamings, and cash flows for the years
then ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. All information included in
these financial statements is the representation of the management of Synergen, Inc.

A review consists principally of inquiries of Company personnel and analytical procedures applied
to financial data. It is substantially less in scope than an audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the objective of whick is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not éware of any material modifications that should be made to the
accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with accounting
principles genenally accepted in the United States of America.

Certified Public Accountants

February 20, 2003

201 North Chvic Drive, Suile 180. Walima Creek, CA 94596-8226
Main; (925} 946-0682 Fax: (925) 946-0744  Web: www. LSBCPA.COM




FILE NO.

82- 34708 -
SYNERGEN, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2002 and 2001
2002 2001
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,150,053 $ 1,422,637
Accounls receivable, net 1,622,349 1,655,922
~ Prepaid expenses and other current assets 83253 76521
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,895,655 3,155,080
Fixed assets ’ 374,399 . 265,018
Deposits : 21,440 18,738
Other assets 16,065 18,346
$ 3307559 $ 3,457,182
, LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES |
Accoiints payable ) $ 233410 $ 147295
Accrued liabilities 600,588 542,846
Deferred revenue 1,084,792 322, 443
Custonier deposits 838 -
Note payable - 605,000
Income tax Jabibity 8,367 -
Current portion of deferred rent - 418
Current portion of capital lease obligations - . 3,332
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,932,995 2,121334
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, 20,000,000 shares authorized, . )
i 10,000,000 shares issued and outstanding 50,000 50,000
f Additional paid-in capital ) 25,067 25,067
Retained eanings 1,299,497 1,260,781

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 1,374,564 1,335,848
' $ 3,307,559 $ 3457,182

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
and accountants’ review report.
-2- :




FILE NO.

82- 34708 :
SYNERGEN, INC.
STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
2002 2001
REVENUES $ 8732852 S 7,898,577
COST OF REVENUES
Professional services 3632159 3,236,577
GROSS MARGIN 5,100,693 4,662,000
OPERATING EXPENSES
Product development 2,805,160 2,573,986 _
Sales and marketing 1,637,704 1,064,541 :
General and administrative ' 596,002 875,936
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 5,038,366 4,514,463
NET OPERATING INCOME 61,827 147,537
Interest expense (44,746) ~ (46,762)
Interest and dividend income 21,635 17,061
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 38,716 117,836 :
Income tax provision - {1,100) i
NET INCOME 38,716 116,736
RETAINED EARNINGS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,260,781 1,144,045 L
RETAINED EARNINGS, END OF YEAR $ 1299497 s 1,260,781 ' i

.See accompanying noles to the financial statements
and accountants’ review report.
-3-



FIiLE NO.

82-'34708
SYNERGEN, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
2002 2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income ) $ 38716 $ 116,738
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nel cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 173,999 178,734
{Increase) decrease in: : _
Accounts receivable 33,573 1,659
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (6,731) 224,507
Other assets 422) 256
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 91,115 (37,685)
Accrued habilities . 57,742 111,898
Income taxes payable 8,367 ' -~
Deferred revenue ) 262,349 125,542
Customer deposits 838 (4,865)
Deferred rent 418) (4,267
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 659,128 712,517
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Cash payments for the purchase of fixed assets (283,380) {41,903)
NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (283,330) (d1,903)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: .
Cash proceeds from notes payable 29,400 542,460
Payments on notes payable. (634,400) (197,260)
Principal payments.against capital Jease obligations (3.332) (58,091)
CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (608,332) 287,109
NCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS (232,584) 957,723
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,422,637 464,914
~ CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR _$ 1,190,053 $ 1,422,637

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

and accountants’ review report.
4.
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FILE NO.
82- 34708

SYNERGEN, INC. )
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002 and 2001

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

, General

Synergen, Inc. (the “Company”) develops and markets a comprehensive Enterprise Asset Management
solution to streamline the operations, and improve the productivity, of plants and facilities in diverse
industries inciuding petroleum, chemicals, energy, mining and metals, water treatment, food processing,
manufacturing, pulp and paper, education, and transportation. Based on client/server and web
technology, the system tracks various aspects of its customers’ operations including resources,
maintenance, purchasing, inventory, contract services, accounting, reports and analysis, project tracking
and documents.

The Company sells its product primarily in North America and substantially all of the Company’s
revenues are defived from sales of a single product and from refated services. The company perfonms
ongoing credit evaluations of ils customers and generally does not require collateral. The Company
maintains reserves for credit losses based upon its -estimates and such losses bave not been material.
Actual credit losses may differ from such estimates and such differences could be material to the’

financial statements.

Cash

The Company maintains its bank accounts with three major financial institutions Jocated within the San
Francisco Bay Area, one of which is a brokerage company. The balance of cash held in the brokerage
accounts, as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, totaled $1,172,482 and $1,407,367, respectively, and is
insured by the Security Investors Protection Corporation (SIPC). There is a2 minimum balance of $3,000
required at one of the banks in order for payments on certain capital Jease obhganons to be automatically

deducted from the account.

Reyenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue recognition policy is in compliance with the provisions of the American
- Institute of Certified Public Accountants” Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition.”

Licerise revenue is eamed upon the delivery of the core work management software and is recognized
upon acceptance by the customer. Support and mairitenance revenue repmems arnonnts earned for the
support and maintenance of software licensed by customers, and revenue is recogmzed over the life of

the agyeement.

Professional services revenue Tepresents amounts eamed in the configuration of the core technology to
n:ieet the customers’ specific requirements. Training revenue represents amounts earned-in the individual

training of users of the software. These types of revenue are billed on a fixed fee basis, time and
material basis, or a combination thereof. Fixed fee arrangements are recognized under the percentage-
of-completion method based on the rejationship of costs or ume incurred 1o date to total anhmpated

pro] ject costs.

See accountants’ review report
-5-
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SYNERGEN, INC. .
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002 and 2001

- NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred revenue generally results from the uneamed revenue ffom support and roaintenance contracts
which bave been invoiced at the beginning of their coverage periods.

Fixed Assets

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Expenditures for property and equipment over $500 are
capitalized. The Company provides for depreciation of assets over their estimated useful lives of four

(4) to seven (7) years on a straight-line basis.

Computer Software Developmem Costs

Computer software development costs incurred before and after technical feasibility is reached are
expensed as research and development costs. Costs incurred after technical feasibility is established
but before the software is released to customers are capitalized. As of December 31, 2002, and 2001,
there have been no material capitalized software costs.

jor omers

For the year ended December 31, 2002, sales to two custorers accounted for thirty-four percent
(34%) of the Company’s revenue. Sales 1o two customers accounted for thirty-one percent (31%) of

the Company’s revenue at December 31, 2001.

Income Taxes

As of January 1, 2001, the Company, with the consent of its shareholders, elected S corporation status.
In lien of federal corporation income taxes, the shareholders are taxed on the Company’s taxable
income. Therefore, no Liability for federal income taxes has been included in the financial statements at
December 31,2002 California assesses tax to S corporations at a reduced rate. The state of Ohio does

_ Dot assess income taxes. Minnesota, Oregon, and Hawaii access income taxes at the corporate income

tax rate applicable in those states. Deferred stite taxes are provided for temporary differences between

financial statement ‘and ‘iocome tax reporting. There were no material deferred tax amounts at

December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Cash Equivalents

" For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments

with maturities of three (3) months or less to be cash equivalents.

See accountants’ review report
-6-
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SYNERGEN, INC. )
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002 and 2001

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Pervasiveness of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepled in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reporied amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE B- ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of the following: : 2002 2001
Accounts receivable - billed $1,266,258 $1,142290
Accounts receivable - unbilled 376,091 533,632

1,642,349 1,675,922
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts ‘ (20,000) (20,000)
$1,622,349 $1,655,922

NOTE C- FIXED ASSETS

Property and equip'menl is summarized as follows: 2002 2001

Computers and equipment : $ 724273 $ 611,903
Office famiture and fixtures 179,570 178,680
Leaschold improvements 170,120 -
" Equipment under capital leases 359,677 359,677
1,433,640 1,150,260
Less accumulated depreciation . (1,059,241) (885,242)A
$ 374399 $ 265,018

NOTE D - LINE OF CREDIT

The Company had a 31,000,000 revolving line of credit with a bank to be used for dpexahﬁg'expensw.

" Interest is incurred at the bank’s prime rate plus 1.5%, and is payable monthly. This line expired on May

10, 2001. In January 2002, the Company was able to transfer the balance of $605,000 to a loan
agreement with the bank, secured by the Company’s assets. The loan was due in three (3) equal monthly
payments of $16,806 plus interest, with a balloon payment due in June 2002 for the remaining balance.
Interest was incwired at the bank's prime rate plus five and one-half percent (5.5%) per annumn. “The
initial rate of the loan was ten and one-quarter percent (10.25%)." ko JuIy 2002, the Company entered
into a $600,000 line of credit with a bank. Interest is incurred at the prime rate plus 1.875%, and is
payable monthly. This line expires on July 10, 2003. At December 31, 2002, no amount was

oulstandmg on this line of credit.

See accountants’ review report
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SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002 and 2001

NOTE E - COMMITMENTS

The Company leases its office facilities and certain computer equipment under pon-cancelable lease
agreements which require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, msurance, and
maintenance. The Company's facilities leases are secured by personal guarantees made by the owners.
Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases with remaining non-cancelable lease
terms in excess of one year, are as follows:

For the year ending December 31, 2003 . $ 657417
2004 673,769

2005 - 690,486

2006 707,581

2007 180,084

$ 2,909,337

The facilities leases also contain certein remewal options. Total rent and utilities expense for all

operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $536,941 and $332,362, .

respectively.

The Companry also leases certain equipment under non-cancelable capital lease agreements, for which
the lease term ended in 2002. The cost and accunulated depreciation of equipment under capital leases
was approximately $359,677 and $349,766, respectively, at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2001,
the cost and accumulated depreciation was $359,677 and $300,735, respectively. The deprgdaﬁon
expense for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 totaled $49,031 and $80,605, respectively.

See accountants’ review report
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SYNERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002 and 2001

NOTE F - EQUITY APPRECIATION RIGHTS

The Company has adopted a discretionary incentive plan allowing up to 2,000,000 units of Equity”

Appreciation Rights (The Equity Plan) to be awarded to valued emplo‘ytm, subject to continued
employment and a five year vesting term. The basis value of each Equity Unit is equivalent to the value
of one share of common steck at the effective date of award. Since the Company is privately held and
there is no readily available value for its cornmon stock. the per share value of the Company’s common
stock is determined as net owners’ equity divided by total outstanding common shares. The provisions
of the Equity Plan allow the Company to repurchase the vested Equity Units at ‘any time at the
appreciated value as of the prior year end (the difference between the prior year end value and the basis
value). Upon repurchase, the Equity Units are made available for future awards. At December 31, 2002,
a total of 1,458,000 Equity Units were granted, .of which 1,189,900 Equity Units were vested, with a
total estimated value of $71,000. No Equity Units were granted in 2002. During 2001, Equity Units
totaling $4,121 were repurchased by the Company. At December 31, 2001, a total of 1,458,00 Equity
Units were granted, of which 1,001,300 Equity Units were vested, with a total estimated value of

$64,149. No Equity Umls were granted in 2001.

NOTE G - RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. All employees

_ who are twenty-one (21) years and older are eligible to participate in the plan on the first day of the
menth following one month of service. The Company makes matching confributions equal to fifty

- percent (50%) of employee contributions, up to six percent (6%) of the employees compensation. The
Company may also make discretionary contributions each year. Contributions for the’ ym ended
December 31,2002 and 2001 totaled § 128,471 and $116,957, respectively.

The Company also provides a flexible benefit plan to its employees that qualifies as a Section 125
Cafeteria Plan. Under this p]an, :mployccs are able 10 choose among certain benefits that are available
to them in ordes to obtain an income tax savings. Other than administrative costs, the Company does not

pay any amounts towards this plan.

NOTE H - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Additional information to the statements of cash flows with regard to certain cash payments is as
follows:

2002 2001

Cash paid for:
Interest expense $44746 § 46,762

. Income taxes $ 1800 § 73844

See accountants’ review report
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Synergen, Inc.
Consolidated Income Statement
For the 9 months ended September 30, 2004

($000's)
(unaudited)

Revenue
License
Support
Services
Systems Integration
Hardware
Total Revenue

Cost of Revenue
License
Support
Services
Systems Integration
Total COGS

Gross Margin
Selling, General & Administrative
Sales
Marketing
Product Development
General & Administrative
Total SGEA
EBITDA

Depreciation
Amortization

Operating Income
Other (Income) Expense
EBIT
Interest Expense
interest (income)

Provision for Income Taxes

Net Income

3,660
2,782
9,095
1,085

(108)

16,513

388
761
6,466
702

8,316

8,197

2,307

841
2,567
2,412

8,127

70

258

(188)

1,777

(1,965)

(1)

(285)

(1,664)
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Synergen, Inc.
Balance Sheet

September 30, 2004
(in 000's)
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable

Unbifled receivables
Prepaids & Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

Non-current assets
Deposits
Property, Plant & Equipment
Goodwill
Intangible Assets
Total non-current assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Deferred revenue
Notes Payable
Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

EQUITY
Common Stock
APIC
Current Year Retained Eamings
Total Stockholder Equity

Total Liabilities & Equity

FILE NO.
82- 34708

685
4,861
326
241
6,113

H4
666
5,392
4,000
10,092

16,206

973
1,949
2,832

173
5,926

5,926

232

10,202
(153)
T 10,280

.16,206
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SPL WORLDGROUP B.V.
LENARD SIDNEY ISRAELSTAM
AND

OCM/GFI POWER OPPORTUNITIES FUND, L.P.

Dated as of October 15, 2004
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SHARE TENDER AND EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

This SHARE TENDER AND EXCHANGE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is
entered into as of October 15, 2004, by and among SPL Worldgroup B.V., a Netherlands
private limited liability company (the "Company"), and Lenard Sidney Israelstam
("Israelstam"), as Representative for the Selling Stockholders, on the one hand, and
OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "Fund") on
the other hand. Certain capitalized and other terms used herein shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in Appendix I hereto.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, after the execution of this Agreement, the Fund will duly organize a
Luxembourg private limited company ("Acquisition Sub", and collectively with the Fund,
the "Purchasers");

WHEREAS, it is proposed that Acquisition Sub make a cash tender offer (the
"Offer") to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Series A common stock, 0.12 NLG par
value per share, of the Company ("Series A Common Stock"), all of the outstanding shares
of Series B common stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the Company ("Series B
Common Stock"), all of the outstanding shares of Series C common stock, 0.12 NLG par
value per share, of the Company ("Series C Common Stock" and, collectively with Series
A Common Stock and Series B Common Stock, "Common Stock"), all of the outstanding
shares of Series A preferred stock, 0.12 NLG par value per share, of the Company ("Series
A Preferred Stock"), all of the outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock, 0.12 NLG
par value per share, of the Company ("Series B Preferred Stock" and, collectively with
Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock, "Company Stock") and all outstanding
vested and unvested options to purchase shares of Company Stock ("Company Options"),
other than certain shares of Company Stock and Company Options to be retained by the
Management Holders;

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, the holders of not
less than forty percent (40%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and seventy-five
percent (75%) of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and
Series B Preferred Stock have executed an Agreement to Tender (the “Agreement to
Tender") pursuant to which they have, among other things, agreed to tender in the Offer all
shares of Company Stock and all Company Options held by them (other than the shares of
Company Stock and Company Options to be retained by the Management Holders),
acknowledged their offset and indemnification obligations under this Agreement, appointed
a stockholder representative, and consented to the amendment or waiver of certain
provisions in the Existing Capitalization Documents of the Company;

WHEREAS, immediately following and conditioned upon the consummation of the
Offer and certain other conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Purchasers desire, and the
board of managing directors of the Company have deemed it to be fair and in the best
interests of the Company's stockholders, to consummate the Exchange, pursuant to which
Acquisition Sub will exchange all of the Company Options acquired by it in the Offer for
additional shares of Common Stock;
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WHEREAS, in connection with the Offer, Acquisition Sub shall distribute the Offer
Statement to the holders (as reflected on the Company's books and records) of Company
Stock and Company Options, including a Letter of Transmittal substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Letter of Transmittal");

WHEREAS, in connection with and as a condition to the consummation of the Offer
and the Exchange, the Company, the Fund and the other stockholder of Synergen, Inc., a
Delaware corporation ("Synergen"), will enter into a Securities Purchase and Exchange
Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Synergen Purchase
Agreement"), pursuant to which, upon consummation of the Offer, the Company and
Synergen will be combined under common ownership;

WHEREAS, by resolutions duly adopted, the board of managing directors of the
Company has, among other things, in light of and subject to the terms and conditions hereof:
(i) determined that this Agreement and the Related Agreements and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby, including the Offer and the Exchange, are fair to and in
the best interests of the Company and the holders of Company Stock and Company Options;
and (ii) resolved to recommend that the holders of Company Stock and Company Options
accept the Offer and tender their shares of Company Stock and Company Options pursuant

to the Offer;

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Purchasers to enter into this Agreement and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and as a condition to the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby, the Management Holders, the Fund, the Company,
Acquisition Sub and certain other stockholders of the Company will enter into a Security
Holders Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the "Security
Holders Agreement");

WHEREAS, simultaneous with the execution of this Agreement, and in order to
induce the Purchasers to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby, the Company has entered into a Non-Competition, Non-Interference
and Non-Solicitation Agreement (the "Non-Competition Agreement") with certain
Persons; and

WHEREAS, simultaneous with the execution of this Agreement, and in order to
induce the Purchasers to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby, the Company has entered into an Employee Non-Solicitation, Non-
Interference Agreement (the "Employee Non-Solicitation Agreement”) with each of the

Management Holders.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement, the
parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLEI
THE OFFER

Section 1.1 Conduct of the Offer.

(a) Provided that this Agreement shall not have been terminated in
accordance with Section 9.1 hereof and that all of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1
hereof shall have been satisfied or waived as provided therein, as promptly as practicable
(and in any event not later than fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of this Agreement,
provided that the Company has, within a reasonable time prior thereto, provided
Acquisition Sub with the information about the Company required to be included in any
Offer Statement and Offer Documents required by Applicable Securities Laws),
Acquisition Sub shall commence (within the meaning of Rule 14d-2(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and within the meaning of any
other Applicable Securities Laws) the Offer.

(b) Subject to the terms and conditions of the Offer and this Agreement,
including the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 hereof, Acquisition Sub shall accept for
payment all shares of Company Stock and all Company Options validly tendered pursuant
to the Offer as soon as it is permitted to do so under Applicable Securities Laws and shall
pay for such shares of Company Stock and such Company Options promptly thereafter in
accordance with Section 1.3 hereof; provided, that Acquisition Sub shall not be required to
accept for payment shares of Company Stock and shares of Company Stock issuable
pursuant to Company Options held by each member of the Company's management team
set forth in Section 1.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedules (such holders, the "Management
Holders") representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the value assigned thereto in this
Agreement, for this purpose (i) valuing each share of Company Stock at the Price Per Share
and (ii) valuing each Company Option at (A) the Price Per Share multiplied by the number
of shares issuable upon exercise in full of such Company Option, minus (B) the aggregate
cash exercise price payable upon exercise in full of such Company Option (the "Spread
Value" of such Company Option). Each of the Management Holders, in his or her sole
discretion, shall determine which shares of Company Stock, Company Options or
combination thereof he or she will tender pursuant to the Offer, subject to the preceding
sentence and the other conditions of this Agreement.

(c) Acquisition Sub expressly reserves the right at its sole discretion to
iricrease the Price Per Share, to waive (in whole or in part) any of the conditions of the
Offer set forth in Section 8.1 hereof or to make any other changes in the terms and
conditions of the Offer; provided, that without the prior written consent of the Company, no
change may be made that (i) changes the form of consideration to be paid, (ii) reduces the
Price Per Share, (iii) reduces the number of shares of Company Stock and Company
Options sought in the Offer, (iv) imposes conditions to the Offer in addition to the
conditions set forth in Section 8.1 hereof or (v) amends any other terms of the Offer in a
manner adverse to the holders of Company Stock and Company Options.

(d)  Prior to the acceptance for payment of shares of Company Stock or
Company Options pursuant to the Offer, Acquisition Sub shall designate one or more bank
or trust companies reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as agents (the "Paying
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Agents") for Acquisition Sub. Promptly after the acceptance for payment of any shares of
Company Stock or Company Options in the Offer, Acquisition Sub shall deposit with the
Paying Agents, subject to Section 1.3 hereof, immediately available cash funds sufficient to
pay for all shares of Company Stock and all Company Options validly tendered pursuant to
the Offer. The Paying Agents shall disburse the funds in accordance with Section 1.3

hereof.

(e) The Offer shall initially be scheduled to expire thirty-one (31) calendar
days following the date of the commencement thereof, or such longer period as may be
required by Applicable Securities Laws. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Agreement, but subject to the parties' respective termination rights under
Section 9.1 hereof, (i) if, at any then-scheduled expiration date, any of the conditions to the
Offer have not been satisfied or waived, Acquisition Sub shall be entitled to extend the
Offer for such amount of time as is reasonably necessary to cause such conditions to the
Offer to be satisfied, (ii) Acquisition Sub may, without the consent of the Company or any
other Person extend the Offer (one or more times) for any period required by any rule,
regulation, interpretation or position of Applicable Securities Laws and (iii) if, at any then-
scheduled expiration date, any of the conditions to the Offer set forth in Section 8.1(a),
Section 8.1(d), Section 8.1(e), Section 8.1(f) and Section 8.1(h) hereof have not been
satisfied or waived, Acquisition Sub shall, if the Company so requests in writing, extend
the Offer for ten (10) business days; provided, that Acquisition Sub shall not be required to
extend the Offer for more than twenty (20) business days in the aggregate.

® On such date as may be required by Applicable Securities Laws, but no
later than the date of commencement of the Offer, Acquisition Sub shall (i) cause an offer
to purchase shares of Company Stock and Company Options pursuant to the Offer, the
Letter of Transmittal and related documents (collectively, the "Offer Statement") to be
disseminated to holders of shares of Company Stock and Company Options in accordance
with Applicable Securities Laws, and (ii) file with all relevant Governmental Entities any
documents required by Applicable Securities Laws to be filed by them with respect to the
Offer (which, together with the Offer Statement, and all exhibits, amendments or
supplements thereto, constitute the "Offer Documents"). Acquisition Sub agtees that it
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Offer Documents to comply in all
material respects with Applicable Securities Laws. Acquisition Sub agrees to use
commercially reasonable efforts to respond promptly to any comments of any relevant
Governmental Entities with respect to the Offer Documents or the Offer and to correct
promptly any information provided by it for use in the Offer Documents if and to the extent
that such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect.
Acquisition Sub agrees to take all steps necessary to cause the Offer Documents as
supplemented or amended to correct such information to be filed with the relevant
Governmental Entities and to be disseminated to holders of shares of Company Stock and
Company Options, in each case as and to the extent required by Applicable Securities
Laws. The Company shall promptly furnish to Acquisition Sub all information concerning
the Company and its Subsidiaries and holders of Company Stock and Company Options
that may be required or reasonably requested in connection with any action contemplated
by this Section 1.1(f) and agrees to correct promptly any information provided by it for use
in the Offer Documents if and to the extent that such information shall have become false
or misleading in any material respect. The Company and its counsel shall be given

-4-
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reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Offer Documents prior to the filing
thereof with any applicable Governmental Entity and prior to the dissemination thereof to
holder of shares of Company Stock and Company Options. Acquisition Sub agrees to
provide the Company and its counsel with any comments it or its counsel may receive from
any Governmental Entity with respect to the Offer Documents promptly after receipt of
such comments.

Section 1.2 Company Actions.

(a) The Company hereby approves and consents to the Offer and represents
that its board of managing directors, at a meeting duly called and held, has by the
unanimous vote of all directors of the Company (i) determined that, as of the date hereof,
this Agreement and the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby, including the Offer and the Exchange, are fair to and in the best interests of the
Company and the holders of Company Stock and Company Options, (ii) approved and
adopted this Agreement and the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, in accordance with the requirements of applicable Law, (iii) declared
that, as of the date hereof, this Agreement and the Related Agreements are advisable, (iv)
amended the Company’s option plans to permit the transfer of Company Options and the
acceleration of vesting of Company Options held by Management Holders in connection
with the Offer; (v) taken all action necessary to convocate a special meeting of the holders
of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock to approve the
Conversion; and (vi) resolved to recommend, as of the date hereof, that the holders of
Company Stock and Company Options accept the Offer and tender their shares of
Company Stock and Comipany Options pursuant to the Offer (such recommendation, as it
may be amended or modified after the date hereof as required by Law, the "Company
Board Recommendation"). As of the date hereof, the Company hereby consents to the
inclusion of the Company Board Recommendation in the Offer Statement.

(b)  Aspromptly as practicable on such date as may be required by
Applicable Securities Laws, but no later than the date that the Offer is commenced, the
Company shall (i) following or contemporaneously with the dissemination of the Offer
Statement, disseminate to holders of Company Stock and Company Options such
documents as may be required by Applicable Securities Laws (collectively, the
"Recommendation Statement"), which, to the extent required by Applicable Securities
Laws, shall include a recommendation statement that shall reflect the Company Board
Recommendation, and (ii) file with all relevant Governmental Entities all documents
required to be filed by it in connection with the Offer under Applicable Securities Laws
(which, together with all exhibits, amendments and supplements thereto and the
Recommendation Statement, constitute the "Recommendation Documents"). Each of
Acquisition Sub and the Company agrees to promptly correct any information provided by
it for use in the Recommendation Documents if and to the extent that such information
shall have become false or misleading in any material respect, and the Company further
agrees to take all steps necessary to cause the Recommendation Documents as
supplemented or amended to correct such information to be filed with the relevant
Governmental Entity and to be disseminated to holders of shares of Company Stock and
Company Options, in each case as and to the extent required by Applicable Securities
Laws. Acquisition Sub and its counsel shall be given reasonable opportunity to review and
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comment on the Recommendation Documents (including any amendment thereto) prior to
the filing thereof with any Governmental Entity and prior to the dissemination thereof to
holders of shares of Company Stock and Company Options. The Company agrees to
provide the Acquisition Sub and its counsel with any comments the Company or its counsel
may receive from any Governmental Entity or its staff with respect to the Recommendation
Documents promptly after receipt of such comments.

(©) In connection with the execution of this Agreement, the Company will
furnish Acquisition Sub with a list of all holders of shares of Company Stock and Company
Options and any available listing or computer file containing the names and addresses of all
holders of shares of Company Stock and Company Options, in each case, to the Knowledge
of the Company, true and correct as of the most recent practicable date, and will provide to
Acquisition Sub such additional information (including updated lists of security holders and
listing or computer files to the extent available) and such other assistance as it may
reasonably request in connection with the Offer and the Exchange. )

Section 1.3 Payment for Tendered Shares and Options.

(a) Upon acceptance for payment by Acquisition Sub of any shares of
Company Stock and Company Options pursuant to the Offer, and subject to (x) Acquisition
Sub's right pursuant to Section 1.1(b) hereof not to accept for payment certain shares of
Company Stock and Company Options held by the Management Holders, (y) the
withholding of the Withholding Amount and the Escrow Amount pursuant to Section 1.4
hereof and (z) the other terms and conditions of the Offer:

@ Each holder of shares of Company Stock validly tendered
pursuant to the Offer shall be entitled to receive from Acquisition Sub (A) at the Closing by
means of the Paying Agent an amount equal to Six Dollars and Eighty-Eight Cents ($6.88)
(the "Price Per Share") multiplied by the number of shares of Company Stock so tendered
by such holder and (B) the portion of the Earn Out Payment, if any, to which such holder is
entitled pursuant to Section 1.5; and

‘ (i1)  Each holder of Company Options validly tendered pursuant to
the Offer shall be entitled to receive from Acquisition Sub (A) at the Closing by means of
the Paying Agent an amount equal to (x) the Price Per Share multiplied by the aggregate
number of shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise in full of the Company Options
so tendered by such holder minus (y) the aggregate cash exercise price payable upon
exercise in full of all such tendered Company Options and (B) the portion of the Earn Out
Payment, if any, to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 1.5.

(b) If, between the date of this Agreement and the date on which any shares
of Company Stock or Company Options are accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer, the
outstanding shares of any class of Company Stock are changed into a different number or
class of shares by reason of any stock split, division or subdivision of shares, stock
dividend, reverse stock split, consolidation of shares, reclassification, recapitalization or
other similar transaction, then the Price Per Share and the Earn Out Per Share shall be
appropriately adjusted to reflect such change or transaction.
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Section 1.4 Withholding and Escrow.

(a)  Acquisition Sub shall withhold an amount (the "Withholding ‘
Amount") equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the gross amount payable at the Closing to the
holders of Company Stock and Company Options otherwise entitled to receive payments
pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof (the "Selling Stockholders") for the purpose of securing the
obligations set forth in Section 7.9 hereof. The Withholding Amount shall be withheld pro
rata in accordance with the relative proportion of the aggregate payment to which the
Selling Stockholders are otherwise entitled pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof with respect to all
tendering holders of Company Stock and Company Options (taking into consideration the
Price Per Share and Spread Value, as applicable). Acquisition Sub may satisfy offset and
indemnification claims out of the Withholding Amount as provided in Section 7.9 hereof,
and any remaining portion of the Withholding Amount shall be paid to the Selling
Stockholders by Acquisition Sub no later than June 30, 2006 (subject to the retention of
amounts sufficient to satisfy any unresolved offset and indemnity claims) pro rata in
accordance with the relative proportion of the aggregate payment to which the Selling
Stockholders are otherwise entitled pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof.

(b)  Atthe Closing, Acquisition Sub shall deliver to an escrow agent
designated by the Company in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds an
amount (the "Escrow Amount") equal to one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the gross
amount payable at the Closing to the holders of Company Stock and Company Options
otherwise entitled to receive payments pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof for the purpose of
providing the Representative funds to perform (in his sole discretion) his obligations set
forth in Section 7.9 hereof; provided that, following Acquisition Sub's delivery of the
Escrow Amount to the escrow agent, the Purchasers shall have no further obligation or
liability with respect thereto, including without limitation with respect to the use of such
funds by the Representative or any obligation to distribute such funds to Selling
Stockholders. The Escrow Amount shall be withheld pro rata in accordance with the
relative proportion of the aggregate payment to which the Selling Stockholders are
otherwise entitled pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof with respect to all tendering holders of
Company Stock and Company Options (taking into consideration the Price Per Share and
Spread Value, as applicable). The Escrow Amount shall be held by the escrow agent
pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement (the "Escrow Agreement") to be entered into
by the Representative. The Escrow Agreement will provide that any portion of the Escrow

- Amount not used by the Representative pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will be
distributed to the Selling Stockholders pro rata in accordance with the relative proportion of
the aggregate payment to which the Selling Stockholders are otherwise entitled pursuant to

Section 1.3 hereof.

Section 1.5 Earn Out.

(a) Earn Out Payment. Subject to set off pursuant to Section 7.9 hereof,
each Selling Stockholder shall be entitled to receive the following payments (all such
payments in the aggregate, the "Earn Out Payment"):

(1) for each share of Company Stock validly tendered pursuant to
the Offer by such Selling Stockholder, an amount equal to the Earn Out Per Share; and
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(i)  for each Company Option validly tendered pursuant to the

Offer by such Selling Stockholder, an amount equal to the Earn Out Per Share multiplied by
the number of shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise in full of such Company

Option.
(b) Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement,

6 "Earn Out Per Share" shall be defined as follows:

(A)  Ifthe Earn Out Revenue of the Existing Company
Business is less than One Hundred Ninety Million Dollars ($190,000,000),
the Earn Out Per Share shall be equal to zero dollars ($0).

(B)  If the Earn Out Revenue of the Existing Company
Business is equal to or greater than One Hundred Ninety Million Dollars
(8190,000,000), the Earn Out Per Share shall be equal to the sum of (A)
Twenty-Five Cents ($0.25) plus (B) Two and One-Half Cents ($0.025) for
each whole One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) by which the Earn Out
Revenue exceeds One Hundred Ninety Million Dollars ($190,000,000);
provided, that the Earn Out Per Share shall in no event exceed Seventy-Five
Cents ($0.75).

(i)  "Existing Company Business" shall mean the Company's
Customer Information Systems ("CIS") and Outage Management Systems ("OMS")
businesses as such businesses existed on August 31, 2004,

(ii))  "Earn Out Revenue" shall mean actual revenues eamed for
the 24-month period ending December 31, 2005, determined in accordance with GAAP ina
manner consistently applied (provided, that in the event any past accounting practice is
inconsistent with GAAP, GAAP shall control). For the avoidance of doubt, Earn Out
Revenue of the Existing Company Business shall (A) consist of revenues attributable to the
sale, implementation, maintenance and support of CIS and OMS software products
(including future releases of such products) in existence on or prior to August 30, 2004, (B)
only include revenues attributable to the business acquired in the CES Acquisition to the
extent booked by the Company (in accordance with GAAP) after the consummation of the
CES Acquisition and (C) be adjusted upwards as appropriate to account for the write-down
of deferred revenue resulting from the application of purchase accounting rules to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

© Earn Qut Calculation; Payment. The Earn Out Revenue of the Existing
Company Business shall be calculated by the Company's outside audit firm. Within thirty
(30) days following the completion of the Company's audit for the 12-month period ending
December 31, 2005, but no later than June 30, 2006, the Company shall submit to the Fund
and the Representative of the Selling Stockholders a notice, certified by the Company's
Chief Financial Officer and the Company's outside audit firm, setting forth the amount of
the Earn Out Revenue of the Existing Company Business. The determination of the Earn
Out Revenue of the Existing Company Business by the Company's outside audit firm shall
be final and binding on the parties and the Selling Stockholders. The Earn Out Payment, if
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any, shall be paid in cash by Acquisition Sub to the Selling Stockholders in accordance
with Section 1.3 hereof within ten (10) business days following June 30, 2006.

(d)  Measurement Period Covenants. Acquisition Sub agrees that, from the
Closing Date until December 31, 2003, it shall cause the Company to:

(1) Maintain separate financial records for the Existing Company
Business to facilitate the calculation of the Earn Out Payment; and

(i)  Operate the Existing Company Business in a manner
substantially consistent with the operation of the Existing Company Business as of the
Closing Date (provided, that Acquisition Sub shall be permitted to add resources, including
without limitation, sales resources, to the Existing Company Business, in its discretion),
subject to the guidance and management of the Company by its board of managing directors
to promote the Company's best interests.

(e) Assumption of Obligations. In the event the Company or the Existing
Company Business is acquired by a Person other than Acquisition Sub during the period
beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the date that the Earn Out Payment is paid to
the Selling Stockholders, Acquisition Sub shall cause the acquiror to assume the obligations
to make any Earn Out Payment required by this Agreement and to operate the Existing
Company Business in accordance with Section 1.5(d) hereof, and Acquisition Sub and the
Fund shall thereupon be released of any obligation in respect thereof. Acquisition Sub shall
exercise reasonable diligence to confirm that such acquirer, as of the date of such
acquisition, will be reasonably likely to have sufficient assets to make the Earn-Out
Payment; for the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not be deemed to constitute a
guaranty or assurance by Acquisition Sub or the Fund that such acquirer will have
sufficient assets to make, or will make, the Earn Out Payment.

ARTICLE I
EXCHANGE; SYNERGEN PURCHASE; CLOSING

Section 2.1 Issuance and Exchange of Shares.

€)] Upon the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Section 8.2
hereof, in exchange for the transfer of all Company Options acquired by Acquisition Sub in
the Offer, the Company shall issue to Acquisition Sub, free and clear of any and all
Encumbrances whatsoever, for each Company Option so exchanged, a number of shares of
Series B Common Stock equal to the Spread Value of such Company Option divided by the

Price Per Share (such transaction, the "Exchange").

(b)  Inaccordance with its Organizational Documents, the Company shall
promptly record in its register of shareholders the issuance of Series B Common Stock to
Acquisition Sub pursuant to the Exchange.

(©) Upon the consummation of the Exchange, all Company Options
transferred by Acquisition Sub to the Company pursuant to the Exchange shall immediately
be deemed cancelled and retired and cease to exist.
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Section 2.2 Svnergen Purchase.

Concurrently with the Exchange, the Company and Synergen will be combined
under common ownership as provided in the Synergen Purchase Agreement.

Section 2.3 Closing.

Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to Section 9.1 hereof, the
consummation of the Offer and Exchange and the purchase of Synergen pursuant to the
Synergen Purchase Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place (i) at the offices of Irell &
Manella LLP, on the first business day on which the last to be fulfilled or waived of the
conditions to the parties' obligations specified in ARTICLE VIII hereof shall be fulfilled or
waived, or (ii) at such other place, date and/or time as the parties may mutually agree. The
date on which the Closing actually occurs is hereinafter referred to as the "Closing Date."

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the disclosure schedules delivered by the Company to the
Purchasers concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the "Disclosure Schedules"),
which shall identify each exception by reference to the specific Section to which such
exception applies (unless it is reasonably apparent on its face and without further
investigation that an exception disclosed in one Section also applies to another Section(s)),
the Company hereby represents and warrants to the Purchasers that:

Section 3.1 Organization and Qualification: Subsidiaries.

Except as set forth in Section 3.1 of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company has no
Subsidiaries and does not own, either directly or indirectly, any equity interest in any
corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity. Section 3.1 of the
Disclosure Schedules sets forth for each of the Company and its Subsidiaries such entity's
jurisdiction of formation. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly organized and
validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation and has all requisite corporate
power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as is
now being conducted. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or
licensed to do business and in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in
which the character of its properties owned or leased or the nature of the business conducted
by it makes such qualification necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be
so duly qualified or licensed or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate,
have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.

Section 3.2 Articles of Organization and Bylaws.

The Company has heretofore furnished to the Purchasers complete and correct copies
of the Articles of Association and Bylaws, or compqr_étjbl_e organizational documents, in each
case as amended or restated (collectively, the "Organizational Documents"), of the
Company and each of its Subsidiaries, which are in full force and effect on the date hereof.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any of the provisions of
any of its Organizational Documents.
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Section 3.3 Capitalization; Validity of Shares.

(@) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists solely of
(i) 4,480,080 shares of Series A Common Stock, no shares of which are issued and
outstanding as of the date hereof, (ii) 52,302,300 shares of Series B Common Stock, of
which 11,749,252 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof, (iii) 4,000,000
shares of Series C Common Stock, no shares of which are issued and outstanding as of the
date hereof, (iv) 1,120,020 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, of which 1,120,020 shares
are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof and (v) 597,600 shares of Series B
Preferred Stock, of which 597,600 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.
All of the foregoing shares of capital stock of the Company were and are duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to, or were issued in
compliance with, any preemptive rights created by Law, the Company's Organizational
Documents or any agreement to which the Company was or is a party or is bound.

(b) Upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Related Agreements and the issuance of shares of Series B Common
Stock to Acquisition Sub and the other recipients hereunder and thereunder, such newly
issued shares of Series B Common Stock will have been duly authorized and validly issued
and will be fully paid and non-assessable and free and clear of all security interests, liens,
claims, pledges, agreements, limitations on voting rights, charges or other Encumbrances
(other than any Encumbrances incurred as a result of Purchasers' acts or omissions) of any
nature whatsoever and will not be subject to, or will have been issued in compliance with,
any preemptive rights created by Law, the Company's Organizational Documents or any
agreement to which the Company was or is a party or bound.

(© As of the Closing, the Company shall have duly reserved for issuance
the maximum aggregate number of shares of Series B Common Stock to be issued pursuant
to Section 2.1 hereof and the Synergen Purchase Agreement.

(d) Section 3.3(d) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all record holders of
capital stock of the Company as of the date hereof, including the number of shares of each
class of capital stock of the Company owned by each such holder and whether such shares
are held subject to the provisions of the Existing Shareholder Agreement.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 3.3(e) of the Disclosure Schedules (which
schedule shall include, among other things, a list of holders of the securities, including
options, described in this paragraph by name, number of securities held, exercise price,
vesting schedule, if any, and whether such securities are held subject to the provisions of
the Existing Shareholder Agreement): (i) there are no options, warrants or other rights
(including registration rights), agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character
to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party relating to the issued or unissued
capital stock of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or
obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to grant, issue or sell any shares of the
capital stock of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, by sale,
lease, license or otherwise; (ii) there are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries to (x) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any
shares of the capital stock of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries or (y) provide funds to, or make any investment in (in the form of a loan,
capital contribution or otheérwise), or provide any guarantee (other than endorsements of
clearing checks made in the ordinary course of business) with respect to the obligations of,
any other Person; (iii) there are no agreements, arrangements or commitments of any
character (contingent or otherwise) pursuant to which any Person is or may be entitled to
receive any payment based on the revenues, earnings or other similar performance criteria,
as a whole, or calculated in accordance therewith, of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries; and (iv) there are no voting trusts, proxies or other agreements or
understandings to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound with respect to the voting of any shares of the
capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

® Section 3.3(f) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the authorized and
issued capital stock of each of the Company's Subsidiaries, including the registered owner
of each share of such capital stock. All shares of capital stock of each of the Company's
Subsidiaries (1) were and are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable
and not subject to, or were issued in compliance with, any preemptive rights created by
Law, the Subsidiaries' Organizational Documents or any agreement to which the Company
or any Subsidiary was or is a party or is bound, and (ii) were and are free and clear of all
security interests, liens, claims, pledges, agreements, limitations on voting rights, charges
or other Encumbrances of any nature whatsoever. '

(g)  All shares of capital stock of the Company previously issued, and all
options, warrants and other rights to acquire capital stock of, and all other securities of, the
Company previously issued, were issued in compliance in all material respects with or
pursuant to valid exemptions from the requirements of Applicable Securities Laws.

(h) (i) Each class of Company Stock and each other class of securities of
the Company previously issued is exempt from registration under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and the Exchange Act (pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) promulgated
thereunder), (ii) the Company has complied with all filing obligations required by Law to
maintain such exemptions from registration, and (iii) such exemptions from registration are
valid and in full force and effect.

Section 3.4 Authoritv: Approval.

The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the Related Agreements, to perform its obligations hereunder and
thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The
execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Related Agreements and
the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby,
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action (including an amendment of the
Company's option plans by the Company's board of managing directors to permit the
transfer of Company Options in connection with the Offer) and no other proceedings on the
part of the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the Related Agreements
or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. This Agreement and the
Related Agreements have been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company
and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
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Related Agreements by the other parties hereto and thereto, will comstitute legal, valid and
binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with
their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited or affected by applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general equitable principles regardiess of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity.

Section 3.5 No Contflict.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.5(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Related Agreements,
and the consummation and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the
Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby will not,

(i) conflict with or violate the Organizational Documents of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, (ii) subject to approvals under the HSR Act, conflict with or violate any Laws
applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any of its or their
properties or assets is bound or affected, (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default
(or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or
give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of any
Company Material Contract, or (iv) result in the creation of any Encumbrance on any of the
properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except in the case of clauses
(ii), (iii) and (iv) for such violations, breaches or Encumbrances that are not material in
nature.

(b)  Assuming the accuracy of the Purchasers' representations and
warranties as contained in this Agreement and except as set forth in Section 3.5(b) of the
Disclosure Schedules, the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and
the Related Agreements and the consummation and performance by the Company of this
Agreement and the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or
notification to, (i) any Governmental Entities or (ii) any third Person, other than (w) such
filings, notifications and authorization required under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), (x) any such consents,
approvals, authorizations or permits that have been obtained or such filings or notifications
that have been made, (y) any such requirements as a result of the specific legal or
regulatory status of Purchaser, and (z) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals,
authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not, either
individually or in the aggregate, prevent or delay consuinmation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements, or otherwise, either
individually or in the aggregate, prevent the Company from performing its obligations
under this Agreement or the Related Agreements.

Section 3.6 Permits; Compliance.

The Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all material franchises, grants,
authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances, exemptions, consents, certificates,
approvals and orders necessary to own, lease and operate its and their properties and to carry
on the Company's and its Subsidiaries’ business as it is now being conducted (collectively,
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the "Company Permits") and there is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened regarding impairment, suspension, limitation, revocation, termination
or cancellation of any of the Company Permits. Except as set forth in Section 3.6 of the
Disclosure Schedules, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is in compliance with or has
complied with, in all material respects, (a) each Law (other than Environmental Laws which
are addressed in Section 3.23 hereof) applicable to such entity or by which any of its
properties or assets is bound or affected and (b) each of the Company Permits. Except as set
forth in Section 3.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries has, within the last three years, received from any Governmental Entity any
notification or any other inquiries with respect to the possible failure of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries to be in compliance in all material respects with any Law (other than any
Environmental Law).

Section 3.7 Reports; Financial Statements: Books of Account.

(a) The Company has delivered to the Purchasers and attached as part of
Section 3.7 of the Disclosure Schedules true and correct copies of the (i) audited
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of the fiscal years ended December 31,
2001, December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003, and consolidated statements of income,
cash flows and changes in shareholders' equity for each of the twelve month periods then
ended, and (ii) unaudited interim consolidated balance sheets of the Company (including
the business acquired in the CES Acquisition) as of August 31, 2004, and consolidated
statements of income, cash flows and changes in shareholders' equity for the interim
periods then ended (all such consolidated financial statements being referred to herein
collectively as the "Company Financial Statements"). Each such balance sheet presents
fairly the financial condition, assets and liabilities, and shareholders' equity of the Company
as of its date (subject to adjustments to be made based on estimates of purchase accounting
relating to the CES Acquisition, which adjustment will not be material); each such
statement of income presents fairly the results of operations of the Company for the period
indicated; and each such statement of cash flows and changes in shareholders' equity
presents fairly the information purported to be shown therein. Except as set forth in Section
3.7 of the Disclosure Schedules and, with respect to the unaudited interim statements,
except for the absence of notes to the interim statements and subject to normal, recurring
year-end adjustments consistent with past practice (which will not be material in the
aggregate), the Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
GAARP consistently applied throughout the periods involved and are in accordance with the
books and records of the Company.

(b)  Except as set forth in Section 3.7 of the Disclosure Schedules, the
books, records and accounts of the Company accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonable
detail, the transactions and the assets and liabilities of the Company. The Company
maintains a system of internal accounting control sufficient to provide reasonable
assurances that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management's general or
specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP, (iii) access to assets, properties, books,
records and accounts is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific
authorization and (iv) the recorded accounting for assets is compared with the existing
assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.
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Section 3.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events.

Except as disclosed in the Company Financial Statements or in Section 3.8 of the
Disclosure Schedules, and except as otherwise specifically contemplated by this Agreement
and the Related Agreements, (i) since December 31, 2003, the Company and its Subsidiaries
have conducted their business only in the ordinary course and in a manner substantially
consistent with past practice and (ii) since December 31, 2003, there has not been:

() any material damage, destruction or loss (not covered by insurance)
with respect to any material asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(d)  to the Knowledge of the Company, any event, occurrence or
development that has or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

() any change by the Company in its accounting methods, principles or
practices, or any changes in depreciation or amortization policies or rates adopted by it;

(d) (i) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividends or other
distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of the capital stock of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any direct or indirect redemption, purchase,
retirement or other acquisition by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any capital
stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or other securities convertible into,
exchangeable for or conferring the right to purchase capital stock of the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries (or any agreement, arrangement or other understanding to do the same), or
(iit) any issuance, pledge or sale of any capital stock of the Company or any its
Subsidiaries, or any other securities convertible into or exchangeable for or conferring the
right to purchase capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any agreement,
arrangement or other understanding to do the same);

(e) any amendment, alteration or modification in the terms of any currently
outstanding options, warrants or other rights to purchase any capital stock or equity interest
in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other securities convertible into or
exchangeable for such capital stock or equity interest, including without limitation a
reduction in the exercise or conversion price of any such rights or securities;

® (i) any increase in the benefits under, or the establishment, termination,
modification or amendment of] or any commitment to establish, terminate, modify or
amend, any bonus, insurance, severance, deferred compensation, pension, retirement, profit
sharing, stock option (including, without limitation, the granting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance awards or restricted stock awards), stock purchase or other
employee benefit plan, or any other increase in the compensation payable or to become
payable to (x) directors or officers of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (except as
required by Law) or (y) other employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (except
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (in amount and kind) or as
required by Law), or (ii) any employment, consulting or indemnification agreement,
contract or arrangement (other than the hiring or dismissal of at will employees in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (in amount and kind));
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(2) any termination or failure to renew, or any written or, to the Knowledge
of the Company, oral threat (that was not subsequently withdrawn) to terminate or fail to
renew, any Company Material Contract;

(h)  any merger with or into or consolidation with any other person, or any
subdivision, combination or, in any way, reclassification of any shares of capital stock of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any modification or amendment, or agreement to
modify or amend, in any manner the rights to the Company's or any of its Subsidiary’s
outstanding capital stock;

(1) any material change to any of the business, operations or material
policies of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, advertising,
investment, marketing, pricing, purchasing, production, personnel, sales, returns, budget or
other product acquisition policies;

§)) except for intercompany loans, any loan or advance by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries to any of its or their stockholders, officers, directors, consultants or
employees or other representatives (except for expense advances made to employees in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (in amount and kind) or any loan
or advance otherwise than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice

(in amount and kind));

(k)  except for inventory or equipment in the ordinary course of business,
any sale, abandonment, transfer, lease, license or any other disposition of any properties or
assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or acquisition of any capital stock or
business of any other person (or any reaching of an agreement, arrangement or
understanding to do the same) involving payments individually in excess of $25,000;

M except for intercompany loans, (i) any incurrence of indebtedness or
assumption, guarantee or other responsibility for the debts of any other Person (other than
check-clearing endorsements made in the ordinary course of business) by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any loans, advances or capital contributions to or investments in
any other Person (other than advances against commissions and advances of expenses to
sales personnel in the normal course of business) by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, or (iii) any grant of any security interest or creation or modification of any
Encumbrances on any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,
other than in respect of Permitted Liens and, in any case, involving amounts individually in
excess of $25,000;

(m) any modification, amendment, transfer or waiver of any material right
under any Company Material Contract, or any permitted lapse of any rights to the use of
any Company, Intangibles or any sale, assignment, license, transfer or other disposition of
any rights thereto, in each case except in the ordinary course of business consistent with

past practice;

(n) any payment by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of bonuses or
severance pay or any other obligation arising as a result of termination of employment; or

- 16 -
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(o) any agreement, arrangement or other understanding to do, cause or
suffer any of the foregoing,.

Section 3.9 Absence of Litigation.

Except as disclosed in Section 3.9 of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no
Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against, affecting or
involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their properties or rights, or
which seeks to prevent or challenge the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company
and its Subsidiaries are not subject to any continuing Orders, including, without hmltatlon
cease-and-desist orders.

Section 3.10 Material Contracts; No Default.

(a)  Except as otherwise listed in Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure
Schedules (such contracts and agreements as are required to be set forth in Section 3.10(a)
of the Disclosure Schedules, together with the leases with respect to the Leased Real
Property (the "Leases"), being referred to herein, collectively, as the "Company Material
Contracts") the Company and its Subsidiaries are not, as of the date of this Agreement,
party to or bound by any of the following contracts, agreements, commitments, or
instruments, whether oral or written:

(i) employment, commission or consulting agreements (other
than any such agreement that is "at will" and the termination of which would not result in
any severance, penalty or similar payment being owed by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries);

(ii)  collective bargaining agreements or other contracts or
commitments to or with any labor unions or other employee representatives or groups of
employees;

(iil)  contracts or agreements limiting the right of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries (A) to engage in, or to compete with any Person in, any business,
including each contract or agreement containing exclusivity provisions restricting the
geographical area in which, or the method by which, any business may be conducted by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (B) to solicit any customer or client;

(iv)  indemnity or guaranty arrangements, business acquisition
agreements, licenses, nondisclosure agreements (other than licenses of rights to software and
nondisclosure agreements entered into with customers in the ordinary course of business),
and joint-venture agreements;

) agreements or contracts with any officer, director or employee
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than employment, commission and
consulting agreements covered by clause (i) above and other than confidentiality and
nondisclosure agreements in favor of the Company and its Subsidiaries, copies of which
have been provided to the Purchasers;
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(vi)  (A) leases or similar agreements under which (x) the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries is lessee of, or holds or uses, any machinery, equipment, vehicle or
other tangible personal property owned by a third person or (y) the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is a lessor or sublessor of, or makes available for use by any third person, any
tangible personal property owned or leased by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or
(B) continuing contracts for the future purchase of materials, supplies or equipment
requiring annual payments individually in excess of $25,000;

(vii)  except for licenses of Commercially Available Software,
material licenses or other agreements relating in whole or in part to any Company
Intangibles (including any material license or other material agreement under which the
Company has the right to use any of the same owned or held by any third Person);

(viil)) agreements or contracts under which the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries has borrowed or loaned any money or issued any note, bond, indenture or
other evidence of indebtedness or directly or indirectly guaranteed the indebtedness,
liabilities or obligations of others (other than (w) intercompany obligations, (x) check-
clearing endorsements made in the ordinary course of business, (y) accounts receivable and
accounts payable generated in the ordinary course of business, and (z) travel and similar
expense advances to employees in the ordinary course of business and immaterial in
amount);

(ix)  mortgages, pledges, security agreements, deeds of trust or
other documents granting a lien (including liens upon properties acquired under conditional
sales, capital leases or other title retention or security devices) with respect to any property;

x) material contracts or commitments affecting ownership of,
title to, use of, or any interest in real estate (other than the Leases);

(xi)  contracts or commitments, whether or not in the ordinary
course of business, which involve future payments, performance of services or delivery of
goods and/or materials, to or by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of an aggregate
amount or value in excess of $100,000;

(xii) other agreements, contracts, leases, licenses, commitments,
arrangements or instruments to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by
or to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their assets or business is
bound or subject which has an aggregate future liability (as to such contract or commitment
individually) as of the date hereof in excess of $100,000;

(xiii) contracts or commitments with distributors, sales
representatives and other third parties providing sales and promotional services with respect
to the Company's and its Subsidiaries' products; or

(xiv) any other contract which, if terminated or breached, or if the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries otherwise loses the benefits thereof, would resultin a
Material Adverse Effect.
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'(b)  Each Company Material Contract is in full force and effect and is a
legal, valid and binding contract or agreement of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, as
applicable, and there is no material default (or any event which, with the giving of notice or
lapse of time or both, would be a material default) by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party, in the timely
performance of any obligation to be performed or paid under any of the Company Material
Contracts. No written or, to the Knowledge of the Company, oral notice has been received
by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any default under or termination of any
Company Material Contract which has not been cured as of the date hereof or which cannot
be promptly cured without the payment of any material sums with respect thereto. The
Company has either delivered or made available to the Purchasers true, complete and
correct copies of all Company Material Contracts or, in the case of oral Company Material
Contracts, true, complete and correct summaries thereof.

Section 3.11 Customers, Distributors, Etc.

(2) Except as set forth in Section 3.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules,
during the last twelve (12) calendar months, no Significant Relationship has (i) cancelled,
failed to renew or otherwise terminated, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened
to cancel, fail to renew or otherwise terminate, its relationship with the Company and/or its
Subsidiaries, or (ii) materially changed, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, requested a
material adverse change in, the price or quantity of the products or services sold or
provided by or to the Company. "Significant Relationship" shall mean (x) any customer
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any distributor, sales representative or other
third party providing sales or promotional services to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries that accounted for $2,000,000 or more of revenues for the most recent twelve
(12) calendar months ended August 31, 2004, or that could reasonably be expected to
account for $2,000,000 or more of revenues for the next twelve (12) calendar months.
Section 3.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the name of each Significant
Relationship and the revenues attributable to such Significant Relationship.

(b) The Company and its Subsidiariés are currently in compliance, in all
material respects, with the terms of its and their customer contracts. Section 3.11(b) of the
Disclosure Schedules sets forth any customer contract of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries that the customer has cancelled, failed to renew or otherwise terminated at any

time during the last thirty-six (36) calendar months.

Section 3.12 Emplovee Benefit Plans: Labor Matters.

(a) Section 3.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true and
complete list of (i) each employee benefit or compensation plan, program, arrangement or
contract (including, without limitation, any plan or arrangement of the type described in
Section 3.8(f) and any "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA")) which is now or within
the last three years has been sponsored, maintained, contributed to, or required to be
contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate or as to
which any of the foregoing has or could reasonably be expected to have any material
liability, contingent or otherwise (each a "Company Employee Plan") and (ii) each
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management, employment, severance, consulting, non-compete, confidentiality or similar
agreement or contract currently in effect between the Company and any current, former or
retired employee, officer, consultant, independent contractor, agent or director of the
Company (each an "Employee") (each such agreement an "Employee Agreement").
Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has any plan or commitment to establish any
new Company Employee Plan, to modify any Company Employee Plan (except as required
by law or to retain the tax qualified status of such Company Employee Plan), or to enter
into or modify any Employee Agreement except as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the
Disclosure Schedules. For purposes of this Agreement, "ERISA Affiliate" means any
business or entity which is a member of a "controlled group of corporations" under
"common control” or an "affiliated service group" with the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries within the meaning of any of Sections 414(b), (c), or (m) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or required to be aggregated with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries under Section 414(0) of the Code or is under "common
control" with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries within the meaning of Section
4001(a)(14) of ERISA.

b) The Company has made available to the Purchasers (i) true and
complete copies of (or otherwise provided access to) all documents embodying or directly
relating to each Company Employee Plan currently in effect and each Employee Agreement
including all amendments thereto and written interpretations thereof, (ii) the two most
recent annual reports (Series 5500 and all schedules thereto), if any, required under ERISA
in connection with each Company Employee Plan and trust currently in effect; (iii) the most
recent determination letter received from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), if any,
for each Company Employee Plan and trust currently in effect; and (iv) the most recent
summary plan description (as described on Section 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules)
together with the most recent summary of material modifications required under ERISA
with respect to éach Company Employee Plan and all material communications to any
Employee relating to each Company Employee Plan and any proposed Company Employee
Plan.

(¢)  Except as set forth in Section 3.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedules (1) the

Company and its Subsidiaries, as applicable, have performed all material obligations
required to be performed under each Company Employee Plan, and, to the Knowledge of
the Company, each Company Employee Plan has been established and maintained in
accordance with its terms and in material compliance with all applicable laws, statutes,
orders, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, ERISA and the Code; (ii) to the
Knowledge of the Company, each Company Employee Plan intended to qualify under
Section 401 of the Code is, and since its inception has been so qualified, and each trust
forming a part of any such Company Employee Plan is exempt from tax pursuant to Section
501 (a) of the Code and no circumstances exist which would adversely affect this
_ qualification of exemption; (iii) no non-exempt "prohibited transaction," within the

meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA, has occurred with respect
to any Company Employee Plan; (iv) there are no material actions, suits or claims pending
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened (other than routine claims for benefits)
against the Company with respect to any Company Employee Plan or against any Company
Employee Plan, or against the assets of any Company Employee Plan; (v) no action or
failure to act and no transaction or holding of assets by, or with respect to, any Company
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Employee Plan has or, to the Knowledge of the Company, may subject the Company or any
o fits Subsidiaries, any fiduciary or other "plan official" (within the meaning of Section 412
of ERISA) to any tax, penalty, liability or other disability, whether by way of indemnity or
otherwise; and (vi) each Company Employee Plan can be amended, terminated or otherwise
discontinued after the Closing Date pursuant to its terms, without liability to the Company,
its Subsidiaries, the Purchasers or any of their respective Affiliates.

(d)  Neither the Company, nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any ERISA
Affiliate presently maintains or in the past has maintained a "defined benefit plan," as
defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA.

(e At no time since the Company's inception has the Company, any of its
Subsidiaries or an ERISA Affiliate been required to contribute to, or incurred any
withdrawal liability (within the meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA) to any "multiemployer
plan," as defined in Sections 3(37) and 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

® Except as set forth in Section 3.12(f) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company and its Subsidiaries are not presently and since their respective inceptions have
not been a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement or union contract
with respect to Employees with regard to their relationship to the Company. There are no
pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened representation questions
respecting the Employees. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is involved in
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened with, any labor dispute, arbitration or
lawsuit that is material in nature and relates to labor and employment matters involving
Employees. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened labor
organizing activities, whether within or without the United States.

(2) Except as set forth in Section 3.12(g) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company and its Subsidiaries do not maintain or contribute to any Company Employee
Plan that provides, or has any liability to provide, life insurance, medical or other welfare
benefits to any Employee(s) upon their retirement or termination of employment, except as
may be required by law, and the Company and its Subsidiaries have not represented,
promised or contracted (whether in oral or written form) to any Employee¢ (either
individually or to Employees as a group) that such Employee(s) would be provided with
such benefits upon their retirement or termination of employment.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 3.12(h) of the Disclosure Schedules the
execution of, and performance of the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement and the
Related Agreements will not (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or
subsequent events) constitute an event under any Company Employee Plan, Employee
Agreement, trust or loan that will or may result in any payment (whether of severance pay
or otherwise), acceleration, forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, increase in
benefits or obligation to fund benefits with respect to any Employee.

() Except as set forth in Section 3.12(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all material
applicable Law respecting employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of
employment, wages, hours and withholding, including, without limitation, the provisions of
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the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, and payment of all required
amounts (including, without limitation, income and employment taxes).

)] Except as set forth in Section 3.12(j) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any material liability (and to the Knowledge of
the Company, there is no basis for any present or future Proceeding against it giving rise to
any material liability) arising out of any discrimination against or harassment of employees
or prospective employees based on race, sex, religion, ethnicity, sexual preference or
handicap or other physical or mental impairment or disability.

Section 3.13  Tax Matters.
Except as set forth in Section 3.13 of the Disclosure Schedules:

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) filed in accordance with all
applicable laws when due all Returns (as herein defined) required to be filed by them,
(ii) paid all Taxes shown to have become due pursuant to such Retumns, and (iii) paid all
Taxes (other than those being contested in good faith) for which a notice of, or assessment
or demand for, payment has been received or which are otherwise due and payable whether
or not reflected on a Return. All Returns filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
with respect to Taxes are true, complete and correct, in all material réspects. The accruals
for Taxes set forth on the most recent consolidated balance sheet included in the Company
Financial Statements properly reflect all known or contingent liabilities for Taxes through
the date thereof in accordance with GAAP. The accruals for deferred Tax liability on such
Company Financial Statements are adequate under GAAP to cover liability for deferred
Taxes through the Closing Date.

®) Complete copies of all federal, state, local and foreign income tax and
other material non-income tax Returns, including amended returns, of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, that have been filed with respect to past taxable periods for which the
limitations period has not run, have been delivered or made available to the Purchasers
prior to the date hereof. Prior to the date hereof, the Company has provided to the
Purchasers copies of all revenue agents' reports and other written assertions by
governmental authorities of deficiencies or other liabilities for Taxes of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries with respect to past periods for which the limitations period has not
run, and each of such items has been set forth in Section 3.13(b) of the Disclosure
Schedules.

(c) (i) There is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, proposed with respect to any liability for Tax that relates to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries; (it) all amounts required to be collected or withheld by the Company
and its Subsidiaries with respect to Taxes have been duly collected or withheld and any
such amounts that are required to be remitted to any taxing authority have been duly
remitted; (iii) no extension of time within which to file any Return that relates to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been requested, which Return has not since been
filed; (iv) there are no waivers or extensions of any applicable statute of limitations for the
assessment or collection of Taxes with respect to any Return that relates to the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries which remain in effect; (v) there are no tax rulings, requests for
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1177819



FILE NO.
82- 34708

rulings, or closing agreements to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or
is subject which could affect its liability for Taxes for any period after the Closing; (vi) no
power of attorney has been granted by the Company with respect to any matter relating to
Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which is currently in force; (vii) the
Company and its Subsidiaries have made all payments of estimated Taxes required to be
made under Section 6655 of the Code and any comparable provisions of state, local or
foreign law; (viii) any adjustment of Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries made
by the IRS in any examination which is required to be reported to the appropriate state,
local or foreign taxing authorities has been reported, and any additional Taxes due with
respect thereto (other than those which are contested in good faith and with respect to
which sufficient reserves have been established) have been paid; (ix) each of the Company
and its Subsidiaries has not at any time been a member of any affiliated group (within the
meaning of Section 1504(2) of the Code) or combined or unitary group (other than any such
group that currently exists and which includes the Company or any of its Subsidiaries);

(x) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not and has not been a party to any tax
sharing agreement (including any agreement or arrangement regarding Taxes with respect
to any entity that has been sold or disposed of by the Company); (xi) neither the Company
nor any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to make or is required to make any adjustment under
Section 481 of the Internal Revenue Code by reason of a change in accounting method,;
(xii) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not nor has it ever been a United States
real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the
Internal Revenue Code; and (xii) there are no tax liens on any assets of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries other than liens for Taxes not yet due and payable.

(d Except as set forth in Section 3.13(d) of the Disclosure Schedules,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has made any payments, is obligated to
make any payments, or is a party to any contract, agreement or arrangement covering any
current or former employee or consultant of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,
respectively, that under certain circumstances could require it to make or give rise to any
payments that are not deductible as a result of the provisions set forth in Section 280G of
the Internal Revenue Code or the treasury regulations thereunder or would result in an
excise tax to the recipient of any such payment under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue

Code.

(e) For purposes of this Agreement, "Tax" or "Taxes" shall mean any and
all taxes, charges, fees, levies, and other governmental assessments and impositions of any
kind, payable to any federal, state, local or foreign Governmental Entity or taxing authority
or agency, including, without limitation, (i) income, franchise, profits, gross receipts,
minimum, alternative minimum, estimated, ad valorem, value added, sales, use, service,
real or personal property, capital stock, license, payroll, withholding, disability,
employment, social security, workers compensation, unemployment compensation, utility,
severance, production, excise, stamp, occupation, premiums, windfall profits, transfer and
gains taxes, (ii) customs duties, imposts, charges, levies or other similar assessments of any
kind, and (iii) interest, penalties and additions to tax imposed with respect thereto; and
"Returns" shall mean any and all returns, reports and information statements with respect
to Taxes required to be filed with the IRS or any other Governmental Entity or Tax
authority or agency, whether domestic or foreign, including, without limitation,
consolidated, combined and unitary tax returns.
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Section 3.14  Software and Other Intangibles.

(a) The Company owns or has a valid license to use (i) all of the Software
owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and Software developed or under
development by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, "Owned Company
Software"); (ii) all of the Software that is licensed to or marketed by the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries (other than Commercially Available Software and the Owned Company
Software); and (ii1) all names, corporate names, fictitious names, trade names, trademarks,
trademark applications, service marks, service mark applications, patents, patent
applications, copyrights, copyright applications, trade secrets and know-how that are owned
or used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (such Software and Intangibles described
in subsections (i), (ii) and (iii) above and Commercially Available Software collectively
referred to herein as the "Company Intangibles"). The Company Intangibles include all
the intellectual property used in and/or necessary for the conduct of the business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, as presently conducted and, to the Knowledge of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, as proposed to be conducted in the future. Section 3.14(a)i
of the Disclosure Schedules contains an accurate list of all of the Company's software
products that the Company offers for sale or license (the "Commercialized Company
Software"). Section 3.14(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules contains an accurate list of all
names, corporate names, fictitious names, trade names, registered trademarks, trademark
applications, registered service marks, service mark applications, patents, patent
applications, registered copyrights, and copyright applications that are owned or used by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

b) Except as set forth in Section 3.14(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company or at least one of its Subsidiaries has (i) good and valid title to all of the
Company Intangibles that are owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(collectively, "Owned Company Intangibles"), (ii) the valid right to use all other
Company Intangibles (other than Commercially Available Software) as necessary to
currently operate the Company's business and (iii) the valid right to use all Commercially
Available Software, in each case as necessary to currently operate the business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries free and clear of any Encumbrance (except for Permitted
Encumbrances). Except as set forth in Section 3.14(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, no
rights of any third party are necessary to market, license, sell, modify, update, and/or create
derivative works for the Owned Company Intangibles.

(©) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) transferred
ownership of or granted (and is not obligated to grant) any license of or other right to use
any Intangible that is or was a Owned Company Intangible, to any third party, (ii)
authorized any third party to retain any rights to use any Intangible that is or was an Owned
Company Intangible, or (iii) caused or permitted any Owned Company Intangible to lapse,
expire, be abandoned or otherwise enter the public domain. None of the Owned Company
Intangibles is or was required to be licensed or contributed under any forum, consortium,
pooling or other standards body agreement. The Owned Company Software, and all other
products or services of the Company and its Subsidiaries, complies with all technical
standards applicable to such software, products and services and with all written warranties,
specifications and documentation provided by Company or its Subsidiaries. Neither the
Company nor its Subsidiaries have received any claim that any of the Owned Company
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Software, or the other products or services of the Company and its Subsidiaries fails to
conform or otherwise comply with such warranties, specifications and documentation.

(d)  Except as set forth in Section 3.14(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) had all of the Owned Company Intangibles created
as a work for hire (as defined under U.S. copyright law) for the Company or its Subsidaries
by regular full time employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries or (ii) to the extent that
any author or developer was not a regular full-time employee of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries at the time such Person contributed to any Owned Company Intangibles, had
such author or developer irrevocably assign to the Company in writing all copyrights and
other proprietary rights in such Person's work with respect to such Owned Company
Intangibles, or (iii) otherwise acquired from a third party who assigned all proprietary righs
in the Owned Company Intangibles to the Company or its Subsidiaries. Each of the regular
full-time employees and other authors and developers who develop or contribute to any
Owned Company Intangibles has executed and delivered to the Company or one of its
Subsidiaries a written Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement,
substantially similar in form to the form provided to the Purchasers.

(e Expect as set forth in Section 3.14(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, with
respect to the Owned Company Software (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries maintain
machine-readable master-reproducible copies, source code listings, technical
documentation and online user documentation for the most current releases or versions
thereof and for all earlier material releases or versions thereof currently being supported by
them; (ii) in each case, the machine-readable copy substantially conforms to the
corresponding source code listing; (iii) it can be reasonably maintained and modified by
reasonably competent programmers familiar with the reléevant language, hardware and
operating systems; and (iv) in each case, it operates in accordance with the relevant online
documentation, in all material respects, therefor without material operating defects. No
third party is in possession of, or has acquired rights to access, use or modify the source
code to any Owned Company Software, and except as set forth on Section 3.14(e) of the
Disclosure Schedules, no "Release Event" or "Release Condition" or similar trigger event
has occurred, such that any third party has accessed or received any source code for any
Owned Company Software, or otherwise notified the Company, its Subsidiaries or, to the
Knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the source code escrow agent, that it is
entitled to a release of the source code for any Owned Company Software.

® (i) None of the Owned Company Intangibles, and to the Knowledge of
the Company and its Subsidiaries none of the other Company Intangibles (other than
Commercially Available Software), or their respective past or current uses, including the
preparation, distribution, marketing or licensing thereof, has violated or infringed upon, or
is violating or infringing upon, any Software, technology, patent, copyright, trade secret or
other Intangible of any Person, (ii) none of the Owned Company Intangibles, and to the
Knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries none of the other Company Intangibles
(other than Commercially Available Software), is subject to any material Order; (iii) no
Proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, is threatened, in writing, nor
has any written claim or demand been made, which challenges or challenged the legality,
validity, enforceability, use or exclusive ownership by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries of any of the Owned Company Intangibles; (iv) to the Knowledge of the

1177819 -25-




FILE NO.
82 - 34708

Company, no Person is violating or infringing upon, or has violated or infringed upon at
any time, any of the Owned Company Intangibles, and to the Knowledge of the Company
and its Subsidiaries none of the other Company Intangibles (other than Commercially
Available Software); and (v) the use by the Company and its Subsidiaries of the Company
Intangibles does not violate any license terms or other contractual restrictions, or any
confidentiality obligations owed by the Company or its Subsidiaries, or, to the Knowledge
of the Company and its Subsidiaries, by any of its employees, to any third parties.

(8 The execution and consummation of this Agreement and the Related
Agreements, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, without notice to or
consent from any third party, will not (i) breach or violate any contract or license with any
third party, (ii) give rise to any right to terminate any such contract or license, (iii) give rise
to any penalty, forfeiture, extension of terms, reduction or elimination of royalties or any
other adverse term, or (iv) grant, license, convey or assign any rights in Company
Intangibles to any third party, including, without limitation, relating to a release of source
code from a source code escrow.

(h)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has taken commercially
reasonable steps (in accordance with Software and data processing industry standards) to
maintain the confidentiality of all of its trade secrets with respect to the Owned Company
Intangibles and any other Company Intangibles for which it owes a duty of confidentiality
to any third party. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a party to a written
confidentiality, non-disclosure or similar agreement, containing customary terms and
conditions, with each third party to whom the Company or its Subsidiaries has disclosed
trade secrets or other confidential information. The Company and its Subsidiaries have
taken commercially reasonable steps to protect the Company and its Subsidiaries' rights in
confidential information and trade secrets.

i) Any license, sublicense or other contract, commitment or agreement,
whether oral or written, covering or relating to any Company Intangible is legal, valid,
binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, in all material respects, and upon
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will continue to be legal, valid,
binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, in all respects, on terms identical to those
in effect immediately prior to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in breach of or default under, any
license, sublicense or other contract, commitment or agreement covering or relating to any
Company Intangible or has performed any act or omitted to perform any act which, with
notice or lapse of time or both, will become or result in a violation, breach or default
thereunder.

) None of the Software or other Intangibles listed or required to be listed
in Section 3.14(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, is owned by or registered in the name of any
current or former owner, shareholder, member, partner, director, executive, officer,
employee, salesman, agent, customer, representative or contractor of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries (or any of their respective Affiliates or predecessors) nor does any such
Person have any material interest therein or material right thereto, including the right to
royalty payments. The Company or its Subsidiaries is the sole and exclusive owner of
record with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or any similar entity or foreign
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counterpart, as applicable, of any registered Owned Company Software or other registered
Owned Company Intangibles. Each item of registered Owned Company Software and
Owned Company Intangibles is valid and subsisting, and all necessary registration,
maintenance, renewal fees, annuity fees and taxes in connection with such registrations
have been paid and all necessary documents and certificates in connection therewith have
been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities in the United
States or foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of maintaining such
registered Owned Company Software and registered Owned Company Intangibles.

(k)  Except as disclosed in Section 3.14(k) of the Disclosure Schedules,
except with respect to demonstration or trial copies, no portion of any Company Intangibles
(other than Commercially Available Software) contains any "back door," "time bomb,"
"Trojan horse," "worm," "drop dead device," "virus" or other software routines or hardware
components designed tovpermit access or to disable or erase software, hardware, or data
without the consent of the user. Except as disclosed in Section 3.14(k) of the Disclosure
Schedules, no portion of any Company Intangibles (other than Commercially Available
Software) contains any "freeware," "shareware" "open source" or other public domain
software or software code.

M Except as disclosed in Section 3.14(1) of the Disclosure Schedules, there
is no governmental prohibition or restriction on the use of any of the Owned Company
Intangibles in the United States or any other jurisdiction or on the export of any of the
Owned Company Intangibles from the United States or any other jurisdiction to any
jurisdiction or the import to the United States or any other jurisdiction from any
jurisdiction.

(m)  Section 3.14(m) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a complete list of
all contracts, licenses, agreements, covenants and other documents between the Company
or its Subsidiaries and any third party wherein or whereby the Company or its Subsidiaries
have agreed to, or assumed, any obligation or duty to warrant, indemnify, reimburse, hold
harmless, guaranty or otherwise assume or incur any obligation or liability or provide a
right of rescission or termination with respect to the violation, infringement or
misappropriation by the Company, its Subsidiaries or such third party, of the intellectual
property rights of any third party other than the Company.

(n)  Except as disclosed in Section 3.14(n) of the Disclosure Schedules,
there is no contract or license between the Company or its Subsidiaries and any third party
pertaining to Intangibles (whether inbound, outbound or otherwise) under which there is
any dispute (and, to the Knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, there are no facts
or circumstances that may reasonably be expected to lead to a dispute) regarding the scope
of such contract or license, or performance under such contract or license, including with
respect to any payment to be made or received by the Company or its Subsidiaries
thereunder.
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Section 3.15 Certain Business Practices and Regulations; Potential Conflicts
of Interest.

(a) Neither the Company, nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge
of the Company, any directors, officers, agents or employees of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries has (i) used any corporate funds for unlawful contributions, gifts,
entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity, (ii) made any
unlawful payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees or to foreign
or domestic political parties or campaigns from corporate funds or violated any provision of
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or (iii) paid or made any unlawful
bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payback, kickback or other unlawful payment.

(b)  To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Affiliates, officers,
directors or agents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any spouse, lineal
descendent or entity controlled by any of the foregoing (i) owns, directly or indirectly, in
whole or in part, any real or personal property that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
uses in the conduct of its business, (ii) has any cause of action or other suit, action or claim
whatsoever against, or owes any amount (contingent or otherwise) to, or is owed any
amount (contingent or otherwise) by, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than
claims in the ordinary course of business resulting from such Person's status as an officer,
director or agent of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries such as for accrued salary,
bonus, commissions, vacation pay or accrued benefits under employee benefit plans,

(iii) has sold to, or purchased from, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any assets or
property (other than the Company’s capital stock) for aggregate consideration in excess of
$10,000 since December 31, 2003, or (iv) is a party to any contract or participates in any
arrangement, written or oral, pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
provides in-kind services to any such individual or entity, except to such individual in his
capacity as an employee of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries.

Section 3.16  Insurance.

Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a list of all policies or binders of
fire, liability, product liability, worker's compensation, vehicular and other insurance held by
or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, the "Insurance
Contracts"), including the amounts of such insurance and annual premiums with respect
thereto. Such Insurance Contracts are valid and binding in accordance with their terms and
are in full force and effect. The Company and its Subsidiaries are not in material default
with respect to any provision contained in any such Insurance Contract nor has the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries failed to give any notice of any claim under any such Insurance
Contract in due and timely fashion. In the past twelve months, the Company and its
Subsidiaries have not received any written notice from any of its insurance carriers that any
insurance premiums (including, without limitation, worker's compensation premiums) will
be materially increased in the future or that any Insurance Contract will not be available in
the future on substantially the same terms as now in effect. Except as set forth in Section
3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
Related Agreements and the consummation and performance by the Company of this
Agreement and the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby will not result in any such cancellation or amendment.
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Section 3.17  Accuracy of Information: Full Disclosure.

(a) None of the representations and warranties or the Disclosure Schedules
delivered to the Purchasers by the Company in connection with the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby contains any untrue statement of a material
fac_t‘:or omits, or will omit, to state any material fact required to be stated herein or therein
or necessary in order to make the statements contained herein or therein, in the light of the
circumstances in which they were made, not misleading. :

) All governmental filings and disclosure documents required by
Applicable Securities Laws to be made by the Company with respect to the Offer will
contain (and will be amended in a timely manner so as to contain) all information which is
required to be included therein in accordance with Applicable Securities Laws and none of
such filings and documents, at the respective times they are filed with the applicable
Govemnmental Entity or published, sent or given to the holders of Company Stock and
Company Options, shall contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements
therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading; provided,
however, that no representation or warranty is hereby made by the Company with respect to
any information supplied by the Purchasers in writing for inclusion in such filings and
documents. None of the information supplied or to be supplied in writing by the Company
for inclusion or incorporation by reference in, or which may be deemed to be incorporated
by reference in, any of the Offer Documents will, at the respective times the Offer
Documents are filed with the applicable Governmental Entities or published, sent or given
to the holders of Company Stock and Company Options, contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not

misleading.

Section 3.18 Brokers.

Except as set forth on Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedules, no broker, finder or
investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related
Agreements or based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.

Section 3.19  Real Property.
(a) The Company does not own any real property.

(b)  Section 3.19(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all real property leased
to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (the "Leased Real Property"), and specifies the
location of each such property. The Company has delivered to the Purchasers copies of all
leases pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries leases the Leased Real

Property.

(c) To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no leases, subleases,
licenses, right of way agreements, easements, occupancy agreements or other agreements
granting to any Person other than the Company and its Subsidiaries any right to the
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possession use, occupancy or enjoyment of the Leased Real Property or any portion
thereof.

Section 3.20  Title to Properties.

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to or
valid leasehold interests in all of its and their material tangible personal property, including,
without limitation, (i) all of the assets reflected on the Company Financial Statements,

(ii) the material tangible property described in Section 3.14, Section 3.21, and Section 3.22
of this Agreement, and (iii) all other material tangible property or assets of any kind used or
held for use by the Company and its Subsidiaries which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries purports to own, in each case free and clear of any Encumbrance or exceptions
to title, except for (A) Encumbrances securing obligations set forth in the Company
Financial Statements; (B) properties disposed of, or subject to purchase or sales orders or
conditional sale arrangements, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice; (C) Encumbrances securing taxes, all of which are due but not delinquent or are
being contested in good faith; (D) suppliers', materialmens, mechanics and similar liens
which arise in the ordinary course of business, all of which are not delinquent or are being
contested in good faith; and (E) Encumbrances which do not, individually or in the
aggregate, materially detract from the value of such property, interfere with the use,
occupancy or operation of such property as currently used (all items in clauses (A) through
(E) are collectively referred to herein as "Permitted Liens").

() The assets, rights, and properties owned, licensed or leased by the
Company and its Subsidiaries constitute all assets, rights, and properties necessary to
conduct the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.

Section 3.21 Accounts Receivable.

Section 3.21 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth an aging of the Company's
accounts receivable and accounts payable as of August 31, 2004. The accounts receivable
and accounts payable set forth in Section 3.21 of the Disclosure Schedules and those
reflected in the Company Financial Statements, and those accounts acquired or created after
the Company Financial Statements through the Closing Date, are and shall be bona fide and
created in the ordinary and usual course of business in connection with bona fide
transactions and consistent with past practice. The allowance for doubtful accounts that
appear in Section 3.21 of the Disclosure Schedules and the Company Financial Statements
have been fairly determined consistent with past practices in accordance with GAAP. The
accounts receivable to be reflected in the books and records of the Company as of the
Closing Date will have been created in the ordinary and usual course of business in
connection with bona fide transactions and consistent with past practice, and the allowances
for doubtful accounts associated therewith will have been determined on a basis consistent
with the basis used in determining the allowances for doubtful accounts reflected in the
Disclosure Schedules and the Company Financial Statements. Not less than ninety percent
(90%) of the amount of accounts receivable to be reflected in the books and records of the
Company as of the Closing Date will be good and collectible in all respects in the ordinary
course of business at the aggregate recorded amounts thereof, net of any applicable
allowances for doubtful accounts reflected thereon, which allowances will be determined on
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a basis consistent with the basis used in determining the allowances for doubtful accounts
reflected in the Disclosure Schedules and the Company Financial Statements.

Section 3.22 Tangible Property.

The buildings, facilities, machinery, equipment, furniture, leasehold and other
improvements, fixtures, vehicles, structures, any related capitalized items and other tangible
property material to the business and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries (the
"Tangible Property") are in proper operating condition and repair (normal wear and tear
excepted) and are subject to continued repair and replacement in accordance with past
practice. During the immediately preceding three years, there has not been any significant
interruption of the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries due specifically to
inadequate maintenance of the Tangible Property.

Section 3.23 Environmental Matters; Compliance with Laws.

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained all material permits,
licenses, registrations, consents and other authorizations that are required with respect to
the operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries under any applicable
Environmental Law (the "Environmental Permits"), and all such Environmental Permits
are in full force and effect;

(b)  tothe Knowledge of the Company, no quantities of Hazardous
Substances are being stored at any of the real property leased by the Company and its

Subsidiaries (as set forth on Section 3.19(b) of the Disclosure Schedule) except in
compliance with applicable Environmental Law and in a manner that would not reasonably

be expected to cause the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to incur any Environmental
Costs that could result in a Material Adverse Effect;

(c) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no underground or
aboveground storage tanks at, on, or about, under or within any real property owned,
operated or controlled in whole or in part by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(d)  the Company and its Subsidiaries are now and have, at all times during
the immediately preceding three years, been in compliance, in all material respects, with
applicable Environmental Laws;

(e) during the immediately preceding three years, neither the Company nor
any of its Subsidiaries has received from any Governmental Entity a written request to
perform any investigatory or remedial activity or other action in connection with any
Environmental Matter, except for requests relating to matters that have been resolved or
completed in all material respects. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no existing
basis upon which any such request or requirement is reasonably likely to be issued to the

Company.
Section 3.24  No Undisclosed Liabilities.

The Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any liability or obligations of any
nature, actual, absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise, other than the following:

1177819 -31-




FILE NO.
82 - 34708

€)] Liabilities accrued for, reserved against, provided for or disclosed in the
Company Financial Statements and the notes thereto;

(b)  Trade payables and other ordinary course expense accruals arising since
the date of the Company Financial Statements and prior to the Closing Date; and

(c) Liabilities set forth in Section 3.24 of the Disclosure Schedules or that
have been disclosed in any other Disclosure Schedule, including under any Company
Material Contract.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

Each of the Selling Stockholders, severally and not jointly, shall, by tendering shares
of Company Stock or Company Options pursuant to the Offer, represent and warrant to the

Purchasers that:
Section 4.1 Authority.

Such Selling Stockholder has all requisite power and authority to tender the shares of
Company Stock and Company Options tendered by it pursuant to the Offer and to perform
his, her or its obligations under this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements. The
consummation by such Selling Stockholder of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Applicable Agreements have been duly authorized by all necessary
action and no other proceedings on the part of such Selling Stockholder are necessary to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the
Applicable Agreements have been duly acknowledged or executed, as applicable, by such
Selling Stockholder and assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the Applicable Agreements by the other parties hereto, the obligations of
such Selling Stockholder hereunder and thereunder constitute the legal, valid and binding
obligations of such Selling Stockholder enforceable against such Selling Stockholder in
accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to
enforcement of creditors' rights generally and general equitable principles regardless of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity.

Section 4.2 Title to Company Stock; No Encumbrances.

Such Selling Stockholder has good and marketable title to the shares of Company
Stock tendered by him, her or it pursuant to the Offer. Such Selling Stockholder has the full
and exclusive right, power and authority to tender such shares of Company Stock, free and
clear of all Encumbrances. Upon the acceptance for payment and payment for such shares
of Company Stock by Acquisition Sub pursuant to the Offer, Acquisition Sub will acquire
good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than any
Encumbrances caused by Acquisition Sub.
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Section 4.3 Ownership of Company Qptions.

Such Selling Stockholder has been granted and currently holds the Company Options
tendered by him, her or it pursuant to the Offer, and the dates of grant, number of shares
issuable upon exercise of such Company Options and exercise price of such Company
Options are as set forth in the letter of transmittal accompanying such Company Options.
Such Selling Stockholder owns all of the rights under such Company Options and has not
transferred or created an Encumbrance on any interest of such Selling Stockholder in (a)
such Company Options, (b) the shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of such
Company Options or (¢) such Selling Stockholder's rights to acquire the shares of Company
Stock issuable upon exercse of such Company Options.

Section 4.4 Absence of Litigation.

There is no Proceeding pending, or to the Knowledge of such Selling Stockholder,
threatened against, affecting or involving such Selling Stockholder that seeks to prevent or
challenge the transactions contemplated hereby, or which seeks to challenge such Selling
Stockholder's title to, ownership of or interest in (a) the shares of Company Stock or
Company Options tendered by such Selling Stockholder pursuant to the Offer, (b) the shares
of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of the Company Options tendered by such Selling
Stockholder pursuant to the Offer or (c) such Selling Stockholder's rights to acquire the
shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of the Company Options tendered by such
Selling Stockholder pursuant to the Offer. Such Selling Stockholder is not subject to any
continuing Orders, including, without limitation, cease-and-desist or other orders, except for
Orders that do not prevent or challenge the transactions contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASERS

The Purchasers, jointly and severally, hereby represent and warrant to the Company
that:

Section 5.1 Organization and Qualification.

~ The Fund is, and Acquisition Sub, upon its organization pursuant to Section 7.10
hereof, will be, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its
jurisdiction of formation, has and will have, as applicable, all requisite power and authority
to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as is now being
conducted, and is or will be, as applicable, duly qualified to do business and in good
standing in each jurisdiction in which the character of its properties owned or leased or the
nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification necessary, other than where
the failure to be so duly qualified and in good standing would not have a change or effect
that, individually or when taken together with all such other changes or effects of the same
general type, is or is reasonably likely, at the time of such change or effect, to be materially
adverse to the assets, financial condition, business, operations or prospects of the Purchasers
or to the ability of the Purchasers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Applicable Agreements.
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Section 5.2 Authority.

Each of the Purchasers has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements, as applicable, and to perform its obligations
hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements, as
applicable, by each Purchaser and the consummation by each Purchaser of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary action and no
other proceedings on the part of each Purchaser (other than, in the case of the Fund,
notification to the Fund's limited partners calling for funds to complete the transactions
contemplated hereby) are necessary, to authorize this Agreement or the Applicable
Agreements or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. This
Agreement and the Applicable Agreements have been duly executed and delivered by each
Purchaser, as applicable, and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the Applicable Agreements by the other parties thereto, constitute legal,
valid and binding obligations of each Purchaser enforceable against such Purchaser in
accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to
enforcement of creditors' rights generally and general equitable principles regardless of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity. .

Section 5.3 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Applicable
Agreements by each Purchaser, as applicable, does not, and the consummation and
performance by such Purchaser of this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby will not, (i) conflict with or violate such
Purchaser's organizational documents, (ii) conflict with or violate any Laws applicable to
such Purchaser or by which any of its properties or assets is bound or affected or (iii) result
in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both
would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment,
acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of an Encumbrance on any of the
properties or assets of such Purchaser pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture,
contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrurnent or obligation to
which such Purchaser is a party or by which such Purchaser or any of its properties or
assets is bound or affected, except (x) as set forth in Section 5.3 of the Disclosure
Schedules and (y) for any such conflicts or violations described in clause (ii) or breaches or
defaults described in clause (iii) that would not have a change or effect that, individually or
when taken together with all such other changes or effects of the same general type, is or is
reasonably likely, at the time of such change or effect, to be materially adverse to the ability
of the Purchasers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Applicable Agreements.

(®) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Applicable
Agreements by each Purchaser, as applicable, does not, and the consummation and
performance by such Purchaser of this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby will not, require any consent, approval,
authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, (i) any Governmental Entities
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(including, without limitation, the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of
Justice pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as
amended) or (i) any third Person, except (v) as set forth in Section 5.3 of the Disclosure
Schedules, (w) in the case of the Fund, for notification to the Fund's limited partners calling
for funds to complete the transactions contemplated hereby, (x) for the requirements of
Applicable Securities Laws, (y) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals,
authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not, either
individually or in the aggregate, prevent or delay consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Applicable Agreements or be materially adverse to
the ability of the Purchasers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agréement and the Applicable Agreements, and (z) for any such consents, approvals,
authorizations or permits that have been obtained or such filings or notifications that have

been made.
Section 5.4 No Broker.

No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other
fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and
the Applicable Agreements based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the
Purchasers.

Section 5.5 Absence of Litigation.

~ Except as set forth in Section 5.5 of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no Proceeding
pending, or to the Knowledge of the Purchasers, threatened against, affecting or involving
any Purchaser that seeks to prevent or challenge the transactions contemplated hereby, or
which seeks to challenge the ability of the Purchasers to complete the transactions
contemplated hereby. The Purchasers are not subject to any continuing Orders, including,
without limitation, cease-and-desist or other orders, except for Orders that do not prevent or
challenge the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 5.6 Accuracy of Information.

All governmental filings and disclosure documents required by Applicable Securities

Laws to be made by Acquisition Sub with respect to the Offer will contain (and will be
amended in a timely manner so as to contain) all information which is required to be
included therein in accordance with Applicable Securities Laws and none of such filings and
documents, at the respective times they are filed with the applicable Governmental Entity or
~ published, sent or given to the holders of Company Stock and Company Options, shall

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they are made, not misleading; provided, however, that no
representation or warranty is hereby made by the Purchasers with respect to any information
supplied by the Company in writing for inclusion in such filings and documents. None of
the information supplied or to be supplied in writing by Acquisition Sub for inclusion or
incorporation by reference in, or which may be deemed to be incorporated by reference in,
any of the Recommendation Documents will, at the respective times the Recommendation
Documents are filed with the applicable Governmental Entities or published, sent or given to
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the holders of Company Stock and Company Options, contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not
misleading.

Section 5.7 Funds.

- The Fund and/or its Affiliates have, and as of the Closing, the payment of the
Withholding Amount and the Earn Out Payment, as applicable, will cause Acquisition Sub
to have, sufficient liquid cash funds to permit Acquisition Sub to satisfy its obligation to pay
for shares of Company Stock and Company Options in the Offer, the Withholding Amount
and any Earn Out Payment.

ARTICLE VI
CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

Section 6.1 Pre-Closing Operation of the Company's Business.

(a) The Company hereby covenants and agrees that, between the date
hereof and the Closing, except as set forth in Section 6.1 of the Disclosure Schedules and
unless otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Agreements or
consented to in writing by the Fund (such consent or non-consent not to be unreasonably
delayed), the Company will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, use commercially
reasonable efforts to:

@) operate its business only in the usual and ordinary course
consistent with past practices;

(i)  preserve intact its business organizations and goodwill,
maintain its rights and franchises, retain the services of its officers and employees, and
maintain satisfactory relationships with its customers and suppliers and other third Persons
having business relationships with the Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course
of business consistent with past practice;

(iii)  maintain and keep its properties and assets in as good repair
and condition as at present, ordinary wear and tear excepted;

(iv)  deliver to the Fund within two days of being finally prepared
each set of fiscal year 2004 interim monthly consolidated financial statements of the
Company (collectively, the "Company Interim Financial Statements") prepared in a
manner consistent with past Company unaudited interim consolidated financial statements

supplied to the Fund.

(b)  Except as set forth in Section 6.1 of the Disclosure Schedules and as
expressly contemplated by this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedules and Section
6.4 hereof) or the Related Agreements or otherwise consented to in writing by the Fund
(such consent or non-consent not to be unreasonably delayed), from the date of this
Agreement until the Closing, the Company will not (unless required by applicable Law or
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the regulations or requirements of a regulatory organization applicable to the Company or
its Subsidiaries), nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, do any of the following:

1) except to the extent required by contractual obligations or
legally enforceable and binding obligations under corporate policies in existence on the date
hereof, (A) increase the compensation payable to, or to become payable to, any (x) director
of the Company or Management Holder, or (y) consultant or other employee of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except in the case of this subclause (y) for increases in
salary or wages payable, or to become payable, in the ordinary course of business and
consistent with past practice (in amount and form); (B) grant any severance, termination, or
other payment arising as the result of termination of employment (whether such termination
was before or after the date of this Agreement), excluding any amounts (including accrued
vacation pay) accrued as a result of actual service prior to the date of termination, to, or
enter into any employment or severance agreement with, any director or officer;

(C) establish, adopt, enter into, terminate or amend (1) any employee benefit plan or
arrangement except as may be required by applicable law, (2) any employment, severance or
consulting contract or arrangement, or (3) any employee benefit or special compensation;
(D) grant any stock options or other rights to purchase shares of the capital stock of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (E) by any manner or means increase the fringe benefits
of, or forgive any loans or indebtedness of, any employee, officer or director of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or contribute to or otherwise fund or secure the benefits
provided thereto; (F) pay any bonuses, whether or not accrued, to any director, officer,
consultant or employee (except for normal year-end bonuses in the ordinary course of
business and consistent with past practice (in amount and form)); or (G) enter into any
contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement to do any of the foregoing;

(i)  declare, set aside or pay any dividend on, or make any other
distribution or payment (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of, outstanding shares
of capital stock; ’

(iii))  (A) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its

~ capital stock or any securities or obligations convertible into or exchangeable for any shares
of its capital stock, or any options, warrants or conversion or other rights to acquire any
shares of its capital stock or any such securities or obligations (except for repurchases of
shares of capital stock of the Company from employees of the Company whose employment
with the Company has terminated); (B) effect any reorganization or recapitalization; or

(C) split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize or propose the
issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for, shares of its
capital stock;

(iv)  (A) except as required pursuant to the exercise of options or
warrants previously issued to Persons, issue, deliver, award, pledge, grant or sell, or
authorize or propose or enter into any contract, understanding, agreement or arrangement
with respect to the issuance, delivery, award, grant or sale (including the grant of any
security interests, liens, claims, pledges, limitations in voting rights, charges or other
Encumbrances) of, any shares of any class of its capital stock (including shares held in
treasury), any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for any such shares,
or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares; (B) amend or otherwise

-37 -
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modify the terms of any such rights, warrants or options the effect of which shall be to make
such terms more favorable to the holders thereof; or (C) except for the transactions
contemplated hereby, enter into any arrangement, understanding or contract with respect to
the purchase or voting of shares of its capital stock;

) acquire or agree to acquire, by merging or consolidating with,
by purchasing an equity interest in or a portion of the assets of, or by any other manner or
means, any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business
organization or division thereof, or otherwise acquire or agree to acquire any assets of any
other Person (other than the purchase of assets from suppliers or vendors in the ordinary
course of business and consistent with past practice (in amount and form));

(vi)  sell, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or otherwise
dispose of, or agree to sell, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or otherwise dispose
of, any of its assets, except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past
practice (in amount and form);

(vii))  voluntarily release any third party from its obligations under
any existing standstill or confidentiality agreement;

(viii)) propose or adopt any amendments to any of its Organizational
Documents;

(ix)  change any of its methods of accounting (including, without
limitation, changes in depreciation or amortization policies) in effect at December 31, 2003;

(x)  except for intercompany loans, (A) incur or assume any
indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness, or guarantee, endorse
or otherwise become responsible for the obligations of third parties (other than check-
clearing endorsements made in the ordinary course of business), whether or not evidenced
by a note, bond, debenture, guarantee or similar instrument (other than borrowings in the
ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice), (B) prepay any indebtedness, (C)
make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person
(other than to Subsidiaries), (D) issue or sell any debt securities, or (E) pay, discharge or
satisfy any material claims, liabilities or obligations (whether absolute, accrued, asserted or
unasserted, contingent or otherwise) other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction in the
ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice (in form and amount), of liabilities
reflected or reserved against in the Company Financial Statements;

(xi)  take any action or fail to take any action which could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect prior to or after the Closing, or
that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the ability of the Company prior to the
Closing to obtain consents of third parties or approvals of Governmental Entities required to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements;

(xii)  enter into any material contracts, agreements or arrangements
with any Affiliate of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any director, officer or
employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (except for material contracts,
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agreements, or arrangements required by or expressly contemplated by this Agreement or
the Related Agreements);

(xiii) take any action or omit to take any action, the effect of which
would reasonably be expected to cause any of the representations and warranties contained
in ARTICLE II hereof to be inaccurate as of the Closing or any time prior thereto, except as
to representations and warranties made as of a specific date;

(xiv) fail to perform in all material respects its obligations under all
Company Material Contracts (except those being contested in good faith); or

(xv) authorize any of the foregoing, or enter into any contract,
agreement, commitment or arrangement to do any of the foregoing.

Section 6.2 Access and Information.

Subject to Section 7.3 hereof and applicable Law, from the date of this Agreement
until the Closing, the Company shall, and shall cause its and its Subsidiaries' officers,
directors, employees and agents, to, (i) afford to the Purchasers and their officers, directors,
employees, accountants, consultants, legal counsel, advisors, agents and other
representatives (collectively, the "Purchaser Representatives") reasonable access (at
reasonable times during normal business hours, upon reasonable advance notice to the
Company's general counsel and subject to such other reasonable terms and conditions as
may be determined by the Company consistent with recent past practice with the Purchasers)
to the officers, employees, agents, properties, offices and other facilities of the Company and
its Subsidiaries, and to the books and records (including, without limitation, tax returns and
work papers of the Company's accountants) and material contracts, customers and vendors
thereof and (ii) furnish promptly to the Purchasers and the Purchaser Representatives all
information concerning the business, properties, contracts, records and personnel (provided,
however, that all personnel records shall be kept confidential to the extent required by Law)
of the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, financial, operating,
technical and other data and information) as may be reasonably requested, from time to
time, by the Purchasers or any Purchaser Representative. Subject to Section 7.3 hereof, the
Purchasers and the Purchaser Representatives shall have the right to make copies of all such
records, files and other materials as may be requested by them and reasonably agreed to by
the Company. The Company shall reasonably promptly advise the Purchasers in writing of
any change in material terms of any Company Material Contract (including, without
limitation, any contracts with Significant Relationships).

Section 6.3 Competing Transactions.

Prior to the termination of this Agreement, the Company shall not, nor shall it permit
any of its Subsidiaries to, nor shall it authorize or permit any of the officers, directors or
employees or any investment banker, financial advisor, attorney, accountant or other
representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to, initiate, solicit, or encourage
(including by way of furnishing information or assistance), or take any other action to
facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably be
expected to lead to, any Competing Transaction, or enter into discussions or negotiate with
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any Person or entity in furtherance of any such Competing Transaction (regardless of the
Person or party initiating contact), or agree to any Competing Transaction, and the Company
shall promptly notify the Purchaser of all relevant terms of any such inquiries and proposals
received by the Company or by any such officer, director, investment banker, financial
advisor, attorney, accountant or other representative relating to any of such matters and if
such inquiry or proposal is in writing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to
the Purchaser a copy of such inquiry or proposal. For purposes of this Agreement,
"Competing Transaction" shall mean any of the following involving the Company: (i) any
merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination or other similar transaction;,
(i1) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company in a single transaction or series of transactions;
(1ii) any acquisition of more than ten percent (10%) of the capital stock of the Company
outstanding as of the date of such acquisition; or (iv) any other material equity investment in
the Company.

Section 6.4 Return of Capital and Dividend Payment to Holders of Series A
Preferred Stock.

Concurrently with or prior to Acquisition Sub's acceptance for payment of shares of
Company Stock and Company Options in the Offer, the Company shall pay to the holders of
Series A Preferred Stock: (i) the return of capital required by the Organizational Documents
and the Existing Capitalization Documents of the Company, in an aggregate amount of
approximately $4,125,963 and (ii) all accrued and unpaid dividends payable pursuant to the
Organizational Documents and the Existing Capitalization Documents of the Company, in
an aggregate amount of approximately $3,621,790 (assuming the Closing takes place on
December 31, 2004). The parties acknowledge that the accrued and unpaid dividend amount
changes daily and will be adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock if
the Closing occurs either before or after December 31, 2004.

ARTICLE VI
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES; OFFSET AND
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 7.1 Commercially Reasonable Efforts; Consents; Filings.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company
and the Purchasers shall use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to (i) take as
promptly as practicable, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and to do as promptly
as practicable, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under
applicable Law or otherwise to consummate and make effective the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements; (ii) obtain from any
Governmental Entities any consents, licenses, permits, waivers, approvals, authorizations or
orders required to be obtained or made by the Purchasers or the Company or to avoid any
action or proceeding by any Governmental Entity (including in connection with the HSR
Act) in connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
Related Agreements and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby, including, without limitation, the Offer and the Exchange; (iii) make all necessary
filings, and thereafter make any other required submissions, notifications and filings with
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respect to this Agreement, the Related Agreements, the Offer and the Exchange; provided,
however, that the Purchasers and the Company shall cooperate with each other in
connection with the preparation and making of all such filings, including, without
limitation, providing copies of all such documents to the non-filing party and its advisors
prior to any filing and, if requested, to accept all reasonable additions, deletions or changes
suggested by the non-filing party in connection therewith; and (iv) remove any injunctions
or other impediments or delays, legal or otherwise, in order to consummate and make
effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements for
the purpose of securing to the parties hereto and thereto all benefits contemplated by this
Agreement and the Related Agreements. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
the Company and Acquisition Sub shall, promptly after the execution of this Agreement but
no later than 10 business days from the date hereof, prepare and file the notifications
required under applicable antitrust Laws (including the HSR-Act) in connection with the
Offer, the Exchange and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Related Agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall use its best efforts
to cause the minimium condition set forth in Section 8.1(a) hereof to be satisfied prior to the
first scheduled expiration date of the Offer; provided that nothing contained herein shall
prevent the board of managing directors of the Company from changing the Company
Board Recommendation as required by Law.

(b)  The Company and Acquisition Sub shall respond as promptly as
practicable to any inquiries or requests received from any antitrust authority or other
Governmental Entity in connection with antitrust or related matters. Each of the Company
and Acquisition Sub shall (A) give the other party prompt notice of the commencement or
threat of commencement of any Proceeding by or before any Governmental Entity with
respect to the Offer, the Exchange or any of the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Related Agreements, (B) keep the other party informed as to the status
of any such Proceeding or threat, and (C) promptly inform the other party of any
communication to or from any Governmental Entity regarding the Offer, the Exchange or
any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements
and (D) use its commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate and oppose any preliminary
injunction sought by any Governmental Entity preventing the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.

(¢c)  Each of the Company and the Purchasers shall give any notices to third
Persons, and use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any third party consents (i)
necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated in this
Agreement and the Related Agreements, (ii) disclosed or required to be disclosed in the
Disclosure Schedules, (iii) otherwise required under any contracts, licenses, leases or other
agreements in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein,
or (iv) required to prevent a change or effect that, individually or when taken together with
all such other changes or effects of the same general type, is or is reasonably likely, at the
time of such change or effect, to be materially adverse to the assets, financial condition,
business, operations or prospects of the Company or the Purchasers, as applicable, or to the
ability of the Company or the Purchasers, as applicable, to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements from occurring prior to or

after the Closing.
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(d)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, (i) the
Purchasers and their Affiliates shall not be required to divest or hold separate or otherwise
take or commit to take any action that limits their freedom of action with respect to, or their
ability to retain, the Company or any of it Subsidiaries or any of the businesses, product
lines or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, unless such actions would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to materially impair the benefits
sought to be derived by the Purchasers from the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Related Agreements, or be materially adverse to the Purchasers, and (ii)
the Company shall not, without the Fund's prior written consent, take or agree to take any
such action.

Section 7.2 Notification of Certain Matters.

Each party shall give prompt notice to the others of (i) the occurrence or failure to
occur of any event, which occurrence or failure would be likely to cause any representation -
or warranty on its part contained in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate at any time
from the date hereof to the Closing, and (ii) any material failure of such party, or any officer,
director, employee or agent thereof, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or
agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder.

Section 7.3 Confidentiality; Public Announcement.

- Each of the parties hereto (a "Recipient”) shall insure that all Confidential
Information (as herein defined) of the other party supplied to the Recipient by such party, or
by any of its officers, directors, employees, counsel, agents, investment bankers, accountants
or other representatives (collectively, a "Disclosing Party"), is subject to the terms of the
Confidentiality Agreement (which shall terminate only upon the Closing) and shall not be
published or disclosed to any other Person or entity at any time prior to the Closing or used
by the Recipient at any time prior to the Closing for any purpose other than the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related
Agréements (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes notification to the Fund's limited
partners calling for funds to complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement);
provided, that the restrictions of this sentence shall not apply to any disclosure required by
Law or governmental process, or necessary or appropriate in connection with the
enforcement of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, or to the extent that any such
Confidential Information otherwise becomes publicly available without the breach of this
provision by the Recipient. "Confidential Information" includes all proprietary
information and other non public information of a Disclosing Party (including all
information furnished by the Company pursuant to Section 1.2(c) hereof) as well as all
information concerning the existence and terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Related Agreements. Each of the parties agrees that no public announcement of the
existence or the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Related Agreements will be
made except with the mutual agreement of the Purchasers and the Company.

Section 7.4 Management Bonuses.

In connection with the Closing, the Company shall reserve Two Million One
Hundred Three Thousand Five Hundred Eighty-Seven Dollars ($2,103,587) for the payment
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bonuses to the members of the management team of the Company set forth in Section 7.4 of
the Disclosure Schedules (each, a "Bonus Recipient"). On the Closing Date, the Company
shall pay to each Bonus Recipient a bonus equal to fifty percent (50%) of the amount (the
"Bonus Amount") set forth next to such Bonus Recipient's name in Section 7.4 of the
Disclosure Schedules. On the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company shall pay
to each Bonus Recipient the remaining portion of such Bonus Recipient's respective Bonus
Amount; provided, that such Bonus Recipient remains employed by the Company on such
date or, if no longer employed by the Company on such date, such employment was
terminated by the Company for any reason other than Cause (as defined in the Security
Holders Agreement), including by the Bonus Recipient for Good Reason (as defined in the
Security Holders Agreement).

Section 7.5 Acceleration of Vesting of Certain Company Options.

The Company shall cause the vesting of all Company Options held by the
Management Holders to be accelerated in full concurrently with, and contingent upon, the
consummation of the Offer.

Section 7.6 Funds for Future Payment; Liability.

The Fund and/or its Affiliates agree to reserve sufficient funds to pay any remaining
Withholding Amount and any Earn Out Payment that may become payable to the Selling
Stockholders under this Agreement. The Fund further agrees that it and Acquisition Sub are
jointly and severally liable for any obligation of Acquisition Sub pursuant to this
Agreement, including any obligation to make any payment to the Selling Stockholders.

Section 7.7 Insurance; Director Indemnification.

In its sole discretion, the Company may secure a six year directors and officers run-
off insurance policy; provided, that all premiums for such a policy shall be paid by the
Company prior to the Closing and such premium may be equal to up to 150% of the current
annual premium. Subject to applicable Law, following the Closing, Acquisition Sub agrees
that it will cause the Company to indemnify and hold harmless each present and former
managing director of the Company for not less than six years to the same extent such
managing director is indemnified by the Company as of the date of this Agreement pursuant
to the Company's Organizational Documents and such managing director's Indemnity
Agreement with the Company for acts or omissions occurring prior to the Closing.

Section 7.8 Lodestar Proceedings Against the Company.

Whether or not the Closing occurs, the Fund agrees that it shall reimburse the
Company for expenses or settlement costs, if any, paid by the Company related to its
defense of any Proceeding instituted by Lodestar Corporation or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates against the Company that challenges the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements. The Fund further agrees that
if the Offer is not consummated due to the conditions in Section 8.1(b) (with respect only to
a failure to satisfy such condition due to a breach of Section 3.9 hereof), Section 8.1(d) or
Section 8.1(f) not being satisfied as a result of such a Proceeding, then notwithstanding
anything in Section 10.11 to the contrary, the Fund shall reimburse the Company for its
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reasonable documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements, up to a maximum
of $400,000 in the aggregate.

Section 7.9 Offset and Indemnification.
(@) Offset.

i) Each of the Selling Stockholders, by tendering shares of
Company Stock or Company Options pursuant to the Offer, acknowledges that the
" Purchasers, on behalf of themselves and each of their Subsidiaries and Affiliates and their
respective officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, representatives, advisors,
stockholders and partners, and the MacDonald Family Trust dated March 8, 1995
(collectively, the "Covered Parties"), shall be entitled to offset against the Withholding
Amount and the Earn Out Payment an amount equal to any and all losses, claims, liabilities,
expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) or
other damages caused by or arising out of (i) any breach of any representation or warranty of
the Company contained in ARTICLE IIT of this Agreement, (ii) any breach of any
agreement of the Company contained in this Agreement, (ili) any unpaid Tax incurred with
respect to any period prior to the Closing, (iv) except for obligations to make payments
pursuant to Section 1.3, Section 1.5 and Section 7.4 hereof, any liabilities of any kind or any
nature to any holder of Company Stock, Company Options or any capital stock or options to
purchase capital stock of any of the Company's Subsidiaries; (v) any obligations or claims
caused by or arising under, whether before or after the Closing, the Organizational
Documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Existing Capitalization
Documents (in both cases, as such documents exist as of the Closing, after giving effect to
the transactions and actions contemplated hereby and by the Related Agreements); (vi) any
Proceeding arising out of events occurring prior to the Closing; and (vii) any obligations or
liabilities of any kind or any nature arising out of the Company's current project with
Northern Ireland Electricity (including, but not limited to, the Letter of Credit No. (TBD)
Contract No. 230780 and the Letter of Credit No. (TBD) Contract No. 203781), but
excluding any ordinary course business expenses arising under the underlying contract
(except, in the cases of the foregoing clause (iii), to the extent specifically reserved for in the
most recently delivered Company Interim Financial Statements, and, in the case of the
foregoing clauses (iv), (v) and (vi), to the extent specifically reserved for in the most
recently delivered Company Interim Financial Statements and identified in Section 7.9(a) of
the Disclosure Schedules as an item relating to clauses (iv), (v) or (vi) or specifically
referenced in the applicable Section of the Disclosure Schedules) (collectively, "Company
Related Losses"). With respect to clause (iii), a Tax incurred with respect to any period
prior to the Closing shall include (x) Taxes for taxable periods ending on or before the
Closing Date and (y) in the case of Taxes that are payable with respect to a taxable period
that begins before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date (A) in the case of
property Taxes, ad valorem Taxes or other Taxes based on the value of property, the amount
of such Taxes for the entire period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the
number of days in the period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is
the number of days in the entire period and (B) in the case of any other Taxes, Taxes owed
on or before the Closing Date based on a closing of the books of the Company or its
Subsidiaries, as the case may be, as of the close of business on the Closing Date.
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(i)  Asof December 31, 2004, and based on the Company's
audited financial statements for the period ending on December 31, 2004 (the "Audit"), the
Company will (i) be free of all debt and other liabilities (contingent or otherwise), other than
current accrued payables and accrued liabilities reflected on the consolidated balance sheet
contained in the Audit and incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with
reasonable business practices; (ii) have unencumbered cash balances of not less than
$55,000,000 ("Target Cash"); and (iii) have a tangible net worth of not less than
$50,500,000 ("Target Tangible Net Worth"). Prior to June 30, 2006, Acquisition Sub
shall deliver to the Representative a notice (the "Audit Notice") setting forth (A) the amount
of debt and other liabilities (contingent or otherwise), if any, other than current accrued
payables and accrued liabilities reflected on the consolidated balance sheet contained in the
Audit and incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with reasonable business
practices ("Year End Debt"); (B) the unencumbered cash balances of the Company ("Year
End Cash"); and (C) the tangible net worth of the Company, in each case as of December
31, 2004 ("Year End Tangible Net Worth"); provided that Year End Cash and Year End
Tangible Net Worth shall each be calculated as set forth in Schedule 7.9(a)(ii). Each of the
Selling Stockholders, by tendering shares of Company Stock or Company Options pursuant
to the Offer, acknowledges that the Purchasers shall be entitled to offset against the sum of
the Withholding Amount and the Earn Out Payment an amount equal to (x) the Year End
Debt, plus (y) the amount, if any, by which Target Cash exceeds Year End Cash, plus (z) the
amount, if any, by which Target Tangible Net Worth exceeds Year End Tangible Net Worth
("Valuation Losses"); provided that if the Purchasers are entitled to offset pursuant to
clause (x) above and the cause of such right to offset also causes a Valuation Loss under (y)
or (z) above, the Purchasers shall only be entitled to offset such amount once. Reference is
hereby made to Section 1.5(d) hereof. The Representative shall have the right to discuss the
Audit and the Audit Notice with the Company and the Company's accountants and shall
have reasonable access to the work papers of such accountants.

(b) Indemnification. Each of the Selling Stockholders, severally and not
jointly, shall further agree by means of the Agreement to Tender or the Letter of
Transmittal, as applicable, to indemnify and hold harmless the Covered Parties from and
against any and all losses, claims, liabilities, expenses (including, without limitation,
reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) or other damages caused by or arising out of
any breach of any representation or warranty of such Selling Stockholder contained in
ARTICLE IV of this Agreement (collectively, "Stockholder Related Losses" and
collectively with Company Related Losses, "Losses™).

(©) Limitations. Claims for offset pursuant to Section 7.9(a) hereof for
Company Related Losses and Valuation Losses shall be satisfied (i) first, by recourse to the
Withholding Amount withheld pursuant to Section 1.4 hereof and (ii) second, by recourse
to any Earn Out Payment payable pursuant to Section 1.5 hereof (through an appropriate
reduction in any Earn Out Per Share); provided, that the aggregate offset and recovery by
the Covered Parties under this Section 7.9 for Company Related Losses and Valuation
Losses shall not exceed the sum of the Withholding Amount and the Earn Out Payment.
Claims for indemnification pursuant to Section 7.9(b) hereof for Stockholder Related
Losses incurred with respect to any of the several Selling Stockholders may be satisfied, at
the Purchasers’ option, (A) by recourse to that portion of the Withholding Amount allocable
to such Selling Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.4 hereof, (B) by recourse to that portion

1177819 -45 -



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

of any Earn Out Payment payable to such Selling Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.5
hereof and (C) by recourse directly against such Selling Stockholder; provided, that the
aggregate recovery by the Covered Parties under this Section 7.9 for Stockholder Related
Losses incurred with respect to any of the several Selling Stockholders shall not exceed the
aggregate amount payable to such Selling Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.3 hereof.

(d Offset Threshold. The Covered Parties shall not be entitled to offset for
Company Related Losses under this Section 7.9 until the aggregate amount of all Company
Related Losses against which the Covered Parties are entitled to offset exceeds $500,000
(the "Offset Threshold"), following which the Covered Parties shall be entitled to offset all
such Company Related Losses, including the first $500,000. Notwithstanding the
foregoing sentence, all Company Related Losses incurred as a result of any breach or any
claim from a third party arising directly or indirectly with respect to or in connection with
the matters referred to in Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.3, Section 3.4, Section
3.5(a)(d), Section 3.13 and Section 3.14 hereof will be neither subject to nor counted against

the Offset Threshold.

_ (e) Damages. Company Related Losses recoverable pursuant to this
Section 7.9 shall not include punitive or consequential damages; provided, that the
foregoing shall not prevent or restrict the Covered Parties from recovering for the
diminution in value of their investment in the Company, to the extent that such remedy is
available pursuant to applicable principles of contract law. Valuation Losses recoverable
pursuant to this Section 7.9 shall be calculated as described above and Purchasers
acknowledge that they shall have no right to recover any other damages with respect thereto
(whether punitive, consequential, diminution in value or otherwise), other than reasonable
out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred in connection with recovering such Valuation

Losses.

® Survival of Claims. Claims for offset or indemnification for Losses
resulting from breaches of representations and warranties may only be asserted during the
period of survival (if any) of such representations and warranties under Section 10.1 hereof.
All other Claims for offset of Company Related Losses may only be asserted prior to June
30, 2006. Claims for Valuation Losses may only be asserted pursuant to the Audit Notice.

- {(g)  Representative. Each of the parties hereto and the Selling Stockholders
will agree that Israelstam shall act as the representative of the Selling Stockholders and as
the attorney-in-fact and agent for and on behalf of the Selling Stockholders (the
"Representative"), and consents to the taking by the Representative of any and all actions
and the making of any decisions required or permitted to be taken by him under this
Agreement and all Applicable Agreements, including, without limitation, the exercise of
the power to (i) agree to, negotiate, enter into settlements and compromises of, and comply
with orders of courts with respect to, any Claims with respect to Company Related Losses,
(ii) arbitrate, resolve, settle or compromise any Claim with respect to Company Related
Losses, (iii) vote such Selling Stockholders' shares of Company Stock as provided in the
Agreement to Tender or Offer Documents, as applicable, (iv) negotiate the form, terms and
provisions of, and to approve, execute and deliver, any amendments or waivers to the
Existing Capitalization Documents of the Company as provided in the Agreement to
Tender or the Offer Documents, as applicable, and (v) take all actions necessary in the
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judgment of the Representative for the accomplishment of the foregoing. The
Representative will have authority and power to act on behalf of the Selling Stockholders
with respect to the disposition, settlement or other handling of all Claims and all rights or
obligations arising under this Section 7.9 related to any Claims with respect to Company
Related Losses, and the Company and the Selling Stockholders will be bound by all actions
taken and documents executed by the Representative in connection with Claims with
respect to Company Related Losses and in performing the functions specified in this
Section 7.9. The Representative shall have complete and sole discretion in determining
how to proceed with respect to any Claim involving Company Related Losses, including
determining whether to (i) contest a Claim, (ii) solicit advice from any other Selling
Stockholders or (iii) solicit funding from any other Selling Stockholders; provided, that the
Representative shall have no obligation to do any of the foregoing. The parties hereby
acknowledge and agree that while acting as the Representative and in performing the
functions specified in this Section 7.9, the Representative will have no liability whatsoever
to the Company, the Purchasers or any current or former stockholder of the Company. If
the then existing Representative ceases to act as the Representative for any reason, then (x)
in the case of the then existing Representative's resignation as the Representative, such
Representative shall appoint a successor Representative within thirty (30) days of such
resignation, provided that if no successor Representative is appointed within such time
period, the Company shall appoint in good faith a successor Representative from among the
Selling Stockholders who are not Management Holders and (ii) in the case of the then
existing Representative's death or incapacitation, the Company shall appoint in good faith a
successor Representative from among the Selling Stockholders who are not Management

Holders.

(h)  Claims Procedures.

@) Claims. Any claim for offset for Company Related Losses or
Valuation Losses (a "Company Claim") incurred under this Section 7.9 may only be made
by written notice delivered by Acquisition Sub to the Representative and any claim for
indemnification for Stockholder Related Losses incurred under this Section 7.9 (a
"Stockholder Claim" and collectively with a Company Claim, a "Claim") may only be made
by written notice delivered by Acquisition Sub to the applicable Selling Stockholder (in any
case, a "Notice of Claim"), promptly after Acquisition Sub becomes aware of the existence
of any potential claim by a Covered Party for offset or indemnity under this Section 7.9
arising from or relating to (A) Losses suffered by the Covered Parties as described in
Section 7.9(a) or Section 7.9(a)(ii) hereof or (B) the assertion by a third party against a
Covered Party of a claim, demand, suit, action, arbitration, investigation, inquiry or
proceeding (2 "Third-Party Claim") that is based upon, or includes assertions that would, if
true, constitute Losses suffered by the Covered Party as described in Section 7.9(a) or
Section 7.9(a)(ii) hereof. No delay on the part of Acquisition Sub in giving the
Representative or a Selling Stockholder, as applicable, a Notice of Claim will relieve a
Selling Stockholder from any of its obligations under this Section 7.9 except to the extent
that such Selling Stockholder is prejudiced thereby. A Notice of Claim shall contain
Acquisition Sub's good faith estimate of the reasonably foreseeable amount of the alleged
Losses arising from such Claim, and a brief description, in reasonable detail of the facts,
circumstances or events giving rise to the alleged Losses based on Acquisition Sub's good
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faith belief thereof, including, with respect to a Third-Party Claim, the identity and address
of any third-party claimant and copies of any formal demand or complaint.

(i)  Defense of Third-Party Claims. Acquisition Sub, on behalf of
the Covered Parties, shall have the right to conduct and control, through counsel of its
choosing (and reasonably satisfactory to the Representative), the defense, compromise or
settlement of any Third-Party Claim, and in any such case the Representative shall cooperate
in connection therewith and shall furnish such records, information and testimony as may be
reasonably requested by Acquisition Sub in connection therewith; provided, that (A) the
Representative may participate, through counsel chosen by it and at its own expense, in the
defense of any such Third-Party Claim as to which Acquisition Sub has so elected to
conduct and control the defense thereof; and (B) Acquisition Sub shall not, without the
written consent of the Representative (which written consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed), pay, compromise or settle any such Third-Party Claim if such consent
shall not be given within 30 days of the making of the request therefor by Acquisition Sub,
Acquisition Sub may pay, compromise or settle the Third-Party Claim and such amounts
shall be subject to the Selling Stockholders indemnification hereunder to the Covered
Parties, subject further to the Representative’s right to contest any such indemnification
liability at any time prior to September 30, 2006 pursuant to Section 7.9(h)(iii) hereof.
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Acquisition Sub, on behalf of
the Covered Parties, shall have the right to pay, settle or compromise any such Third-Party
Claim, and be indemnified by the Selling Stockholders therefor, without such consent if
such Third-Party Claim involves an ongoing material business relationship of the Company
or any Subsidiary, unless the terms of such payment, settlement or compromise are
commercially unreasonable (provided that if Acquisition Sub does pay, settle or compromise
any such Third-Party Claim, the Representative shall have the right to contest such Third-
Party Claim pursuant to Section 7.9(h)(iii) hereof).

(iii)  Resolution of Notice of Claim. Any Notice of Claim received
by the Representative pursuant to Section 7.9(h)(i) hereof will be resolved as follows:

(A)  Uncontested Claims. In the event that, prior to June 30,
2006, a Notice of Claim with respect to a Company Related Loss or a
Valuation Loss containing a statement of the claimed Losses is received by
the Representative or a Notice of Claim with respect to a Stockholder Related
Loss is received by the applicable Selling Stockholder, and the
Representative or the Selling Stockholder, as applicable, does not contest
such Notice of Claim in writing to Acquisition Sub as provided in Section
7.9(h)(iii)(B) hereof prior to September 30, 2006, the Representative or the
Selling Stockholder, as applicable, will be conclusively deemed to have
consented, on behalf of all Selling Stockholders (or such Selling Stockholder,
as applicable), to the recovery by the Covered Parties by means of offset
from the Withholding Amount and the Earn Out Payment (or indemnification
from the Selling Stockholder, as applicable) of the full amount of the Losses
specified in the Notice of Claim in accordance with this Section 7.9.

(B)  Contested Claims. In the event that the Selling
Stockholder gives a Purchaser written notice contesting all or any portion of a
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Notice of Claim regarding Stockholder Related Losses (a "Selling
Stockholder Contested Claim") prior to September 30, 2006, then such
Selling Stockholder Contested Claim will be resolved by either (A) a written
settlement agreement executed by Acquisition Sub and the Selling
Stockholder, or (B) in the absence of such a written settlement agreement, by
judicial proceedings in the forum specified in Section 10.13 hereof. In the
event that the Representative gives the Purchaser written notice contesting all
or any portion of a Notice of Claim (with respect to Third Party Claims or
otherwise) regarding Company Related Losses or Valuation Losses (a
"Company Contested Claim") prior to September 30, 2006, then such
Company Contested Claim will be resolved by either (A) a written settlement
agreement executed by Acquisition Sub and the Representative, or (B) in the
absence of such a written settlement agreement, by judicial proceedings in
the forum specified in Section 10.13 hereof. If the Representative elects in
his sole discretion to contest a Claim (with respect to Third Party Claims or
otherwise) prior to such period, the Representative shall be entitled, in his
sole discretion with no liability whatsoever to the Company, the Purchasers
or any current or former stockholder of the Company to make use of the
Escrow Amount, or any portion thereof, to contest, settle, defend or otherwise
handle (in his sole discretion) the Company Contested Claims (whether such
amount is used for travel expenses, attorney's fees, advisor fees or otherwise
in connection with settling or defending such Company Contested Claim).
For the avoidance of doubt, the Representative shall be entitled, in his sole
discretion, to contest any Claim at any time prior to September 30, 2006. In
the event that, as of June 30, 2006, the Selling Stockholders are ehtitl_ed td a
payment pursuant to Section 1.4 hereof, the Representative shall be entitled,
in his sole discretion with no liability whatsoever to the Company, the
Purchasers or any current or former stockholder of the Company to cause the
Purchasers to pay such amount into the escrow account referred to in Section
1.4 and to make use of the amount of such payment, or any portion thereof, to
contest, settle, defend or otherwise handle (in his sole discretion) the
Company Contested Claims (whether such amount is used for travel
expensés, attorney's fees, advisor fees or otherwise in connection with
settling or defending such Company Contested Claim).

Section 7.10  Acquisition Sub.

No later than 15 days after the date hereof, the Fund shall duly organize Acquisition
Sub, shall cause Acquisition Sub to execute a joinder to this Agreement and shall cause it to
perform its obligations under this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII
CLOSING CONDITIONS

Séction 8.1 Conditions to the Offer.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer, Acquisition Sub shall not be
required to accept for payment or, subject to Applicable Securities Laws, pay for, and may
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delay the acceptance for payment of or, subject to Applicable Securities Laws, the payment
for, any tendered shares of Company Stock or Company Options, and may amend the Offer
consistent with the terms of this Agreement or terminate the Offer and not accept for
payment any tendered shares of Company Stock or Company Options, unless each of the
following conditions has been satisfied or waived by the Fund in writing:

(a) Minimum Condition. There shall have been validly tendered (and not
withdrawn) pursuant to the Offer (i) all of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred
Stock; (ii) more than sixty-seven percent (67%) of the outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock considered together as a class; (iii) more than
seventy-five percent (75%) of all outstanding shares of Company Stock; and (iv) a
sufficient number of shares of Company Stock and Company Options such that there would
be no more than thirty (30) individuals and entities holding Company Stock and Company
Options (excluding Acquisition Sub and the Management Holders) immediately following
consummation of the Offer.

(b)  Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and
warranties of the Company and the Selling Stockholders contained in this Agreement shall
be true and correct in all material respects (except that where any statement in a
representation or warranty expressly includes a standard of materiality, such statement shall
be deemed made without giving effect to such standard, so that it is only qualified by
materiality once rather than twice) when made and as of the Closing Date as though made
on and as of the Closing Date, except that those representations and warranties that address
matters only as of a particular date shall remain true and correct in all material respects
(except that where any statement in a representation or warranty expressly includes a
standard of materiality such statement shall be deemed made without giving effect to such
standard, so that it is only qualified by materiality once rather than twice) as of such date.
With respect to the representations and warranties of the Company, the Purchasers shall
have received a certificate of the President or Chief Financial Officer of the Compatiy, as of
the Closing Date, to such effect.

(c) Agreements and Covenants. The Company shall have performed or
complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required by this
Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date. The
Purchaser shall have received a certificate of the President or the Chief Financial Officer of

the Company, as of the Closing Date, to that effect.

(d) NoOrder. No Governmental Entity or court of competent jurisdiction
shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation,
executive order or other Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) thatis in
effect and that restricts, prevents or prohibits the consummation of the Offer, the Exchange
or any other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements;
provided, however, that the parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to have

any such Order vacated as promptly as practicable.

(e) Government Consents. All consents, waivers, approvals and
authorizations required to be obtained and all filings or notices required to be made by the
Purchasers and the Company prior to consummation of the transactions contemplated in
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this Agreement and the Related Agreements shall have been obtained from and made with
all required Governmental Entities, and any waiting period under any applicable antitrust
Law or regulation (including the HSR Act) shall have expired or been terminated.

® No Challenge. There shall not be pending or threatened any
Proceeding by any Governmental Entity or any pending Proceeding by any third party
(where the Purchasers determine in good faith that such third party has a reasonable
likelihood of success) (i) challenging or seeking damages in connection with the Offer, the
Exchange or any of the other transactions contemplated herein or (ii) seeking to restrain or
prohibit the consummation of the Offer, the Exchange or any of the other transactions
contemplated herein.

(g8) No Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this
Agreement, no Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred, nor shall any event or
circumstance have occurred that, in combination with any other events or circumstances,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h)  Contractual Consents. The Company shall have obtained at or prior to
the Closing all consents or approvals required for the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements from any other party to any
of the contracts leases, license agreements or other agreements or instruments or
understandings listed in Section 8.1(h) of the Disclosure Schedules without the payment of
any material amounts or any change in any of the terms of any such contracts, leases,
license agreements or other agreements or instruments or understandings.

0] Amendments to Existing Capitalization Documents. The provisions of
the Existing Capitalization Documents of the Company shall have been amended or waived
as provided in the Agreement to Tender and the Letter of Transmittal and other Offer

Documents.

_ ()] Conversion of Preferred Stock. The requisite holders of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock shall have approved the conversion of all
outstanding shares of such stock into shares of the applicable series of Common Stock (the
"Conversion") in accordance with the requirements of applicable Law and the Existing
Capitalization Documents and Organizational Documents of the Company, such that the
Conversion shall occur immediately following Acquisition Sub's acceptance of shares of
Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock for payment pursuant to the Offer.

&) Security Holders Agreement. The Company and the Management
Holders shall have entered into the Security Holders Agreement with the Purchasers.

M Certain Agreements. The provisions of each of the Non-Competition
Agreements and Employee Non-Solicitation Agreements entered into as of the date hereof
shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented in any respect without the consent
of the Purchasers, and such agreements shall be in full force and effect.

(m) Opinion of Counsel. The Company shall have delivered to the
Purchasers the opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP and/or other counsel to the Company,
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dated as of the Closing Date, which shall include opinions substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit D.

(n) Return of Capital and Dividend Payment to Holders of Series A

Preferred Stock. Concurrently with or prior to Acquisition Sub's acceptance for payment of
- shares of Company Stock and Company Options in the Offer, the Company shall make or
have made the payments set forth in Section 6.4 hereof (as adjusted).

Section 8.2 Conditions to the Exchange.

The obligations of the parties to effect the Exchange shall be subject to the
satisfaction at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(8  No Restraints. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or
permanent injunction or other order preventing the consummation of the Exchange shall
have been issued by any court of competent jurisdiction and remain in effect, and there
shall not be any Law enacted or deemed applicable to the Exchange that makes
consummation of the Exchange illegal.

(b) Consummation of the Offer. Acquisition Sub shall have accepted for
payment and paid for shares of Company Stock and/or Company Options pursuant to the
Offer.

() Synergen Transaction. The acquisition of Synergen by the Company
shall have been consummated concurrently with the Exchange pursuant to the Synergen
Purchase Agreement.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 9.1 Termination.

This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the consummation of the
Offer:

(a) by mutual consent of the Company and the Purchasers;

(b) by the Purchasers, upon a material breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of the Company set forth in this Agreement
(except that where any breach of or statement in a representation or warranty expressly
includes a standard of materiality, the existence of such breach or the untruthfulness of such
statement shall be measured giving effect to such standard only), in any case such that the
conditions and standards set forth in ARTICLE VIIT would not be satisfied, provided that
the Purchasers may not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(b) if Acquisition Sub or the
Fund is in material breach or default of any provision of the Agreement and such breach or
default is the primary cause of or resulted in such breach by the Company;

(© by the Company, upon a material breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of the Purchasers set forth in this Agreement
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(except that where any breach of or statement in a representation or warranty expressly
includes a standard of materiality, the existence of such breach or the untruthfulness of such
statement shall be measured giving effect to such standard only), provided that the
Company may not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(c) if it is in material breach or
default of any provision of the Agreement and such breach or default is the primary cause

of or resulted in such breach by the Purchasers;

(d) by either the Purchasers or the Company, if there shall be any final,
non-appealable order or injunction imposed by a court of competent jurisdiction preventing
the consummation of the Offer or the Exchange;

(e) by either the Purchasers or the Company, if the Offer shall have expired
without the acceptance for payment of any shares of Company Stock or Company Options,
provided that the right to terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(e) shall not be available to
any party in material breach or default of any provision of this Agreement and such breach
or default is the primary cause of or resulted in the expiration of the Offer; or

® by the Company if the Purchasers fail to commence the Offer as
provided in Section 1.1 hereof within twenty (20) calendar days from the date hereof, or by
either the Purchasers or the Company, if the Offer shall not have been consummated on or
before January 31, 2005 (provided, that the right to terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(f)
shall not be available to any party in material breach or default of any provision of this
Agreement and such breach or default is the primary cause of or resulted in the failure of
the Offer to be consummated before such date).

The right of any party hereto to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1
shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or

on behalf of any party hereto, any Person controlling any such party or any of their
respective officers or directors, whether prior to or after the execution of this Agreement.

Section 9.2 Effect of Termination.

(a)  Ifthis Agreement is terminated, this Agreement (except for Section 7.3,
Section 10.8, Section 10.9, Section 10.11, and this Section 9.2, each of which shall survive
such termination) shall no longer be of any force or effect and there shall be no liability on
the part of any party or any of its directors, managers, officers, stockholders or members
except that a non-defaulting party shall be entitled to recover from any defaulting party
whatever remedies are available at law.

(b)  Inthe event of termination by the Company or the Purchasers pursuant
to Section 9.1 hereof, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other parties and
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be terminated, without further action
by any party. If the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are terminated as
provided herein:

(i)  the Purchasers shall return all documents and other material
received from the Company relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, whether so
obtained before or after the execution hereof, to the Company or destroy such documents or

other material; and

-53 -

1177819



FILE NO.
82 - 34708

(i1)  all confidential information received by the Purchasers with
respect to the Company shall be treated in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement,
which shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the termination of this
Agreement.

Section 9.3 Amendment.

This Agreement may not be amended, in whole or in part, except by an instrument in
writing signed by the parties hereto.

Section 9.4 Waiver.

(@)  Atany time prior to the Closing Date, the Company may (i) extend the
time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Purchasers, (i) waive
any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the Purchasers contained herein or
in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance by the Purchasers
with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein.

(b)  Atany time prior to the Closing Date, the Purchasers may (i) extend the
time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Company, (ii) waive
any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the Company contained herein or
in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance by the Company
with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein.

(c) Any extension or waiver pursuant to this Section 9.4 shall be valid only
if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties granting such extension
or waiver. The provisions of this Section 9.4 shall not be construed as limiting or
restricting the availability of specific performance or other injunctive relief to the extent
that specific performance or such other relief would otherwise be available. No waiver of
any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any
other provision of this Agreement, whether or not similar, nor shall such waiver constitute a
continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.

ARTICLEX
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 10.1 Effectiveness of Representations, Warranties and Agreements.

The representations and warranties of each party hereto shall survive until the earlier
of (a) the date that is ninety (90) days following the delivery to the board of managing
directors of the Company of the audited financial statements of the Company for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2005 and (b) June 30, 2006. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
representations and warranties of the Selling Stockholders contained in ARTICLE IV of this
Agreement shall survive indefinitely. All other agreements of each party shall survive
indefinitely except to the extent otherwise limited pursuant to the terms thereof.
Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary herein, if a claim for offset or
indemnification pursuant to Section 7.9 hereof is pending with respect to any representation
or warranty, such representation or warranty shall survive with respect to such claim until
such claim is resolved.
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Section 10.2  Notices.

All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made as of the date delivered,
mailed or transmitted, and shall be effective upon receipt, if delivered personally, mailed by
registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the parties at the
following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like changes
of address) or sent by electronic transmission (provided that a confirmation copy is sent by
another approved means) to the telecopier number specified below:

(a) If to the Purchasers:

OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund, L.P.
c/o GFI Energy Ventures LLC

11611 San Vicente Boulevard, Suite 710
Los Angeles, California 90049

Attention: Jan A. Schapiro

Telephone No.: (310) 442-0542
Telecopier No.: (310) 442-0540

with a copy to:

Irell & Manella LLP .

1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention: Anthony T. Iler, Esq.
Telephone No.: (310) 277-1010
Telecopier No.: (310) 203-7199

(b)  Ifto the Company:

SPL WorldGroup B.V.

75 Hawthorne Plaza, 20th Floor
San Francisco, California 94105
Attention: General Counsel
Telephone No.: (415) 357-4767
Telecopier No.: (415) 974-8966

with a copy to:

Latham & Watkins LLP

505 Montgomery Street

Suite 1900

San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: John M. Newell, Esq.
Telephone No.: (415) 391-0600
Telecopier No.: (415) 395-8095

(©) If to the Representative:
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Lenard Sidney Israelstam

P.O. Box 1519

Arsof 46920

ISRAEL

Telephone No.: +972-9 956-1625
Telecopier No.: +972-9-956-1415

(d)  If'to Selling Stockholder(s), to the address(es) on the books and records
of the Company.

Section 10.3  Headings.

The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall
not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 10.4 Assignability.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of the parties hereto; provided, however, that neither this Agreement nor any
right or obligation hereunder may be assigned by any party without the prior written consent
of the other parties hereto; provided, further, that the Purchasers may assign this Agreement
and their rights and obligations hereunder to an Affiliate or Affiliates without the consent of
the other parties hereto, but no such assignment shall relieve the Purchasers of any of their
liabilities or obligations hereunder.

Section 10.5 Severability.

If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of
being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this
Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal
substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially
adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid,
illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to
modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible
in an acceptable manner to the end that transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the

extent possible.

Section 10.6 Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with the Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits hereto,
constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements and
undertakings, both written and oral, between the parties, or any of them, with respect to the
subject matter hereof, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement.

Section 10.7 Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver: Remedies Cumulative.

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in the exercise of any right
hereunder shall impair such right or be construed to be a waiver of, or acquiescence in, any
breach of any representation, warranty or agreement herein, nor shall any single or partial

1177819 -56 -




” FILE NO.
82 - 34708

exercise of any such right preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right.

All rights and remedies existing under this Agreement are cumulative to, and not exclusive
of, any rights or remedies otherwise available. Following the Closing, the sole and
exclusive remedy at law for the Purchasers (whether such claim is framed in tort, contract or
otherwise) arising out of a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other
agreement in this Agreement other than a claim for fraud shall be a claim by Purchasers for
indemnification or offset pursuant to Section 7.9 hereof and, following the Closing, the
Company shall have no liability with respect to such breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant or other agreement in this Agreement other than a claim for fraud.

Section 10.8  Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of Delaware without regard to rules respecting conflicts of law.

Section 10.9  Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be
an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

Section 10.10 Construction.

All Section and Article references are to this Agreement, unless otherwise expressly
provided. As used in this Agreement, (a) "hereof, "hereunder", "herein" and words of like
import shall be deemed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not just a particular
Section of this Agreement and (b) unless the context otherwise requires, words in the
singular number or in the plural number shall each include the singular number or the plural
number, words of the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter, and, when the
sense so indicates, words of the neuter gender shall refer to any gender. No inference
concerning the construction of any provisions of this Agreement shall be drawn from the
drafting of various provisions of this Agreement by one or the other party; rather, this
Agreement shall be construed as the joint work product of both parties. All dollar amounts
in this Agreement shall refer to U.S. dollars unless the context otherwise requires. As used
in this Agreement, the phrase "transactions contemplated hereby", "transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby" and words of like import shall not include the
transactions contemplated by the Synergen Purchase Agreement.

Section 10.11 Expenses.

In the event the Closing occurs, the Company will be responsible for all reasonable
fees and expenses incurred by the Company and the Purchasers. In the event the Closing
does not occur, and subject to Section 7.8 hereof, each party shall be responsible for its own
expenses (without prejudice, however, to any remedy available to a party as provided in
Section 7.9 hereof); provided, however, that the Company shall pay the filing fees for all
regulatory and other filings with Governmental Entities made in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation any filings in
connection with the HSR Act, so long as Acquisition Sub pays (or reimburses the Company
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for) the filing fees for any such filings made by the Purchasers if the failure of the Closing to
occur was caused by the breach of this Agreement by any of the Purchasers.

Section 10.12 Exhibits and Schedules.

All exhibits annexed hereto, and all schedules referred to herein, are hereby
incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein.

Section 10.13  Jurisdiction, Venue and Service of Process.

In any action or proceeding arising under or relating to this Agreement, any of the
agreements referenced herein, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, the
parties hereto each, and, by tendering any shares of Company Stock or Company Options
pursuant to the Offer, each of the Selling Stockholders shall, (i) consent and submit to the
exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the County of Los Angeles,
California, (ii) waive any objection that such Person may have had at any time to the laying
of such venue of any such proceedings brought in any such court, (iii) waive any claim that
such proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and (iv) further waive the
right to object with respect to such proceedings that such court does not have any
jurisdiction over such Person. Each of the foregoing Persons agrees that refusal to accept
service of process properly given in accordance with applicable Law shall be deemed
acceptance of such service of process. The agreements contained in this Section 10.13 apply
no matter what the form of action, whether in rem, in personam, or any other, or whether
based on any statute, rule, regulation or other Law now existing or hereinafter enacted.

Section 10.14 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

This Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon any person other than
the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 10.15 Waiver of Jury Trial.

Each party hereby waives to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any right
it may have to a trial by jury in respect to any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of,
under or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby. Each
party (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented,
expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to
enforce the foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other parties hereto have
been induced to enter into this Agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and
certifications in this Section 10.15.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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{N WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, the Representative and the Fund have
caused this Agreement 10 be executed as of the date first written abave by their respective

officers and representatives thereunto duly suthorized.

THE COMPANY
SPL. WORLDGROUP B.V.

Neme: X rclard—V. 2EEZ
Title: ?(él/p

LENARD SIDNEY ISRAELSTAM
as Representative for the Selling Stockholders

Lenard Sidney [sraelstam

THE FUND

OCM/GFI POWER OPPORTUNITIES FUND,
L.k :

By: GFI Energy Ventures L1C, its General Partaer
By:

Name: lan Schapiro
Title: Partner

[Share Tender Agreement]
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Company, the Represanzatve and the fund have

of the dato fimet written above by thelr respictive

duly autborized.

THE COMPANY
SPL WORLDGROUP B.V.

By:
Name:
Tida:

DNEY ISRAELSTAM

LENARD S1
: jve for the Se]l;' & Stackholdars

as Reprogfn
Sidiey lsraclstan

Len

THE FUND

QCM/GF1 POWER QIFORTUNITIES FUND,
LP. ’

By: GFI Encrgy Ventures LLC. its General Pariner

By _
Name: lan Schapirs.
Title: Parmer

[Share Tender Agreement|
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- IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, the Representative and the Fund have
caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective
officers and representatives thereunto duly authorized.

THE COMPANY
SPL WORLDGROUP B.V.
By:

Name:
Title:

LENARD SIDNEY ISRAELSTAM
as Representative for the Selling Stockholders

Lenard Sidney Israelstam

THE FUND

OCM/GFI POWER OPPORTUNITIES FUND,
L.P.

By: GFI Energy Ventures LLC, its General Partner

Ao

Name: Tan Schapiro r
Title: Partner

[Share Tender Agreement]
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APPENDIX [
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS

For purposes of the Share Tender and Exchange Agreement to which this Appendix I
is attached (the "Agreement"), the term:

"Acquisition Sub" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Affiliate” means a Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the first

mentioned Person.

"Agreement to Tender" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Applicable Agreements" means, with respect to any Person, such of the Related
Agreements to which the Person is a party, the Synergen Purchase Agreement and any Non-
Competition Agreement or Employee Non-Solicitation Agreement to which the Person is a

party.

"Applicable Securities Laws" shall mean any securities Laws that apply to the
Offer. '

"Audit” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a)(ii) of the Agreement.

"Audit Notice" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a)(ii) of the
Agreement.

"Bonus Amount" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.4 of the
Agreement. ‘

"Bonus Recipient" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.4 of the
Agreement.

"CES" means CES International, Inc.

"CES Acquisition" means the purchase of the assets of CES contemplated by that
certain Asset Purchase Agreement between a Subsidiary of Grapevine and CES dated as of
April 28, 2004.

"CIS" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.5(b)(ii) of the Agreement.

"Closing" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Agreement.
"Closing Date" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.3 of the Agreement.

"Claim" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(h)(i) of the Agreement.
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"Code" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Agreement.

. "Commercially Available Software" means ready-to use, prepackaged Software
that is (i) commercially available to the public, (ii) not embedded in, otherwise included in,
or necessary to provide any of the products or services provided by the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries and (iii) replaceable without material delay for less than $25,000.

~ "Common Stock" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Company" shall have the meaning as set forth in the first paragraph of the
Agreément. :

A "Company Board Recommendation" shall have the meaning set forth in Section
1.2(a) of the Agreement.

"Company Intangibles" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a) of the
Agreement.

- "Company Options" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

~ "Company Related Losses" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a) of
the Agreement.

" "Company Stock" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

~ "Company Employee Plan" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of
the Agreement.

"Company Financial Statements" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section
3.7(a) of the Agreement.

"Company Interim Financial Statements" shall have the meaning as set forth in
Section 6.1(a)(iv) of the Agreement.

"Company Material Contracts" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section
3.10(a) of the Agreement.

"Company Permits" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.6 of the
Agreement.

"Competing Transaction" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 6.3 of the
Agreement.

"Confidential Information" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.3 of the
Agreement.
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"Contested Claim" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(h)(iii}(B) of
the Agreement.

"Conversion" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 8.1(j) of the Agreement.

"control” (including the terms "controlled", "controlled by", "controlling” and
"under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly or as trustee or
executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of stock or as trustee or executor, by contract or
credit arrangement or otherwise.

"Covered Parties" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a) of the
Agreement.

"Disclosing Party" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.3 of the
Agreement.

"Disclosure Schedules" shall have the meaning as set forth in the first paragraph of
ARTICLE TII of the Agreement.

"Earn Out Payment" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.5(a) of the
Agreement.

"Earn Out Per Share" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.5(b)(i) of the
Agreement.

"Earn Out Revenue" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.5(b)(iii) of the
Agreement.

"Employee" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Agreement.

"Employee Agreement" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the
Agreement.

"Employee Non-Solicitation Agreement" shall have the meaning as set forth in the
recitals to the Agreement.

"Encumbrances” shall mean, with respect to any real or personal, tangible or
intangible property, any lien, charge, reservation, right of entry, possibility of reverter,
encroachment, easement, right of way, restrictive covenant, lease, security interest (whether
based on common law, statute or contract and, including without limitation, any interest
arising from any capitalized lease, conditional sale, trust receipt or deposit interest), option,
right of first refusal, right of first offer or any other imperfection of title or right by any
Person to assert a claim with respect to such property.

"Environmental Costs" means, any actual or potential cleanup costs, remediation,
removal, or other response costs (which, without limitation, shall include costs to cause the
Company to come into compliance with Environmental Laws), investigation costs
(including, without limitation, reasonable fees of consultants, counsel, and other experts in
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connection with any environmental investigation, testing, audits or studies), losses, liabilities
or obligations (including, without limitation, liabilities or obligations under any lease or
other contract), payments, damages (including, without limitation, any actual, punitive or
consequential damages under any statutory laws, common law cause of action or contractual
obligations or otherwise, including, without limitation, damages (a) of third parties for
personal injury or property damage or (b) to natural resources), civil or criminal fines or
penalties, judgments, and amounts paid in settlement arising out of or relating to or resulting
from any Environmental Matters.

"Environmental Laws" means, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq.; the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. 2601 et
seq.; the Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C.
7501 et seq.; the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. 655 et seq. (only to the
extent relating to employee exposure to Hazardous Substances); the Emergency Planning
and Community Right-to-Know-Act of 1986,42 U.S.C. 11001 et seq., Federal Insecticide,
Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, 7 U.S.C. 136 et seq., the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42
U.S.C. 300f et seq., and the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. 1801, et
seq., all rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to any of the above statutes, and any
other analogous federal, state, local or foreign law (including common law), statute, rule or
regulation governing Environmental Matters, as the same exist as of the Closing Date,
including any common law cause of action relating to Environmental Matters or alleging
liability to pay Environmental Costs.

"Environmental Matters" means any matter arising out of, relating to, or resulting
from pollution, contamination, protection of the environment, human exposure to Hazardous
Substances, sanitation, and any matters relating to emissions, discharges, disseminations,
releases or threatened releases, of Hazardous Substances into the air, surface water,
groundwater, soil, land surface of subsurface, buildings or facilities or otherwise arising out
of, relating to, or resulting from the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment,
storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Substances.

"Environmental Permits” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.23(a) of
the Agreement.

"ERISA" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Agreement.

- "ERISA Affiliate" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the
Agreement.

~ "Escrow Agreement" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.4(b) of the
Agreement.

"Escrow Amount" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.4(b) of the
Agreement.

"Exchange" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 2.1(a) of the Agreement.

"Exchange Act" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a) of the Agreement.
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"Existing Capitalization Documents" means the Existing Shareholders Agreement;
that certain Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of October
31, 1996, by and among the Company, Technology Crossover Ventures, L.P., Technology
Crossover Ventures, C.V., and Bayview Investors, Ltd.; that certain Series A Preferred
Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 11, 1997, by and among the
Company, TCV II, V.O.F., Technology Crossover Ventures II, L.P., TCV II (Q), L.P., TCV
II Strategic Partners, L.P., and Technology Crossover Ventures II, C.V.; and that certain
Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 3, 1998, by and among the
Company, Technology Crossover Ventures L.P., Technology Crossover Ventures, C.V. and

the other parties thereto.

- "Existing Company Business" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section
1.5(b)(ii) of the Agreement.

"Existing Shareholders Agreement" means that certain Amended and Restated
Preferred and Common Stock Shareholders Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2000, as
amended, by and among the Company and the holders of Company Stock and Company

Options signatory thereto.
"Fund" shall have the meaning as set forth in the first paragraph of the Agreement.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting practices applied on a basis
consistent with the Company Financial Statements.

"Governmental Entity" means any governmental or regulatory authority, either
domestic or foreign.

"Hazardous Substances" means each and every element, compound, chemical
mixture, material, waste or other substance which is defined, determined or identified as
toxic, hazardous or extremely hazardous under Environmental Laws or the generation, use,
* handling, release or discharge of which is regulated under Environmental Laws (including,
‘without limitation, petroleum or any by-products or fractions thereof, any form of natural
gas, asbestos and asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs") and
PCB-containing equipment, radon and other radioactive elements and urea formaldehyde).

"HSR Act" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.5(b) of the Agreement.

"Intangible" means any name, corporate name, fictitious name, trademark,
trademark application, service mark, service mark application, trade name, brand name,
product name, slogan, trade secret, know-how, patent, patent application, copyright,
copyright application, design, logo, formula, invention, product right, technology or other
intangible asset of any nature, whether in use, under development or design, or inactive.

"IRS" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.12(b) of the Agreement.

"Insurance Contracts" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.16 of the
Agreement.
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"Israelstam" shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of the
Agreement.

. "Knowledge" or "Known" means, with respect to any matter in question, that any
person listed on Section A-1 of the Disclosure Schedules (i) has actual knowledge of such
matter or (ii) would have actual knowledge of such matter after making such inquiry (if
any) as a reasonable Person would have made under the circumstances applicable to such

matter.

"Laws" means all foreign, provincial, federal, state, municipal and local laws,
ordmances codes, statutes, regulations, policies, guidelines, judgments, decisions, orders,
rulings or awards, injunctions, decrees or rules enacted, adopted issued or promulgated by
any Governmental Entity or general principles of common and civil law and equity.

~ "Leased Real Property" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.19(b) of the
Agreement.

"Leases" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.10(a) of the Agreement.

"Letter of Transmittal" shall have the meaning as set forth in the Recitals to the
Agreement.

"Losses" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(b) of the Agreement.

~ "Management Holders" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1. 1(b) of the
Agreement

' "Material Adverse Effect" means any change or effect occurring prior to the
Closmg, that, individually or when taken together with all other such changes or effects
occurring prior to the Closing of the same general type, is or is reasonably likely, at the time
of such change or effect, to be materially adverse to the assets, financial condition, business,
operations or prospects of the Company, as a whole, or to the ability of the Company to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Non-Competition Agreement" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to
the Agreement.

~ "Notice of Claim" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(h)(i) of the
Agreement.

"Offer" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.

~ "Offer Documents" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(f) of the
Agreement.

"Offer Statement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(f) of the
Agreement.
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"Offset Threshold" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(d) of the
Agreement.

- "OMS" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.5(b)(ii) of the Agreement.

"Order" means, collectively, any order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or
other similar written agreement with, or continuing investigation by, any Governmental
Entity, or any judgment, order, writ, injunction, rule, decree or award of any Governmental
Entity or arbitrator.

~ "Organizational Documents" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.2 of
the Agreement.

_‘ ~ "Owned Company Intangibles" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14
Section 3.14(a)of the Agreement.

"Owned Company Software" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a) of
the Agreement. ‘ '

"Paying Agents" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.1(b) of the
Agreement.

"Permitted Liens" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.20(a) of the
Agreement.

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company,
association, trust, unincorporated organization, other entity or group (as defined in Section
13(d) of the Exchange Act).

"Price Per Share" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.3(a)(i) of the
Agreement.

- "Proceeding" means any demand, claim, action, suit, litigation, arbitration,
administrative hearing, audit, investigation or other proceeding of any kind, at law or in
equity, including actions or proceedings seeking injunctive relief.

~ "Purchaser Representatives" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 6.2 of
the Agreement.

"Purchasers" shall have the meanings as set forth in the first paragraph of the
Agreement.

"Recipient" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.3 of the Agreement.

"Recommendation Documents” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(b)
of the Agreement.

"Recommendation Statement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(b) of
the Agreement.
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"Representative" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(g) of the
Agreement.

“"Related Agreements" means the Agreement to Tender and the Security Holders
Agreement.

"Returns" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.13(e) of the Agreement.

"Security Holders Agreement" shall have the meaning as set forth in the recitals to
the Agreement.

"Selling Stockholders" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.4 of the
Agreement.

"Series A Common Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Series A Preferred Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Series B Preferred Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

} "Series B Common Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Series C Common Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the
Agreement.

"Significant Relationship" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.11(a) of
the Agreement.

"Software" means any computer program, operating system, applications system,
firmware or software of any nature, including all object code, source code, technical
manuals, user manuals and other documentation therefor, whether in machine-readable
form, programming language or any other language or symbols, and whether stored,
encoded, recorded or written on disk, tape, film, memory device, paper or other media of

any nature. :

"Spread Value” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.1(b) of the
Agreement.

"Stockholder Related Losses" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(b)
of the Agreement.

"Subsidiary" or "Subsidiaries” of the Company, a Purchaser or any other Person,
means any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other legal entity of which the
Company, such Purchaser, or such other Person, as the case may be (either alone or through
or together with any other Subsidiary), owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the
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stock or other equity interests the holders of which are generally entitled to vote for the
election of the board of directors or other governing body of such corporation or other legal

entity.
"Synergen" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.

"Synergen Purchase Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to
the Agreement.

"Tangible Property" shall have the meaning asset forth in Section 3.22 of the
Agreement.

‘ "Target Cash" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a)(ii) of the
Agreement.

"Target Tangible Net Worth" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section
7.9(a)(1i) of the Agreement.

"Tax" or "Taxes" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 3.13(e) of the
Agreement.

"Third-Party Claim" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(h)(i) of the
Agreement.

"Withholding Amount” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 1.4 of the
Agreement.

"Year End Debt" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 7.9(a)(ii) of the
Agreement. »

"Year End Tangible Net Worth" shall have the meaning as set forth in Section
7.9(a)(1i) of the Agreement.
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The Letter of Transmittal (or a facsimile thereof) and any other required documents
should be sent or delivered by each holder of Securities or such holder’s broker, dealer,
commercial bank, trust company or other nominee to the Paying Agent at its addresses or
facsimile numbers set forth below.

The Paying Agent for the Offer is:

The Bank of New York
By Regular Mail: By Registered or Certified Mail or By Facsimile Transmission:
Overnight Delivery:
The Bank of New York The Bank of New York 1-315-414-3130 or
P.0. Box 396 111 East Sanders Creek Parkway 1-315-414-3100
East Syracuse, NY 13057 Corporate Trust Redemptions
Att: CT TR Redemptions East Syracuse, NY 13057

For information, call:

1-800-254-2826

Questions and requests for assistance may be directed to the Paying Agent at the
telephone number and location listed above. Additional copies of this Offer to Purchase, the
Letter of Transmittal or any other tender offer materials may be obtained from the Paying Agent.
You may also contact your broker, dealer, bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance
concerning the Offer.




